
1 
 

CITY OF DELAWARE 
CITY COUNCIL 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
1 SOUTH SANDUSKY STREET 

7:00 P.M.  
 

AGENDA 
 
 
7:00 P.M. REGULAR MEETING June 24, 2019 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
2. INVOCATION – Chaplain Jon Powers, Ohio Wesleyan University  

 
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
4. APPROVAL of the Motion Summary of the regular meeting of Council 

held on June 10, 2019, as recorded and transcribed. 
 

5. CONSENT AGENDA 
A. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Finance Commission 

meeting held on April 3, 2019, as recorded and transcribed.  
B. Acceptance of the Motion Summaries of the Parking Safety 

Committee meeting held on October 15, 2018 and January 7, 
2019, as recorded and transcribed.  

C. Resolution No. 19-23, a resolution authorizing the City Manager to 
enter into an agreement with the Ohio Bureau of Criminal 
Investigations (BCI) for the use of the National Webcheck Program 
Services and Equipment and to execute successor agreements 
between the same parties with substantially similar conditions.  

D. Resolution No. 19-24, a resolution authorizing the City Manager to 
sign the Holder of the Record Agreement between the Delaware 
City Police Department and Delaware County Emergency 
Communications.  

E. Resolution No. 19-25, a resolution authorizing the City Manager to 
sign the United States Marshals Service Violent Offender Task 
Force Memorandum of Understanding.  

F. Resolution No. 19-26, a resolution authorizing the City Manager to 
sign a subsidy agreement with the State of Ohio Department of 
Natural Resources Division of Wildlife to accept grant funds  

G. Resolution No. 19-27, a resolution authorizing the restriction of on 
street parking on the north side of West Fountain Avenue and 
Euclid Avenue between the hours of 7:30 am and 3:45 pm on 



2 
 

school days.  
 

6. LETTERS, PETITIONS, AND PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

7. COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

8. STAFF INTRODUCTION 
A. Kyle Kridler, Assistant City Manager 
 

9. DIRECTOR UPDATE 
A. Bruce Pijanowski - Chief of Police  
 

10. PRESENTATIONS 
A. Delaware Citizen Police Academy Alumni Association – John 

Rybka, Former Vice-President and Bernie Workman, Former 
President 

B. Memorial signage request recognizing Elmer W.B. Curry – Benny 
Shoults, Curator, Meeker Homestead Museum 

C. Revised Traffic Calming Guide for Neighborhood Streets and Hull 
Drive Discussion – Bill Ferrigno, Public Works Director/City 
Engineer 
 

11. 7:30 PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING of Ordinance No. 19-35, 
an ordinance approving a Conditional Use Permit for the Ohio Wesleyan 
Village Student Housing located at the northwest corner of Liberty Street 
and Park Avenue on approximately 3 acres zoned PO/I (Planned 
Office/Institutional District). 
 

12. SECOND READING of Ordinance No. 19-36, an ordinance for Ohio 
Wesleyan University approving a Combined Preliminary and Final 
Development Plan for Ohio Wesleyan Village Student Housing located at 
the northwest corner of Liberty Street and Park Avenue on approximately 
3 acres zoned PO/I (Planned Office/Institutional District).  
 

13. 7:30 PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING of Ordinance No. 19-37, 
an ordinance for approval of an alley vacation request by Ohio Wesleyan 
University of an alley for Ohio Wesleyan Village Student Housing located 
along the north side of Park Avenue just west of Liberty. 

 
14. THIRD READING of Ordinance No. 19-32, an ordinance accepting the 

annexation of 100.648± acres of land more or less, description and map 
are attached hereto as Exhibits “A” and “B” for the annexation known as 
the Grden LLC Annexation by Michael R. Shade, Agent for the 
petitioners.   



3 
 

 
15. THIRD READING of Ordinance No. 19-29, an ordinance approving a 

Rezoning Amendment for Grden LLC., for Winterbrooke Place from A-1 
(Agricultural District) to R-3 PMU (One-Family Residential District with a 
Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) containing 263 single family lots on 
approximately 100.6 acres and located on the north side of Peachblow 
Road just east of the Belmont Place Subdivision (Parcel #’s 418-330-01-
019-000, 418-330-01-018-001, 418-330-018-000, 418-320-01-038-000). 
 

16. THIRD READING of Ordinance No. 19-30, an ordinance approving a 
Conditional Use Permit for Grden LLC., allowing the placement of a PMU 
(Planned Mixed Used Overlay District) to be established for Winterbrooke 
Place containing 263 single family lots on approximately 100.6 acres and 
located on the north side of Peachblow Road just east of the Belmont 
Place Subdivision.  
 

17. THIRD READING of Ordinance No. 19-31, an ordinance approving a 
Preliminary Development Plan for Grden LLC., for Winterbrooke Place 
containing 263 single family lots on approximately 100.6 acres zoned R-3 
PMU (One-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay 
District) and located on the north side of Peachblow Road just east of the 
Belmont Place Subdivision.  
 

18. CONSIDERATION of Resolution No. 19-28, a resolution of no objection to 
the expansion of the Concord/Scioto Community Authority, A New 
Community Authority under Chapter 349 of the Ohio Revised Code.  
 

19. FINANCE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 

20. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

21. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 

22. ADJOURNMENT 















































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM C DATE:  06/24/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 19-23 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Bruce Pijanowski, Police Chief 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO AN 
AGREEMENT WITH THE OHIO BUREAU OF CRIMINAL INVESTIGATIONS (BCI) 
FOR THE USE OF THE NATIONAL WEBCHECK PROGRAM SERVICES AND 
EQUIPMENT AND TO EXECUTE SUCCESSOR AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE 
SAME PARTIES WITH SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR CONDITIONS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
This agreement between the City of Delaware and the Ohio Attorney General’s 
Office allows the police department to continue to provide criminal background 
checks to the public. We currently house equipment in the Justice Center lobby. 
This service is needed by many people in order to be eligible for licensing, 
employment and volunteer activities.  The Police Department has been providing 
fingerprinting and background services in this manner since 2010, when 
submission of inked fingerprints for background checks was phased out.   
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Approval will allow the police department to continue to provide background 
check services to the public. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 



This service generates a slight revenue for each transaction.  The city is billed by 
the Attorney General’s office for each records check as follows:  BCI - $22.00, 
FBI - $24.00, BCI&FBI - $46.00.  The city charges $35.00 for each individual 
check (BCI, FBI) and $60.00 for each BCI&FBI check.    
 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Bruce Pijanowski, Chief of Police 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Copy of Agreement 



RESOLUTION NO. 19-23 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH THE OHIO 
BUREAU OF CRIMINAL INVESTIGATIONS (BCI) FOR 
THE USE OF THE NATIONAL WEBCHECK PROGRAM 
SERVICES AND EQUIPMENT AND TO EXECUTE 
SUCCESSOR AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE SAME 
PARTIES WITH SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR 
CONDITIONS. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware Police Department provides 

fingerprinting services for persons in various occupations and volunteer roles 
as required under Ohio law; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware Police Department is desirous of 

obtaining, and BCI is required and willing to provide, the criminal history 
record check services as long as proper payment is made for the criminal 
history records. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 

SECTION 1.  That the City of Delaware hereby agrees to the terms of the 
Ohio Bureau of Criminal Investigations user agreement and authorizes the city 
manager to sign any such similar successor agreement to allow the police 
department to continue to submit finger print cards. 

 
SECTION 2.    This resolution shall be effective immediately upon its 

passage. 
   

 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



          
1 

AGO Contract #: ____ 

AGREEMENT  
FOR NATIONAL WEBCHECK® 

 PROGRAM SERVICES AND EQUIPMENT 
 
This Agreement (“Agreement”) between the Ohio Attorney General (“Attorney General”), which oversees 
the Bureau of Criminal Investigation (“BCI”), and ___________________________________      
(“Agency”) is effective on the latest date of signature below, and identifies the terms, conditions, duties, and 
responsibilities of each party regarding the National WebCheck® (“WebCheck”) program and equipment. 
The Agreement also ensures that the information received from the Attorney General is used appropriately 
by Agency and within the requirements of the Ohio Revised Code, the Ohio Administrative Code, and 
Federal laws and regulations. 
 
I. Purpose 
 
Under Ohio law, persons in various occupations and volunteer roles must obtain criminal background checks 
in order to be eligible for licensing, employment and volunteer activities. Such criminal background checks 
are available through the WebCheck services administered by the Attorney General, through BCI. This 
Agreement sets forth the terms and conditions under which Agency may obtain and disseminate criminal 
background check information through WebCheck services.  
 
II.  Basic Agency Responsibilities 
 

A. Agency must procure WebCheck equipment from a vendor that has been certified by BCI as an 
approved provider and maintain the equipment as directed by the vendor. 

 
B. Agency agrees to comply with any and all monitoring requests made by the Attorney General in a 

timely and complete manner.  
 

C. Agency agrees to comply with any and all training requirements set forth by the Attorney General. 
Agency’s participation in an initial training will be required before Agency will be granted access to 
the WebCheck services.  

 
III. Agency Responsible for Full and Timely Payment of Fees to Be Charged by Attorney 

General 
 

A. To ensure full and prompt payment, Agency agrees to make fee payments to the Attorney General 
using commercially reasonable payment methods as directed by the Attorney General. Such methods 
may include, without limitation, payments via Automated Clearing House (“ACH”) or other 
electronic payment method. Notice of any changes in the required payment methods shall be 
provided pursuant to Section XI.  
 

B. Attorney General shall submit invoices to Agency as follows: 
Agency:_________________________________ 
Address:________________________________ 

  _________________________________ 
Attn:  _________________________________ 

City of Delaware Police Department

City of Delaware Police Department
70 North Union Street
Delaware, Ohio 43015
Julie Elke



 
 
 

          
AGO Contract #____ 

2 

C. Absent more specific requirements provided by the Attorney General, the Attorney General will 
issue a monthly invoice to Agency and payments shall be made pursuant to this Section.  Agency 
understands that failure to pay the Attorney General the appropriate criminal background check fees 
within 30 days after an invoice is issued by the Attorney General may result in termination of access 
to WebCheck services. Agency also understands that a fee of $35.00 may be charged to the Agency 
to reinstate access to WebCheck services after the delinquent account is paid in full.  

 
D. If payment is not received within 75 days after an invoice is issued, Agency shall be in default and the 

Attorney General may exercise all legal rights and remedies as set forth in Paragraph X below.  
Interest owed for such non-payment of fees shall accrue at the rate set forth in Ohio Revised Code 
Sections 131.02, 5703.47, and 126.30 as applicable.  

 
E. Agency shall pay the following fees for criminal background checks: 

 
a. The fee set forth in Ohio Administrative Code 109:5-1-01, as it may be amended from time 

to time, for a background check of BCI records; and 
b. $24.00 for a background check of FBI records. 

 
F. The Attorney General may increase the fees charged for background checks of BCI and/or FBI 

records at any time prior to Agency conducting a background check, and upon notice to Agency. 
 
IV. Restrictions on Dissemination of WebCheck Information 
 

A. The parties acknowledge that access to computerized criminal history (“CCH”) information is 
governed by both state and federal statutes. Any violation of these statutes and/or the dissemination 
restrictions set forth in this Section will constitute a default for which the Attorney General  may 
immediately terminate Agency’s direct and indirect use of and access to WebCheck services. 

 
B. Dissemination of the FBI CCH must be limited to the following: 

 
a. Criminal justice and governmental non-criminal justice agencies. 
b. Pursuant to 28 USC §534, Pub. L. 92-544, CCH information must not be disseminated to a 

third party organization. 
c. The CCH information must not be used for any purpose other than outlined in 28 USC 

§534, Pub. L. 92-544 or Ohio Revised Code statutes approved by the U.S. Attorney General. 
 

C. Dissemination of the BCI CCH must be limited to the following: 
 

a. The information must not be used for any purpose other than authorized in R.C. 109.572 
and related Ohio Revised Code statutes. 

b. The information may only be released to the individual/organization authorized on the BCI 
waiver for release of criminal history information. It is not permissible for the Agency to 
copy and distribute the results of a criminal history background check to multiple 
organizations. 

 
V.          Compliance with Civilian Background Check Requirements 
 

A. Agency must comply with all civilian background check requirements included in Ohio law and the 
Ohio Civilian Background Check Training Manual published by the Ohio Attorney General. 
 

B. Agency understands that an FBI background check does not replace a BCI background check and 
may be done only when authorized by an approved Pub. L. 92-544 state statute. A background BCI 



 
 
 

          
AGO Contract #____ 

3 

check must be completed for every individual requiring a background check for employment 
purposes. 

 
C. Agency understands that failure to adhere to any requirement set forth in this Agreement may result 

in termination of WebCheck services. It is further understood that additional training and/or a 
$35.00 reinstatement fee may be required to restore access to WebCheck services. 

 
VI. Duty to Maintain Accurate, Auditable Records of Transactions 
 
The Agency agrees that BCI’s Quality Assurance Unit may audit all WebCheck transactions submitted by 
Agency. The Agency hereby agrees to keep accurate, auditable records of each WebCheck transaction for at 
least one (1) year following each transaction. The Agency also agrees to allow BCI employees access to this 
information during normal business hours. 
 
VII. Prohibition against Unauthorized or Inappropriate Use of WebCheck Information 
 
Agency agrees that unauthorized use of computerized criminal history information is in violation of state 
and/or federal law and can lead to criminal charges. If Agency is a non-criminal justice agency, Agency 
acknowledges that applicants for positions in their organizations may authorize access to their criminal 
history records for the use of that specific agency only as described in Section VIII below. Inappropriate use 
or dissemination of computerized criminal history information will result in termination of Agency’s access to 
WebCheck services. Further, Agency understands that misuse or falsification of information transmitted and 
received through the WebCheck program may result in criminal felony charges being filed. 
 
VIII. Rights and Responsibilities Concerning Employee Access to WebCheck Information 
 

A. The Agency shall not permit an individual to access, disseminate or otherwise use WebCheck 
information if that individual has ever been convicted of: 

a. A felony; and/or 
b. Any other crime involving theft, deceit, fraud or other act of moral turpitude. 

 
B. If Agency is a private, non-government agency, Agency agrees that, prior to permitting an individual 

to access, disseminate or otherwise use National WebCheck information, Agency shall conduct, at its 
own expense, a BCI background check on that individual. 

 
IX.   Term and Termination 
 

A. This Agreement will be effective beginning on the latest date of signature below.  Either party may 
terminate this Agreement for any reason after providing three (3) days written notice to the other 
party.  Otherwise, this Agreement will terminate three (3) years from the effective date. 

 
B. This Agreement cannot be transferred by Agency. If Agency transfers its equipment to another party, 

this Agreement will terminate automatically. 
 
X.  Default and Immediate Termination 
 
The Agency’s failure to satisfy any of the terms, conditions, duties, and responsibilities set forth in this 
Agreement shall constitute a default for which the Attorney General may immediately and without notice 
terminate this Agreement and Agency’s use of and access to WebCheck services. The Attorney General  shall 
also have the right to pursue any and all other remedies against Agency for failure to satisfy any of the terms, 
conditions, duties, and responsibilities set forth in this Agreement. 
 



 
 
 

          
AGO Contract #____ 

4 

XI. Communications, Approval and Notices 
 
Any communications, approvals and notices that must be made to or by the parties pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be made in writing using the addresses set forth below.  
 
XII.  Entire Agreement  
 
This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties hereto and shall not be modified, amended 
or supplemented, or any rights herein waived, unless specifically agreed upon in writing by the parties hereto.  
This Agreement supersedes any and all previous agreements, whether written or oral, between the parties. 
 
XIII.  Facsimile Signatures  

Any party hereto may deliver a copy of its counterpart signature page to this Agreement via fax or e-mail. 
Each party hereto shall be entitled to rely upon a facsimile signature of any other party delivered in such a 
manner as if such signature were an original. 

 
 

Remainder of page intentionally left blank 
 
 
  



 
 
 

          
AGO Contract #____ 

5 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly 
authorized representatives. 
 
 
____________________________________ 
(Agency name) 
 
By:  ________________________________ 
 
Name: ______________________________ 
 
Title: ________________________________ 
 
Date:________________________________ 
 
 
Contact Name: ________________________ 
 
Address: _____________________________ 
                
               _____________________________ 
 
               _____________________________ 
 
E-mail: ______________________________ 
 
Telephone: ___________________________ 
 
FAX: ________________________________ 
 
 
FED TAX ID NO: ___________________ 
 
AGENCY ID NO: ___________________ 
 
Type: □ Government □ Non-Government    
□ Other ________________________________ 
 
 
 

OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL 
 
 
By:  _________________________________ 
 
Beth Owens 
 
Director of Identification, BCI 
 
Date:________________________________ 
 
 
BCI 
Attn: Civilian Quality Assurance 
PO Box 365 
London, OH 43140 
 
 
E-mail: NationalWebcheck@ohioattorneygeneral.gov 
 
Telephone: 740-845-2113 
 
FAX: 866-912-7118 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

City of Delaware Police Department

R. Thomas Homan

City Manager

David Fields

70 North Union Street

Delaware, Ohio 43015

dfields@delawareohio.net

740-203-1151

740-203-1198

31-640-0225

GGI249



 
 
 

          
AGO Contract #____ 

6 

If your Agency operates more than one National WebCheck system under the same agency ID 
please list the contact person, phone number and address of each location (attach a separate sheet if 
necessary). 
 
 
Contact Name:___________________________________ 
 
Phone Number:___________________________________ 
 
E-mail address: ___________________________________ 
 
Address:_________________________________________ 
 
City, State, Zip Code:______________________________ 
 
 
 
Contact Name:___________________________________ 
 
Phone Number:___________________________________ 
 
E-mail address: ___________________________________ 
 
Address:_________________________________________ 
 
City, State, Zip Code:_____________________________ 
 
 
Contact Name:___________________________________ 
 
Phone Number:___________________________________ 
 
E-mail address: ___________________________________ 
 
Address:_________________________________________ 
 
City, State, Zip Code:_____________________________ 
 
 
Contact Name:___________________________________ 
 
Phone Number:___________________________________ 
 
E-mail address: ___________________________________ 
 
Address:_________________________________________ 
 
City, State, Zip Code:_____________________________ 
 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO: CONSENT ITEM D DATE: 06/24/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 19-24 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Bruce Pijanowski, Police Chief 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN THE HOLDER 
OF THE RECORD AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE DELAWARE CITY POLICE 
DEPARTMENT AND DELAWARE COUNTY EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The Delaware County Emergency Communications center provides dispatch 
services for the City of Delaware Police Department.  Part of those duties include 
entering and removing data from the Law Enforcement Automated Data System 
(LEADS) and the National Crime Information Center (NCIC).  In order to provide 
this service, it is required that an agreement be in place to formalize the 
understanding of the responsibilities between the agencies in the management 
of these data entries.  Specifically, the agreement spells out the duties of each 
entity that will continue to allow Delaware County Emergency Communications 
to enter and modify records on behalf of the police department. This resolution 
will also authorize the city manage to sign any successor agreements that are 
substantially the same.  
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Authorization for the City Manager to sign any agreements pertaining to the 
Police Department Holder of the Record Agreement with Delaware County 
Emergency Communications will assure that the police department has full time 
coverage and capabilities to have important records such as warrants and stolen 
property entered into LEADS and NCIC. 



 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
No cost to the city, although certain liabilities are assumed.  
 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Bruce Pijanowski, Chief of Police 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Copy of Agreement 



RESOLUTION NO. 19-24 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
TO SIGN A HOLDER OF THE RECORD AGREEMENT 
WITH DELAWARE COUNTY EMERGENCY 
COMMUNICATIONS. 

 
WHEREAS, the Delaware Police Department benefits from the services 

that the Delaware County Emergency Communications Center provides related 
to Law Enforcement Automated Data System (LEADS) information and entries; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the 9-1-1 Center desires to provide such services and 

information to the Delaware Police Department pursuant to the terms and 
conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 

SECTION 1.  That the City of Delaware hereby agrees to the terms of the 
LEADS Holder of the Record Agreement and authorizes the city manager to 
sign any such similar successor agreement with Delaware County. 

 
SECTION 2.    This resolution shall be effective immediately upon its 

passage. 
   

 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 









  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM E DATE:  06/24/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 19-25 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Bruce Pijanowski, Police Chief 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN THE UNITED 
STATES MARSHALS SERVICE VIOLENT OFFENDER TASK FORCE 
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The Unites States Marshals Service (USMS) has historically operated a violent 
offender task force in the central Ohio region.   Their activity in areas to the North 
of Columbus has led them to establish a greater presence in Delaware County, 
and to solicit a more formal involvement with the agencies in Delaware and other 
counties outside of Franklin Co.  Greater involvement would benefit the USMS 
Violent Offender Task Force by allowing them to generate more activity and to 
coordinate more effectively with local agencies.  The police department would 
benefit from better coordination of activities within the city and with access to 
the task force for assistance.   
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Authorization is required for the City Manager to sign any inter-governmental 
agreement. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 



Personnel costs  
 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Bruce Pijanowski, Chief of Police 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Copy of MOU 



RESOLUTION NO. 19-25 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
TO SIGN A MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
WITH THE UNITED STATES MARSHALS SERVICE 
VIOLENT OFFENDER TASK FORCE. 

 
 

WHEREAS, the United States Marshal’s Service (USMS) desires a formal 
relationship with the Delaware Police Department for purposes of coordination 
with the USMS Violent Offender Task Force; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Delaware Police Department would benefit from a formal 

relationship with United States Marshal’s Service; pursuant to the terms and 
conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 

SECTION 1.  That the City of Delaware hereby agrees to the terms of the 
Unites States Marshal’s Service Violent Offender Task Force – Memorandum of 
Understanding and authorizes the city manager to sign the MOU. 

 
SECTION 2.    This resolution shall be effective immediately upon its 

passage. 
   

 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 









  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM F DATE: 06/24/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 19-26 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Bruce Pijanowski, Police Chief 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION: 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN A SUBSIDY 
AGREEMENT WITH THE STATE OF OHIO DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL 
RESOURCES DIVISION OF WILDLIFE TO ACCEPT GRANT FUNDS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The Delaware Police Department held its first annual "Fish with a Cop" event 
last year at Blue Limestone Park for the youth within the city. The event was 
well attended and provided a very successful opportunity for officers to interact 
with youth beyond a formal encounter. It also provided an opportunity for the 
police department, in conjunction with the Ohio Department of Natural 
Resources, to bring awareness to the City's aquatic resources through a "hands 
on" educational fishing experience.  
 
A second "Fish with a Cop" event has been scheduled for August of 2019. The 
State of Ohio Department of Natural Resources Division of Wildlife (ODNR) has 
agreed to assist the Delaware Police Department in facilitating this event.  
ODNR has awarded the City of Delaware Police Department with two subsidy 
grants in the amounts of $2,500 and $6,500 to purchase equipment (last year's 
attendees all received a free fishing pole) for the event.  
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
All intergovernmental agreements require authorization by council and such 
agreement is required for the City of Delaware to accept the funds granted by 
the State of Ohio ODNR 



 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
  
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
None 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
None 
  
PRESENTER(S): 
Bruce Pijanowski, Chief of Police 
Adam Moore, Captain 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
(2) Subsidy Agreements between the City of Delaware Police Department and 
the State of Ohio Department of Natural Resources Division of Wildlife 



RESOLUTION NO. 19-26 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 

TO SIGN A SUBSIDY AGREEMENT WITH THE STATE 
OF OHIO DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES 
DIVISION OF WILDLIFE TO ACCEPT GRANT FUNDS 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware Police Department facilitates a "Fishing 

with a Cop" event at a city park for the youth of Delaware; and 
 
WHEREAS, the "Fishing with a Cop" event fosters youth engagement and 

builds community relationships through aquatic education, the use of aquatic 
resources, and promotes an angling opportunity in Ohio; mutual goals of the 
Delaware Police Department and Ohio Department of Natural Resources 
Division of Wildlife (ODNR); and 

 
WHEREAS, the State of Ohio Department of Natural Resources Division 

of Wildlife (ODNR) supports and assists the Delaware Police Department with 
this event and has monies available, via grant, to purchase supplies and 
equipment; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware Police Department has qualified for an 

ODNR grant and/or grants. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 

SECTION 1.  That the City Manager is hereby authorized to sign the 
subsidy agreement with the State of Ohio Department of Natural Resources 
Division of Wildlife accepting monies for use in facilitating the "Fishing with a 
Cop" event. 

 
SECTION 2.    This resolution shall be effective immediately upon its 

passage. 
   

 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 

























  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM G DATE: 06/24/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 19-27 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO   
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Bruce Pijanowski, Police Chief 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE RESTRICTION OF ON STREET PARKING 
ON THE NORTH SIDE OF WEST FOUNTAIN AVENUE BETWEEN FOREST 
AVENUE AND EUCLID AVENUE BETWEEN THE HOURS OF 7:30 AM AND 3:45 
PM ON SCHOOL DAYS.  
  
BACKGROUND:  
Richard Jackson, a resident of W. Fountain Ave, requested that city staff 
consider parking restrictions on W. Fountain Ave adjacent to his residence due 
to the difficulties it presents to residents trying to exit their driveways onto W. 
Fountain Ave.  City staff found that parking on school days was heavy in the 
area and that the concern was valid. City Council approved a resolution on July 
9, 2018 to implement/evaluate the restriction for the 2018-2019 school year.  
Based on observations made by the city staff and residents during the school 
year, it is recommended that parking restrictions be permanent. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED:  
The placement of regulatory signage requires City Council authorization for 
permanent enforcement. 
  
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:   
The action is being taken as a result of the Parking and Safety Committee 
recommendation at the June 17, 2019 meeting. 
 



FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
Costs were incurred to install the signage as a temporary condition in 2018, so 
no additional materials are needed to make this a permanent installation. 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 None 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Bruce Pijanowski, Chief of Police 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Response to survey  



RESOLUTION NO. 19-27 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE RESTRICTION OF 
ON STREET PARKING ON THE NORTH SIDE OF WEST 
FOUNTAIN AVENUE BETWEEN FOREST AVENUE AND 
EUCLID AVENUE BETWEEN THE HOURS OF 7:30 AM 
AND 3:45 PM ON SCHOOL DAYS.  
 

WHEREAS, the restriction of on street parking on the north side of West 
Fountain Ave between Forest Avenue and Euclid Avenue between the hours of 
7:30 AM and 3:45 PM on School Days was implemented and evaluated during 
the 2018-2019 school year and is recommended to be a permanent restriction; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, the Parking and Safety Committee has endorsed this 

restriction by a 3-0 vote at the June 17, 2019 meeting. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL FOR THE CITY 
OF DELAWARE, STATE OF OHIO: 
 

SECTION 1.   That on street parking shall be restricted on the north side 
of West Fountain Ave between Forest Avenue and Euclid Avenue between the 
hours of 7:30 AM and 3:45 PM on school days. 

   
SECTION 2.   That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 

immediately after its passage. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
 















Delaware Citizen Police Academy
Alumni Association (DCPAAA)

Informational Briefing

Presented by:
John Rybka, Past Vice-President, DCPAAA

Bernie Workman, Past President, DCPAAA



DCPAAA By-Laws 501(c)(3)

• Purpose:
• To function as an interactive support program between the Delaware Police 

Department and the citizen, and

• To expand knowledge in the areas of law enforcement, crime prevention, 
and public safety.

• Police Liaison Officer:
• Acts in an advisory capacity to the corporation and is the primary contact 

for the corporation with the Delaware Police Department via the chain of 
command that exists at the time within the department.

• Ptl. Robert Hatcher (Crime Prevention, Community Relations) so assigned.



DCPAAA Standard Operating Procedures Manual

• Mission:
• To serve the community by interacting through the Delaware Police 

Department to make the city a better place to live and work; today and 
tomorrow.

• Volunteer Expectations:
• The Department requires all members to subscribe to its ethical standards 

of conduct and to act in a reasonable, considerate, and professional manner 
to fellow members and the public at all times.

• Strict Adherence to the Department’s Core Values:
• Courtesy, Excellence, Integrity, Honor, Trust, Respect, and Professionalism.



How We Support the Community

• Child Identification Cards.
• 1st Friday Foot Patrols.
• Parades:

• 4th of July Parade.
• Horse Parade.
• Veterans Parade.
• Christmas Parade.

• Walk a Mile.
• Approximately 300 Hot Dogs Served. 
• Information Booth.

• New Moon Half Marathon.

• Mingo Man Marathon.
• Family Festival.
• Cops and Shops (1st Friday).

• Approximately 400 Hot Dogs Served.
• Information Booth.

• Local Sports Events (i.e., OWU).

• Vacation House Checks (Under Review).

• Joined with the Central Ohio Citizen Police 
Alumni Association (COCPAAA) in supporting 
the families of the slain Westerville 
Patrolmen.



How We Support the Police Department

• Annual Police Awards Banquet.
• Semi-Annual Appreciation 

Luncheons.
• Adopt-a-Cop Program.

• 12 Officers Currently Participating.
• Light Administrative Support Upon 

Request (i.e., Shredding).

• Fundraising for Community Events 
and Equipment (i.e., FOE Bingo).

• Donated to the School Resource 
Officers Association.

• Bike-a-Thon at YMCA.
• Crisis Intervention Training at 

YMCA.
• Crowd Management Training for 

Local Bike Police.
• Halloween Ride-a-Longs.

• Candy for Trick-or-Treaters.
• Citizen Police Academy

• Entry and Exit Dinners.



Expanding Our “Body of Knowledge”

• Ohio Crime Prevention Association Conference (April 2018).
• Membership held by DCPAAA.

• Human Trafficking Forum (May 2018).
• Presentations by victim advocates and a trafficking survivor.
• Sponsored by COCPAAA.

• Catch Court w/ Judge Paul Herbert (September 2018).
• A means of giving human trafficking victims an opportunity to make a better life 

for themselves.
• Sponsored by COCPAAA.

• COCPAAA Meetings.
• Idea and Information Exchange.



Current DCPAAA Membership

Note: 2017 Includes IPMBA Conference 
Support (i.e., Bike Checks).

2 

1 

- -

1 

3 

2 

-

4 

5 

1 

2 

-

8 

11 

14 

 -

 2

 4

 6

 8

 10

 12

 14

 16

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

M
em

be
rs

hi
p 

by
 G

ra
du

at
in

g 
Cl

as
s

Graduating Class

We currently have 47 DCPAAA members.

704

300

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

2017 2018

N
um

be
r o

f H
ou

rs

Year

"Productive" Volunteer Hours"

Note: 2017 includes IPMBA Conference.
We celebrate long standing anniversaries for Judy 
Mitchell, Lee Milligan, and Sheila Milligan (2003, 2004).



Challenge Coin Presentation
to

Delaware City Council Members

Mayor Carolyn Kay Riggle, At-Large Chris Jones, 1st Ward
Vice Mayor Kent Shafer, At-Large Lisa Keller, 2nd Ward
George Hellinger, At-Large Jim Browning, 3rd Ward

Kyle Rohrer, 4th Ward

http://codgis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/InformationLookup/index.html?appid=7c875152c569418b8c771089e69fac93
http://codgis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/InformationLookup/index.html?appid=7c875152c569418b8c771089e69fac93
http://codgis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/InformationLookup/index.html?appid=7c875152c569418b8c771089e69fac93
http://codgis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/InformationLookup/index.html?appid=7c875152c569418b8c771089e69fac93






Ten Points  

Elmer Washington Bryant Curry - Born – 1871, Died - 1930 

1. African-American-Professor, Founder of his school, Reverend, Orator, Political Figure 

2. Born in Delaware in 1871 on South Street (now London Road) 
3. Attended Mixed Race Public School 
4. Graduated 1889, Delaware High School 
5. Attended four years at Ohio Wesleyan University while being a Janitor there. 
6. Trained as an Attorney for two years 
7. Was the first African-American to teach in Delaware City Schools 
8. Started “Place of Knowledge for Old and Young” in January of 1889 on David Street in Delaware, later 

called Curry Normal and Industrial Institute in Urbana, Ohio 
9. He taught over 2000 African-American men, women and children 
10. Was a well-known Preacher and Orator in his time. Preached the Gospel, Defended the African-

American race, spoke on Civil Rights and Temperance Movement.  

 

General points 

1. Delaware City Schools was one of the few school districts in Ohio that allowed mixed race classes. This 
was established in 1871. Ohio law did not require this until 1887. Picture on the poster of the 1880, 3rd 
grade class picture verifies this, along with a good possibility that Curry is in the second row. 

2. Elmer’s parents, George and Julia Frances (Berty), are both buried in Oak Grove Cemetery. 
3. Curry moved his school to Mechanicsburg in 1895 and then on to Urbana in 1897 
4. Elmer Curry is buried in Oak Dale Cemetery in Urbana, Ohio. 
5. The Curry College was much like Booker T. Washington’s Tuskegee Institute in Alabama, philosophy 

was teaching academic subjects along with practical trade skills. 
6. Kitchen Shed he rented for 50 cents a month while charging students 25 cents a week. 

Curry wrote in his book, “The Story of the Curry Institute as told by Founder EWB Curry,” the following; 

“Thus, in Delaware, the place of my birth, in her public schools, college, university, gravel pit, stone quarry, 
law offices and school rooms, I received a general training, and great help to in in my life’s work”.  

FYI, his 48-page book is available free online -  https://babel.hathitrust.org 

 

 

 

https://babel.hathitrust.org/


 

 

                 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Curry School began 
at 19 David Street in 

Delaware, Ohio 

Elmer Curry’s 
Delaware High 

School graduation 
picture from 1889 

The Curry School in 
Urbana, Ohio 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CURRY WAY 
 E.W.B. Curry founder of the Curry Normal and Industrial Institute 

Proposed Memorial Street Sign 

Corner of Sandusky and London Road 

Corner of Liberty Street and London Road 

6/24/2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Presentation Draft of Curry Memorial Street Signs Proposal – Presentation 6/24/2019 

Good evening, my name is Benny Shoults, Curator for the Delaware County Historical Society’s 

Meeker Homestead Museum. I reside at 176 West Lincoln Ave. I would like to thank City Council for 

inviting me here tonight and to allow me to share an important chapter in our city’s history, 

something that had its roots in the South Side of Delaware 130 years ago. 

First, I want you to remember this name, EWB Curry. 

Delaware County and the City of Delaware were very active locations for the Underground Railroad. 

This is a well-known part of our history, but what is not well known are the contributions of 

individual African American people. There are hundreds of stories that portray the African-American 

experiences here, but today I want to share with you a little known piece of the City of Delaware’s 

history, a story of an remarkable man who in 1871 was born in a log house on South Street, now 

London Road, and grew up on David Street . He was the son of a traveling Baptist Minister; the church 

young Curry attended was the Second Baptist Church on Ross Street, where later his father would 

become the Pastor there. He attended the mixed-race City of Delaware Schools and graduated from 

Delaware High School. He went on to attend Ohio Wesleyan University, he became the first African 

American schoolteacher in the Delaware City Schools and studied law for two years under the 

guidance of Wickham and Marriott. At 17, while still attending high school he began his destiny’s 

work, later he would write, “Inspired with the thought that the educated head, skilled hands and a 

heart responsive to the highest and best, alone would emancipate my people.” Elmer Washington 

Bryant Curry created a school primarily for African Americans and that all began in a shed in the rear 

of a house at 19 David Street right here in Delaware. Elmer Curry having very meager beginnings 

went on to develop a school to not only teach an academic education, but to teach practical trade 

skills. The important first 6 years here in Delaware formed the model that would eventually find its 

home in Urbana Ohio as the Curry Normal and Industrial Institute. During the time from 1889 until 

the early 1930’s, the Curry Normal and Industrial Institute taught over 2000 African Americans, many 

who went on to become teachers themselves or went on to achieve a higher education because they 

were inspired to learn, and some others became the builders of the 20th Century, creating a better 

life for themselves and their families. The School became known as the “Tuskegee of the North”, 

after the famous school founded by Booker T. Washington in 1881 in Alabama. I would like to leave 

you with this thought: E.W. B. Curry was another hidden African American hero in the history of our 

country, our state and our city. I’m suggesting we remember E.W.B. Curry and the good that he 

brought to his time and his people by creating a memorial street sign to be located at the corner of 

London Road and South Sandusky and another one at Liberty Street and London Road. This is but a 

brief introduction to the school and the man, however there is no doubt that Professor Curry, as he 

became known throughout the country, became the historical figure in part to his early Delaware 

influences. I respectfully ask your consideration on this proposal.  (Approximately 5 minutes) 

 

 

 







 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 
TO: R Thomas Homan, City Manager 

 
FROM: William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 

DATE:  May 24, 2019 
  

 

RE: Adoption of Traffic Calming Guide & Recommendations for W Hull Drive Improvements 

 

The attached Traffic Calming Guide for Residential Streets has been prepared by staff of the Public 

Works Department, presented to City Council for review and comment on May 13th, and is now ready 

for adoption as part of the City’s Technical Design Standards.  The guide provides direction in 

properly evaluating and addressing the need for installing traffic calming  measures on local and 

collector neighborhood streets to mitigate concerns over undesirable motor vehicle operation.  It is 

my recommendation the guide be adopted as revised.  

As part of the overall Traffic Calming work, a request by the Ravines at Stratford, aka West Hull Drive 

neighborhood, has been under consideration for the past year and a half to address traffic concerns.  

Both motor vehicle speeding and volume have been identified as issues by the residents, and more 

recently a focus on the number of vehicles failing to come to a complete rest at the stop sign 

controlled intersection of W Hull Drive and Hull Court.  Numerous traffic studies and data collected 

confirm that W Hull Drive serves as a Collector street as originally planned for and designed, carrying 

an ADT of 2900 vehicles per day.  85% speeds vary from 29MPH to 31MPH indicating a low to 

moderate speeding concern.  A proposed pilot project to test the impacts of limiting traffic access to 

W Hull Drive from the Delaware Community Plaza was ultimately deferred in favor of maintaining 

full public access to the collector street.   

Though traffic volume will not be addressed by the addition of non-intrusive traffic calming 

measures, it is anticipated that the pavement narrowing striping proposed for the entire length of W 

Hull Drive as shown in the attached exhibit, may result in a mild drop of 2-3MPH in vehicle speeds.  

Additionally, increased compliance at the stop sign controlled intersection may be realized with the 

enhanced striping package proposed for that location.   The cost of the improvements are estimated 

at $7,500.00 and can be funded through the remaining balance of the annual long line striping funds 

included in the annual traffic maintenance budget.  I recommend these improvements be completed 

this season as presented, and monitored for the next 12 to 24 months for effectiveness.   



From: Jackie Walker
To: Elaine McCloskey
Cc: Bill Ferrigno
Subject: FW: Traffic Calming Guide Modifications
Date: Tuesday, June 11, 2019 3:41:16 PM

Please make sure that this information is included in the 6/24/19 Council Packet
 
Jacqueline M Walker
Assistant City Manager
City of Delaware
740-203-1010
jwalker@delawareohio.net
 

 

From: Bill Ferrigno 
Sent: Tuesday, June 11, 2019 2:17 PM
To: Carolyn Riggle; Chris Jones; Darren Shulman; Elaine McCloskey; George Hellinger; Jackie Walker; Jim
Browning; Kent Shafer; Kim Gepper; Kyle Rohrer; Lisa Keller; R Thomas Homan
Cc: Kyle Kridler
Subject: Traffic Calming Guide Modifications
 
As requested by Councilwoman Keller, the following summary is provided of the modifications

included in the final May 30 version of the Traffic Calming Guide document from the April 15th draft
version.  The only substantive change was in section 4.0 regarding funding strategies.  The other
changes were primarily to clean up the appearance and clarity of sections.  With council
concurrence, the final document will be used for the purpose of providing guidance to staff and the
community on further issues concerning the implementation of traffic calming measures. 
 
Section 4.0 Funding Strategies (Page 8)

·       Replaced entire April 15th section with revised language.  Removed suggested “neighborhood
contributions” language and chart and replaced with language suggesting city contribution is
discretionary and pending availability of funding.

 
Section 5.0 Non-Intrusive TCMs
·       Correcting section number that inadvertently shows up as 4.0 and should be 5.0
·       Added image of non-intrusive striping TCM.
 

mailto:/O=CITY OF DELAWARE/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=JWALKER
mailto:EMcCloskey@delawareohio.net
mailto:bferrigno@delawareohio.net


Section 6.0 Intrusive TCM
·       Added image of typical intrusive TCM

 
Section 7.0 Recommended Applications Chart Revisions

·       Removed $ Cost column as it was confusing
·       Separated non-intrusive TCM’s  (top rows) from intrusive TCM’s (Bottom rows)
·       Replaced green shaded with ‘X’ indicating recommended measure for that condition
·       Moved note indicating ADT>1500 VPD to heading under collector streets
·       Added note under collector streets that intrusive TCM’s that prevent the use and function of

a public road by the public are not generally recommended.
 
Appendices – Reformatted several paragraphs, sentence spacing, image locations etc. for
appearance.
 
Please contact me with any additional questions concerning the final proposed document.
 
Thank you,
 
Bill Ferrigno
 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E.
Director of Public Works/City Engineer
City of Delaware, Ohio
440 E William Street
Delaware, Ohio 43015
740.203.1702
bferrigno@delawareohio.net
 

 
 

This message may contain confidential and/or proprietary information and is intended for the person/entity to whom it was originally
addressed. Any use by others is strictly prohibited.

This message may contain confidential and/or proprietary information and is intended for the person/entity to whom it was originally
addressed. Any use by others is strictly prohibited.

mailto:bferrigno@delawareohio.net


STO
P

STOP

\\
FI

LE
SE

RV
ER

2\
CI

TY
 S

HA
RE

\E
N

GI
N

EE
RI

N
G\

EN
GI

N
EE

RI
N

G 
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T\
TR

AN
SP

O
RT

AT
IO

N
 P

RO
JE

CT
S\

HI
GH

W
AY

 P
RO

JE
CT

S\
HU

LL
 D

RI
VE

 (U
SP

 G
RO

U
P)

 A
CC

ES
S 

M
O

DI
FI

CA
TI

O
N

S\
PR

O
JE

CT
 P

LA
N

S 
&

 E
XH

IB
IT

S\
HU

LL
 D

RI
VE

 S
TR

IP
IN

G\
ST

RI
PI

N
G 

EX
HI

BI
T 

FO
R 

PU
BL

IC
.D

W
G

 - 
5/

29
/2

01
9 

5:
56

:1
8 

PM

1

W
. H

U
LL

 D
RI

VE
 &

HU
LL

 C
T.

 IN
TE

RS
EC

TI
O

N

RE
VI

SI
O

N
S

N
o.

DATE ISSUED:

DA
TE

DE
SC

RI
PT

IO
N

AP
PR

O
VE

D

OF

SHEET

W
. H

U
LL

 D
RI

VE
 T

RA
FF

IC
 C

AL
M

IN
G

1

05/29/2019

STOP

20M P H
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
W. HULL DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W. HULL DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HULL COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



 

 

 

Please 

Slow 

Down 

Traffic Calming Guide 
for 

Neighborhood Streets 

 

 

 

 

City of Delaware 

Public Works Department 

Revised May 30, 2019 

 



 

2 | P a g e  

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS  

 

 

1.0 Introduction and Overview 

2.0 Program Limitations 

3.0 Development of Neighborhood Traffic Calming Plans 

3.1 Receipt of Initial Traffic Complaint 

3.2 Review Eligibility for Neighborhood  Traffic Calming  

3.3 Data Collection & Analysis 

3.4 Draft Traffic Calming Plan 

3.5 Public Involvement Process 

3.6 Legislative Review & Approvals 

3.7 Implementation of Traffic Calming Plan 

3.8 Evaluation 

4.0 Funding Strategies for Construction of Traffic Calming Measures 

5.0 Non-Intrusive Traffic Calming Measures 

6.0 Intrusive/Barrier Traffic Calming Measures 

7.0 Recommended Applications of Traffic Calming Measures 

8.0 Non-Compliant Traffic Calming Measures 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A – Non-Intrusive Traffic Calming Measures  

Appendix B -- Intrusive/Barrier Traffic Calming Measures  

Appendix C – 85th Percentile Speed  

Appendix D – Criteria for Installation of Dynamic Speed Feedback Signs 

Appendix E – Multi-Way Stop Sign Policy  

 

 

 



 

3 | P a g e  

 

 
1.0 Introduction and Overview  

The City of Delaware has long-standing policy for implementing traffic calming measures 
with the goal being safer streets and lower vehicular speeds in residential neighborhoods, 
near schools, and other areas with high numbers of pedestrians and bicyclists.  In the past, 
policy has lumped regulatory measures with non-regulatory measures.  Also, some older 
policy advocates traffic calming measures that have been deemed ineffective over the years 
or are outdated due to advances in technology.  In the past, the use of the term “traffic 
calming measures” has been overly broad.  Therefore, the purpose of this manual is to give 
City leaders new focus and direction in keeping City streets safer for all modes of travel.  
This manual replaces the City’s existing traffic calming policy and attempts to address the 
most frequently requested items from the public.   

Speeding in residential neighborhoods is often times a concern among City of Delaware 
residents because of its effect on the livability of our streets and neighborhoods.  In 
response to citizen concerns, the City of Delaware has developed the Neighborhood Traffic 
Calming Guide to more effectively work with neighborhoods in developing appropriate 
traffic solutions.  The work represents a collaborative effort by the City of Delaware Police 
Department, Public Works Department, Parking and Safety Committee and Citizens to 
address speeding concerns on public streets. 
 
The purpose of traffic calming is to address problems associated with neighborhood 
speeding, though the techniques and traffic calming measures can be extended to higher 
order major collector and minor arterial routes as well.  Cut-thru traffic is often blamed as 
the source of neighborhood speeding problems, however it has been found that both 
neighborhood residents as well as motorists travelling through a residential area are equally 
likely to exceed posted speed limits.  Therefore, the focus of this document is to provide 
guidance in mitigating vehicle speed regardless of origin or destination.   
 
A successful traffic calming program requires involvement and cooperation from the 
impacted residents, travelling public, and local jurisdiction.  Delaware’s Traffic Calming 
Guide employs an approach that incorporates Education, Encouragement, Enforcement, 
Engineering, and Evaluation in resolving traffic issues.  
  
Public Education and Encouragement are recommended first steps for residents to help 
promote traffic calming in their neighborhoods.  Motorists are made aware of community 
concerns and reminded of the importance of safe driving habits.  Well informed motorists 
regarding safety concerns and traffic laws in neighborhoods, are more likely to follow the 
rules.  The implementation of a yard sign campaign is an inexpensive means to remind all 
motorists of the posted speed limit and risks associated with speeding in a residential 
neighborhood.   Speed feedback display units can be used to promote awareness and 
reinforce safe driving habits by showing actual travel speeds next to the posted speed limit.  
The community can also play a role through encouraging motorists to respect the speed 



 

4 | P a g e  

 

limits within residential areas and to consider alternative routes on higher level roads to 
help reduce the traffic load on a particular street. 

Enforcement typically involves an increased presence of law enforcement to monitor and 
enforce the speed limits in neighborhoods.  Enforcement efforts should be undertaken as 
much as possible prior to implementation of physical traffic calming devices.  Citizens can 
call the City of Delaware Police Department at (740)203-1111 and report areas where 
speeding is perceived to be a problem and request enforcement.  
 
There are cases where enhanced public Education, Encouragement and Enforcement need 
to be supplemented with additional measures to address traffic concerns such as continued 
complaints over excessive speeding, vehicular crashes and pedestrian incidents.  In these 
cases Engineering Analysis, Design and Follow-up Evaluation may be initiated to further 
understand the issue and make recommendations to mitigate the undesirable behavior.   
In these cases engineering strategies can involve adding non-intrusive signage, pavement 
marking and geometric roadway features that result in lowered vehicle speeds on affected 
roads.  These physical traffic calming  measures are indiscriminate and affect all motorists; 
therefore, they are used after education, encouragement and enforcement strategies have 
been exhausted.  More intrusive traffic calming measures are available if the volume of 
traffic must be adjusted, redirected or otherwise changed to address a particular safety 
concern within a neighborhood such as high crash history or congestion.   

An Evaluation of traffic calming measures generally follows the installation of traffic calming 
measures to verify the effectiveness in addressing a particular traffic safety concern.    
Evaluation may involve community survey, social media feedback, additional speed studies, 
and traffic counts to determine the impacts a particular measure may have had on motorist 
behavior.  Adjustments to traffic calming measures may be recommended based on the 
results of the evaluation.   

 
2.0 Program Limitations 
Traffic calming is a community-driven effort, however there are limitations as to the 
effectiveness that calming measures achieve, and those requesting improvements should 
have realistic expectations as to what those benefits are.  Additionally, what may seem like 
obvious solutions are often not viable in accordance with accepted traffic regulations and 
codes.   

a) As a municipal organization, the City must abide by regulations set forth by our State 
and Federal government.  The Ohio Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Design 
(OMUTCD) is a governing set of regulations adopted by the State of Ohio, which 
contains specific regulations regarding the use of public right of way, and specifically 
concerning pavement markings, signage and the management of traffic.  The City of 
Delaware does not approve of any infrastructure modification or improvement that is 
not specifically permitted under the regulations of the OMUTCD. 
 



 

5 | P a g e  

 

b) For the purposes of this guide, the recommendations are limited to implementation 
on publically owned local residential and collector streets. 

c) There is limited funding available for the construction of permanent traffic calming 
measures.  If it is determined that permanent traffic calming measures are 
recommended, funding sources must be considered.  Section 4.0 addresses 
recommended strategies for the funding of traffic calming measures in various 
situations.   

d) In some instances, the implementation of certain traffic calming measures can result 
in unintended consequences such as increased traffic in surrounding streets and 
neighborhoods, increased vehicle noise and pollution, sign clutter, tree removal, and 
the reduction or elimination of on-street parking.   

e) It has been found that the use of traffic calming measures is minimally effective in 
reducing vehicle speeds when the measured 85th percentile speeds are determined to 
be below 30 MPH.  (See Appendix C for definition of 85th percentile speed) 

 
3.0 Development of Neighborhood Traffic Calming Plans  

 
The following process is followed when evaluating requests for the installation of proposed 
traffic calming measures on a neighborhood street. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RECEIPT OF INITIAL TRAFFIC COMPLAINTS 

DEVELOPEMNT OF TRAFFIC CALMING PLAN 

DATA ACQUISITION & ANALYSIS 

DETERMINE ELIGIBILITY FOR TRAFFIC CALMING 

EVALUATION OF PLAN EFFECTIVENESS 

IMPLEMENTATION OF PLAN 

PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT & REVIEW 

LEGISLATIVE APPROVAL OF PLAN 



 

6 | P a g e  

 

3.1 Receipt of Initial Traffic Complaint 
A request for the installation of traffic calming measures can be initiated by an individual, 
neighborhood group and/or by City staff.  If the request is initiated by a neighborhood 
group, it is recommended that the neighbors designate a point-of-contact who will act as a 
liaison between City staff and other neighborhood residents.  In any case, the consideration 
for, and the implementation of traffic calming measures should involve considerable 
neighborhood consensus building in the community.   The neighborhood point-of-contact 
should submit, on behalf of the neighborhood, a formal written request to the City of 
Delaware Parking and Safety Committee explaining the concerns and to request traffic 
calming measures be implemented. Requests can be sent via email or through the City 
website.   
 
Following initial receipt of a request for traffic calming, Public Works and Police staff will 
work with the neighborhood point-of-contact to define the specific nature of the complaint 
as well as the neighborhood study area.  The study area may include more streets within a 
neighborhood than the street associated with the complaint.  It is important to include an 
expanded study area because traffic calming measures installed on one street may have an 
impact on adjacent streets resulting in the shifting of a problem as opposed to mitigating it.  
   
3.2 Review Eligibility for Neighborhood Traffic Calming  
Traffic calming measures are generally most effective in residential areas to manage speeds 
along residential streets, and where there exists the highest interaction between 
pedestrians, cyclists, parked vehicles, and pets.  Therefore, only streets meeting the 
following criteria are appropriate candidates for further consideration for implementation 
of the neighborhood traffic calming measures detailed in this guide.   
 

 Streets with a posted speed limit of 25 mph 
 Streets classified as a local or neighborhood collector street 
 Streets with an ADT<3500 vehicles per day 
 Street is not a cul-de-sac  
 Streets is not designated as primary emergency response route 

 
3.3 Data Collection & Analysis 
The following data is collected by Public Works and Police staff within the study area and 
used in analyzing the traffic characteristics, driving patterns and motorist behavior of a 
particular street in question.  
 

 Vehicle Speeds to document the 85th percentile speeds 
 Average Daily Traffic (ADT) volumes on all streets within the study area 
 Turning movement counts at pertinent intersections that are within the study area 

during the peak hours 7AM-9AM, 11AM-1PM and/or 4PM-6PM (if applicable) 
 Pedestrian counts at intersections if study area is near-by or adjacent to a school 

and/or park 
 Accident history and rate of occurrence 
 Roadway condition/geometrics 
 Percent cut-through traffic 



 

7 | P a g e  

 

The collected data is reviewed to help identify observable safety issue such as excessive 
vehicle speeds, or conditions leading to the perception of speeding, and to make a 
determination as to what traffic calming measure(s) may be effective in addressing the 
issues.  Staff will also identify the potential negative effects associated with the installation 
of traffic calming measures including impacts on the provision of emergency services, city 
refuse collection, highway maintenance and snow removal operations.  Additional 
consideration is given to the impact on institutions such as, but not limited to, local schools, 
hospitals and emergency care facilities. 
 
3.4 Draft Traffic Calming Plan 
City staff will develop a Traffic Calming Plan that identifies strategies to help reduce 
speeding, and that employs the Educate, Encourage, Enforcement, Engineering and 
Evaluation approach.  Traffic Calming measures may include non-intrusive/guidance 
strategies, more intrusive measures, or a combination of both.  Non-intrusive strategies 
include educational programs, enforcement, signage, pavement markings, construction of 
islands, bump-outs, chicanes etc., all to influence the motorist behavior in a particular 
location.   The more Intrusive measures generally involve construction of deterrents that 
limit vehicle direction of travel and access to particular street.   Non-intrusive measures are 
most successful in managing vehicle speed while intrusive measures are implemented to 
control vehicle volumes.  Both have advantages and disadvantages as further described in 
detail in the information provided in Appendix A and B.      
 
3.5 Public Involvement Process 
Following development of a draft traffic calming plan, staff will present the plan before the 
public and accept public input as to the proposal.  City staff will prepare a summary 
describing the problem and potential solutions and make the information available to all 
interested parties via a combination of door hangers, mail service and other social media 
outlets.  All interested parties are invited to attend a public discussion of the issue to be 
held during a regularly scheduled City Parking & Safety Committee meeting.  Property 
owners within the study area, generally defined as those households and businesses 
fronting the affected segments of the project street(s), will receive additional information 
regarding the identified problem and potential traffic calming measures being considered.  
This includes, but not limited to, homeowners, businesses, apartment tenants and area 
schools.  Adjustments to the plan may be considered based on public feedback.   
 
3.6 Legislative Review & Approvals 
The City Parking & Safety Committee will make a final recommendation as to the approval 
or denial of a proposed traffic calming initiative for a particular area.  For those plans 
recommended for approval, the recommendation is taken before full City Council for 
consideration, and ultimate approval.  Because the Neighborhood Traffic Calming policy is 
for guidance only, City Council may have to consider such things such as public acceptance 
and project construction and funding responsibilities before any improvements can be 
implemented.   
 
 
 



 

8 | P a g e  

 

3.7 Implementation of Traffic Calming Plan 
Depending on the extent of the Neighborhood Traffic Calming Plan and the amount of 
funding available, the traffic calming measures may be implemented in phases and 
evaluated prior to considering full implementation.  Construction of improvements may be 
by the property owners group, the city, or a combination of both entities.  Some 
improvements can be installed any time of the year such as additional new signage, while 
others requiring changes to pavement markings, curb and roadway are generally restricted 
to the April through October construction season.   
 
3.8 Evaluation 
A follow-up evaluation will be conducted to ensure that the strategies implemented are 
effective.  The evaluation includes additional traffic counts and speed studies after each set 
of measures has been implemented.  If speeding has not effectively reduced, the City and 
neighborhood residents will have additional meetings to determine what further measures 
may be needed. 
 
The City will also be reviewing unintended consequences such as redistribution of vehicle 
trips to other residential streets, increase in accident rates, or other traffic problems 
developing as a result of the implementation of the traffic calming plan.  Depending on the 
severity of the unanticipated consequences, the City may modify the plan, reduce the plan, 
or eliminate it all together. 
 
4.0 Funding Strategies for Construction of Traffic Calming Measures 
Available funding for transportation system improvements is limited, and in many cases tied 
to the availability of outside revenues such as grants, safety program funds or other State 
sources.  The value of traffic calming improvements are generally too low to make good 
candidate projects for grant programs, yet larger than what can typically be managed in the 
annual traffic maintenance operations budget at current funding levels.  Nevertheless, as 
the need arises to make traffic calming improvements within the community, it would be 
helpful to have an established source of funding to allocate toward these efforts.   Once a 
requested improvement has been identified, evaluated and approved for installation 
through the guidelines established in the Traffic Calming Guide, the cost of the 
improvement could be added to the next operations budget for funding consideration by 
council as part of the overall budget approval process.  For improvements considered 
critical in nature addressing a high-risk situation, where prudence demands a immediate 
response, a recommendation could be made to Council to consider a supplemental 
appropriation so that the improvement could be made sooner.  For low impact 
improvements, Council could require alternative funding arrangements such as specifying a 
neighborhood HOA provide some of all of the funding required to make an improvement.  
In all cases, the City should only fund projects that will have a positive and measurable 
impact on improving neighborhood safety as it relates to traffic calming. 

 
 
 
 



 

9 | P a g e  

 

4.0 Non-Intrusive Traffic Calming Measures 
Non-intrusive traffic calming measures are most effective at increasing motorist’s 
awareness of their surroundings, and have been shown to yield a drop in vehicle travel 
speeds of up to several miles per hour in the correct application.  Non-intrusive measures 
however, generally do not result in a notable drop in traffic volume, though the more 
physical alterations could discourage a motorist from travel on a treated street.  Non-
intrusive measures may be most effective when implemented in combination e.g. 
establishing a neighborhood yard sign “Speed Watch” program concurrent with the 
introduction of new pavement striping.  
The cost of non-intrusive measures vary 
widely and can range from a few 
hundred dollars to tens of thousands or 
more for complex modifications to 
roadway geometry.  Details regarding 
the approved non-intrusive traffic 
calming measures utilized within the City 
of Delaware are found in Appendix A.   

A note about the use of Stop signs – The use of Stop signs is not a recognized nor approved 
means to manage neighborhood speeding though it may seem like an obvious approach to 
“slow” motorists down.  The reality is that unwarranted Stop signs can increase risk and 
safety concerns in areas where they have been placed, as motorists quickly realize the 
minimal chance of encountering side street traffic and end up “rolling through” an 
intersection.  The result is a diminished respect for Stop signs. Improper installations have 
actually been shown to result in an increase in vehicle speed both ahead of and following a 
Stop sign installation.   Appendix E describes the only permitted applications for mulit-way 
Stop sign applications under very limited conditions. 

 
6.0 Intrusive/Barrier Traffic Calming Measures 
Intrusive barriers are most effective in diverting traffic away from any given street 
regardless of trip origin or destination, by directing motorists toward adjacent streets or 
alternative routes.   These type of traffic calming measures may be helpful in addressing 
changes to traffic volumes that were not originally anticipated or otherwise previously 
present.  In some cases the volume of traffic on a street exceeds that which can be 
associated just from the neighborhood.  This often presents conflict as residents feel that 
they have certain rights to the management of the level of traffic using the public right of 
way fronting their respective properties, in 
contrast with the permissible use by non-
resident motorists on the same street.  In 
general, the implementation of intrusive barriers 
should be reserved to address safety issues such 
as high accident rates, continuous congestion, 
and intersection delay.   See Appendix B for 
specific details of the Intrusive traffic calming 
measures utilized within the City of Delaware.   



 

10 | P a g e  

 

7.0 Recommended Applications of Traffic Calming Measures  
The following table provides recommendations as to the use of certain traffic calming 
measures on local and collector streets as a function of 85% speed.  Not all traffic calming 
measures are suitable for both local streets and collector roadways.  Only those measures 
indicated with and ‘X’ are approved for the specified condition. 
 
 

Recommended Application of Traffic Calming Measures  

Traffic Calming Measure 
Local Street  

85th % Over Posted Limit 
Collector Street 

85th % Over Posted Limit    ADT>1500 
0–5 MPH 6–10 MPH 11+ MPH 0–5 MPH 6–10 MPH 11+ MPH 

Police Enforcement  X X  X X 

Public Encouragement X X X X X X 

Yard Sign Campaign X X X X X X 

Enhanced Crosswalks   X X X X X 

Pavement Striping  X X X  X X 

Speed Feedback Signs  X X  X X 

Intersection Bump-outs  X X  X X 

Curb Bump-outs   X   X 

Chicanes   X   X 

Median Islands   X   X 

Chokers   X   X 

Roundabouts   X   X 

Speed Bumps   X    

Raised Intersections   X    

       

Time of Day Restrictions      X 

One-Way Streets   X Generally the application of ‘Intrusive’ traffic 
calming measures that restrict the use of a 

public road planned as a collector servicing local 
and regional traffic is not recommended 

Diverter Islands   X 

Turn Restrictions   X 

 
8.0 Non-Compliant Traffic Calming Measures (Not Permitted in Delaware) 

 
  

Non-compliant crosswalk markings 

Non-compliant crosswalk markings 

Non-compliant symbols/wording 

In-pavement lighting 



 

11 | P a g e  

 

Appendix A – Non-Intrusive Traffic Calming Measures  
 
Neighborhood Yard Signs 
Yard signs are temporary plastic signs in the front yards of community residents, which 
serve as a vivid reminder to drive 25 mph within neighborhoods.  The sign is connected with 
metal stakes, similar to an advertisement sign or political candidate’s sign, and is placed on 
private property at the discretion of the property owner.  These signs may not be installed 
within the right-of-way of the adjacent street because they are not compliant with the Ohio 
Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (OMUTCD), which regulates the types and 
designs of signs installed above or adjacent to all roads within the State of Ohio.   
 
Advantages: 

 Can be effective in reducing speeding by community residents.  These signs are most 
effective when a community is supportive and promotes the need for speed 
reduction through other community educational efforts. 

 Inexpensive to manufacture 
 

Disadvantages: 
 Impact may be reduced over time unless regularly reinforced.  Moving the signs 

periodically may cause them to be continually noticed. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dynamic Speed Feedback Signs  
On occasion, local communities have sought to resolve their traffic speed issues and traffic 
diversion issues through the use of artificially reduced speed limits.  Section 4511.12 of the 
Ohio Revised Code (ORC) establishes statutory speed limits and prescribes how those speed 
limits may be altered when an engineering study determines that they do not fit the road 
and traffic conditions.   
 

https://www.google.com/imgres?imgurl=http://www.seattle.gov/transportation/images/ntcp_com_3.JPG&imgrefurl=http://www.seattle.gov/transportation/ntcp_com.htm&docid=bu5spEYc2r-f6M&tbnid=YatLBzOvQ_lb-M:&vet=1&w=212&h=144&bih=1002&biw=1920&ved=0ahUKEwir2rXQ0dDQAhUE3SYKHUVRCk4QMwgjKAEwAQ&iact=mrc&uact=8
https://www.google.com/imgres?imgurl=http://ih.constantcontact.com/fs106/1101171362853/img/412.jpg?a%3D1112989216097&imgrefurl=http://archive.constantcontact.com/fs106/1101171362853/archive/1112989216097.html&docid=yElh4SLlqtkglM&tbnid=i3h_n7G2My13fM:&vet=1&w=430&h=295&bih=1002&biw=1920&ved=0ahUKEwikwL_30tDQAhWI6CYKHXWJCIsQMwjCAShXMFc&iact=mrc&uact=8
https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjRw_eU09DQAhVMOCYKHfDxC7YQjRwIBw&url=https://lynnhurstsw.wordpress.com/2014/07/14/update-71414-please-slow-down-yard-signs-available-to-lynnhurst-residents/&psig=AFQjCNED0sjm-TCyBILMCRC02VyY5Wv6NA&ust=1480601069727671


 

12 | P a g e  

 

Speed limit signs in and of themselves are rarely effective in 
reducing travel speeds and they should not be used as a standalone 
device.  Experience has shown that drivers tend to travel at the 
speed that is most comfortable, based on the surrounding roadway 
environment.  Speed limit signs may be installed to reinforce 
existing speed limits or to supplement other traffic calming devices.  
Speed limits set at levels less than those expected by drivers 
eventually lead to increased disregard of the signed speed limit.   
 
Dynamic speed feedback signs provide a real-time display of a 
driver’s vehicular speed at a particular location where speeding has 
been documented to be a problem.  These signs are used in 
conjunction with a regulatory speed limit sign to give drivers an 
immediate confirmation of their actual speed in comparison to the 
legal speed limit. The dynamic speed feedback signs serve to supplement regular 
enforcement of speed limits alerting drivers to specific driving behavior.  Although 
residential streets carry the lowest volume of traffic and are subject to the fewest accidents, 
they are often the subject of the most complaints regarding neighborhood speeding.  
Residents observe vehicles being driven at speeds perceived as “too fast” and conclude the 
need for increased local speed enforcement or for the installation of all Way Stop Signs 
along the route.  In many cases, the speeds perceived as excessive by residents while 
standing in their yards are the same that they operate their vehicles at while driving. 
 

Advantages: 

 Studies have shown these signs produce 10-20% reductions in speeding violations, 
along with an increase in compliance with the posted speed limit.   

 Can be cost effective when compared with the construction of physical traffic 
calming measures to reduce speed. 

 
Disadvantages: 

 Expensive initial cost with continuous maintenance and repair costs. 
 Impact may be reduced over time unless regularly enforced by local police. 

 
 
Pavement Striping 
Pavement striping means of controlling speed includes measures to effectively narrow the 
travel lanes to encourage lower speeds, to emphasize pedestrian crossings or to 
supplement signing regulations (such as existing stop signs).  Striping which can be used in 
traffic calming includes centerlines, edge lines, crosswalks and stop bars.  Pavement striping 
options can vary depending on the type of striping being used; therefore, the application of 
each type of striping treatment is as follows: 
 



 

13 | P a g e  

 

 

 
 
Centerline Striping: Centerline striping is primarily used for 
residential streets without existing centerlines.  In many cases, 
a centerline stripe can be effective in channeling traffic and 
thereby reducing speeds.  There are also other specialized 
striping techniques that can be used to draw attention to lane 
markings, such as the addition of reflective pavement markers 
where appropriate. 
  
 
Edge Line Striping: Edge line striping is also effective in  
residential areas to narrow the lanes and/or provide additional 
delineation for other uses. Reducing the lane width has the 
potential for reducing speed by creating a narrower traffic 
lane.  The area between the edge of the road and the lane 
marking can often be used for parking or as a bike lane, 
depending on the resulting shoulder width.  

 

https://www.bing.com/images/search?q=chicane+traffic+calming+images&view=detailv2&&id=3F82AE8FB950CCFA6ADB15F9BF0F723EC4F165DE&selectedIndex=79&ccid=BDYsFg%2b2&simid=607989812121960940&thid=OIP.M04362c160fb68ddfed290deebac8baf7o0
https://www.bing.com/images/search?q=curb+bump+outs+at+intersections&view=detailv2&&id=A513790842FF37D7075388671EB2FAC78E35DD6B&selectedIndex=150&ccid=ehuIEl%2bs&simid=608053785664621231&thid=OIP.M7a1b88125fac8a2ec159f5876a5a9891o0


 

14 | P a g e  

 

Enhanced Crosswalks: At high volume pedestrian 
crossings, striped crosswalks might be appropriate to 
channelize pedestrians and notify motorists of 
pedestrians crossing the street.  Crosswalks alone may 
not provide the desired level of protection or call 
sufficient attention to a pedestrian to allow them to 
safely cross the street.  Depending on the need, there 
are a variety of crosswalk options that may be used at 
intersections to identify the safest place to cross.  These 
includes enhanced diagonal ladder-style striping and 
possibly the use of textured pavements to increase the 
visibility by the motorist and encourage slowing down.  
 
Advantages: 

 Centerline striping can be effective in reducing sideswipe accidents, as it channelizes 
traffic in its own lane. 

 Centerline striping can be combined with edge lines to create narrower travel lanes, 
which subsequently help to slow traffic. 

 Edge line striping may increase bicycle and pedestrian safety by moving vehicular 
traffic closer to the centerline providing more shoulder space for bicycles and 
pedestrians. 

 Crosswalks provide a visible pedestrian crossing, increasing pedestrian awareness 
and safety. 

 
Disadvantages: 

 Periodic maintenance of striping. 
 Striping can lose its effectiveness in reducing speed over time as regular users of the 

street become more comfortable with the physical space they have available to 
operate. 

 Crosswalks used without other traffic control devices may lure pedestrians into a 
false sense of security. 

 Appearance of the road with paint striping may cause residents to feel that the road 
is a higher classification than a local residential street. 

 Potential loss of on-street parking in order to provide 10 foot minimum lane width 
for vehicular traffic which doesn’t leave adequate width for an 8 foot wide parking 
aisle on both sides of the street. 

 
Choker Islands 
A choker narrows the travel lanes of a road by bringing the existing curbs closer to the 
centerline of the road.  The typical two-lane choker is 20-feet wide (curt-to-curb) at its most 
narrow point.  Chokers should extend toward the centerline beyond any parking lanes.  
While the typical curb to curb width of a two-lane curb extension is significantly less than 
most streets, there is sufficient width for vehicles to pass each other.  As a result, speed 
reductions will be modest. 
 



 

15 | P a g e  

 

The length of a choker can vary depending on the 
location of driveways and curbside parking.  By 
bringing the curbs closer together, chokers may 
also present a favorable location to install a mid-
block crosswalk (either raised or level with the 
roadway) because crossing distances are reduced, 
motor vehicles speeds are lower, and the 
combination of design elements will draw greater 
visual attention to the crossing location. 
 
Chokers can be created by either curb extensions 
or edge islands.  Edge islands are less aesthetic but 
leave existing drainage channel opens.  They also make it possible to provide bicycle bypass 
lanes on streets without curbside parking.  If motor vehicle volumes are large, chokers can 
be hazardous to bicyclists, who get squeezed by passing motorists.  In such cases the bicycle 
bypass lanes should be considered. 
 

Advantages: 
 Reduced speeds in area of choker. 
 Minimal impact to driving comfort. 
 Where provided, shorter crossing distances for pedestrians. 
 Protects adjacent on-street parking spaces. 
 Provides landscaping opportunity. 
 Can accommodate emergency vehicles. 

 
Disadvantages: 

 Only a modest reduction in vehicle speeds can be expected, unless chokers are used 
in conjunction with other speed reduction measures. 

 Loss of some on-street parking spaces. 
 

Corner Bump-Outs 
Corner extensions are chokers installed at intersections.  Reduced curb radii can reduce 
speeds on approaches that are not stop controlled and decrease pedestrian crossing 
distances.  Operational analyses should always be performed when corner extensions are 
constructed to ensure that the intersection will operate 
acceptably with respect to queues and delays.  

                                                                  

 
 
 

 

 

https://www.bing.com/images/search?q=curb+extensions+at+intersection&view=detailv2&&id=2F9454B201516404C8B0F8A68BE884F5E82DF076&selectedIndex=3&ccid=V96rsBJL&simid=608039096881579775&thid=OIP.M57deabb0124b427266b9528bb258dd02o0


 

16 | P a g e  

 

Advantages: 

 Reduces speeds through the intersection area. 
 Shorter crossing distances for pedestrians. 
 Provides landscaping opportunity. 
 Can accommodate emergency vehicles for through movements. 

 
Disadvantages: 

 Loss of on-street parking spaces. 
 Potentially high cost, if there are significant utility and drainage impacts. 
 Forces bicyclists into travel lanes at intersections. 
 Can make right turns by large vehicles more difficult. 
 Obstruction to distracted motorist. 
 Impact roadway drainage. 
 Impede snow removal. 

 
Median Islands (Center Island Narrowing) 
Center island narrowing is achieved by placing an island 
in the centerline of the roadway at the entry point to a 
neighborhood or midblock which narrows the lane 
width on either side of the island.  The visual 
appearance of the narrowed lanes will encourage 
drivers to slow down.  In addition to slowing traffic, 
center island narrowing provides opportunities to 
provide a pedestrian refuge area (if at a pedestrian 
crossing location), landscaping, or installation of 
entrance features or gateway signs.  To be most 
effective, the islands should be raised islands.  Median 
treatments often incorporate textured pavements on 
the island itself, particularly for median islands without raised concrete islands, where 
textured pavements are essential in helping draw attention to the island.   

 
  Advantages: 

 Reduced speeds. 
 Shorter crossing distances for pedestrians. 
 If sufficiently wide enough (6-feet minimum), 

islands can provide a refuge area for 
pedestrians in the middle of the roadway. 

 Provides a visual break in the streetscape 
and reduces the wide open appearance.  

 Provides landscaping opportunity. 
 Creates visual cues to drivers at entrance of 

a residential neighborhood. 
 Little impact on emergency vehicles. 

 

https://www.bing.com/images/search?q=center+island+narrowing&view=detailv2&&id=9EC5861F5249B044A2230B528DDB1198324A7741&selectedIndex=0&ccid=CUgqR23E&simid=607999587478800340&thid=OIP.M09482a476dc4568409fdef1a1331c616o0
https://www.bing.com/images/search?q=Center+Island+Narrowing+Traffic&view=detailv2&&id=90143F44D921B895057101C8F8586BC8AE0B3E10&selectedIndex=3&ccid=27gFAPc0&simid=608004784389426073&thid=OIP.Mdbb80500f734f8b0e2ebfd23de443ecfo0


 

17 | P a g e  

 

Disadvantages: 
 Only modest speed reduction can be expected from standalone installations. 
 Loss of on-street parking spaces. 
 May force bicyclists into travel lanes at lane narrowing points. 
 May impact driveways. 
 Obstruction to distracted motorist. 
 Impact roadway drainage. 
 Impede snow removal. 

 

 

Chicanes 

Chicanes are a series of curb extensions or narrowing of the roadway that alternate from 
one side of the street to the other, forming an S-shaped and curvilinear roadway alignment.  
The purpose of a chicane is to introduce horizontal curvature to the road, breaking up the 
“runway effect” of wide, straight streets. 

                          

Advantages: 
 Speed reductions. 
 Accommodates large vehicles and has little effect on emergency response times. 
 Provides a visual break in the streetscape and reduces the wide open appearance of 

the street. 
 Provides landscaping opportunities. 

 
Disadvantages: 

 Loss of on-street parking spaces. 
 Bicyclists have less space to occupy the road through the narrowed portions. 
 Some aggressive/careless drivers may view chicanes as an “obstacle course”, leading 

to sharp cornering, braking and acceleration to negotiate the islands and curb 
extensions. 

 Obstruction to distracted motorist. 
 Impact roadway drainage. 
 Impede snow removal. 

 

https://www.bing.com/images/search?q=chicane+traffic+calming+images&view=detailv2&&id=41D5CD44A4AA242741C1C3210724E8A9534D24D3&selectedIndex=5&ccid=QuN6MJt1&simid=607997216639092027&thid=OIP.M42e37a309b75c2ac30436d187d4e05bao0


 

18 | P a g e  

 

Lateral Shifts 
A lateral shift is a variation of the typical chicane.  It has the same dimensions and details as 
the typical chicane, but because the roadway alignment shifts only one, has a crossing 
approximately 5 mph higher than a chicane of the same dimensions. 
 
The typical lateral shift separates opposing traffic by means of a center island.  Without a 
center island, some drivers may cross the centerline to minimize the deflection of their 
travel path.  With the center island, drivers cannot veer into the opposing lane as easily, 
thus improving the safety and effectiveness of the later shift. 
 

 

                                         

Advantages: 
 Feasible method of reducing vehicle speeds 

on higher classified collector roads. 
 Accommodates larger vehicles and has 

negligible effect on emergency response 
times. 

 Provides visual break in the streetscape and 
reduces the wide open appearance of the 
street. 

 Lane shifts discourage high speeds by forcing 
horizontal deflection. 

 Provides landscaping opportunities. 
 

Disadvantages: 
 Loss of on-street parking spaces. 
 Narrows pavement surface requiring consideration for providing 

space bicycles. 
 Curb extensions can become expensive if drainage system 

adjustments are required. 
 Obstruction to distracted motorist. 
 Impact roadway drainage. 
 Impede snow remov 

 



 

19 | P a g e  

 

Realigned Intersections 
Realigned intersections create changes in the horizontal alignment at the approaches to t-
intersections.  Curbed islands are used to convert the straight approaches of the through 
street into a curving street within the intersection.  Realigned intersections may provide 
conditions where warrants are met for additional traffic controls (i.e. all-way stop, etc.). 

 

                           

Advantages: 
 Reduced speeds. 
 Shorter crossing distances 

for pedestrians. 
 Accommodates large 

vehicles and has negligible 
effect on emergency 
response times. 

 Reduces straight line of 
sight and enhances visual 
breaks in the streetscape. 

 Provides landscaping 
opportunities. 

 
Disadvantages: 

 Loss of on-street parking 
spaces. 

 Narrows pavement surface requiring consideration for providing space bicycles. 
 Curb extensions can become expensive if drainage system adjustments are required. 
 May create congestion and increase delay on the major street during the peak 

periods. 
 Obstruction to distracted motorist. 
 Impact roadway drainage. 
 Impede snow removal. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

20 | P a g e  

 

Roundabouts  

Roundabouts are becoming more accepted as an intersection design that can often address 
capacity and safety issues in a more effective manner than installing a traffic signal or all 
way stop condition.  Depending on the traffic operational issue and size of the intersecting 
roads, roundabouts can be designed in three general sizes: full roundabouts, mini-
roundabouts and neighborhood traffic circles. 

Full roundabouts are primarily found on higher functional classification roads such as 
collectors and arterials.  They ae the largest size and are designed to handle higher volumes 
and speeds.  The full roundabout is typically sized to accommodate trucks and buses 
circulating around the central island and the central island is non-traversable.  Full 
roundabouts generally do not fit within the footprint of residential collector and local roads, 
therefore, the City of Delaware reserves their use for the larger, higher classified roads and 
are not installed as a traffic calming measure. 
 
Mini-roundabouts and neighborhood traffic circles are small roundabouts with traversable 
central islands and are appropriate as a traffic calming measure to solve certain traffic 
calming issues.  While they are similar in design, neighborhood traffic circles are smaller 
and, therefore, are slightly different in the way vehicles operate through them.  The Federal 
Highway Administration’s (FHWA) report Mini-Roundabouts defines the difference between 
min-rounabouts and neighborhood traffic circles as follows: 
 

Mini-roundabouts are distinguished from neighborhood traffic circles primarily by 
their traversable islands and yield control on approaches, which allows them to 
function as other roundabouts do.  Neighborhood traffic circles are typically built at 
the intersections of local streets for reasons of traffic calming and/or aesthetics.  
They typically are operated as two-way stop-controlled intersections and frequently 
do not include raised neighborhood traffic circles, left-turning vehicles must turn in 
front of the central island, potentially conflicting with other circulating traffic. 

 
Mini-roundabouts are typically intended for use on residential streets with operating 
speeds of 30 mph or less.  Mini-roundabouts, with yield cross speeds of 20 mph or less, 
typically require only minor modification to existing intersections.  Depending on the width 
of the intersection and the diameter of the 
circular island, large vehicles (emergency vehicles 
and buses) may not be able to negotiate the turn 
around the central island.  In order to facilitate 
those vehicles, mini-roundabouts are typically 
designed to include mountable concrete aprons, 
and with a fully traversable raised central island, 
so that large vehicles may be permitted to turn 
left over the circular island rather than going 
around it. 
 
 



 

21 | P a g e  

 

Neighborhood traffic circles have many of the same features of a mini-roundabout, except 
they are installed in smaller intersections and are designed to avoid modification of an 
existing intersection.  In neighborhood traffic circles most vehicles larger than a passenger 
car must travel over at least a portion of the central island to make a left turn.  Therefore, 
due to their small size, typically neighborhood traffic circles do not raise any portion of the 
central island and are installed without diverter islands on the approaches. 
 
                         

Advantages: 
 Improved safety: a traditional four-legged 

intersection has 16 potential vehicle/pedestrians 
conflict points and 16 potential vehicle/vehicle 
conflict points for a total of 32 conflict points.  A 
mini-roundabout or a neighborhood traffic circle 
has only 8 potential vehicle/pedestrian conflict 
points and only 4 potential vehicle/vehicle 
conflict points for a total of only 12 potential 
conflict points. 

 Reduced speeds. 
 Little right-of-way is needed for construction of a 

mini-roundabout and no right-of-way is required 
for a neighborhood traffic circle. 

 Provides traffic calming and traffic control for 
two streets simultaneously. 

 Lower maintenance cost than traffic signals. 
 May reduce cut-through traffic volumes. 
 Mini-roundabouts can be implemented at modest cost. 

 
Disadvantages: 

 Emergency response times may be affected if designed for too low a speed. 
 May require additional street lighting. 
 Potential loss of on-street parking spaces on intersection approaches. 
 The raised island of a mini-roundabout can force bicycles and cars closer together 

increasing the possibility of conflicts. 
 May require curb ramps to be relocated further 

back along the approaches to the mini-
roundabout or neighborhood traffic circle. 

 Obstruction to distracted motorist. 
 Impact roadway drainage. 
 Impede snow removal. 

 
 
 
 



 

22 | P a g e  

 

Speed Bumps 
Speed humps are elongated mounds installed across the pavement.  Individual designs my 
vary slightly, but typically they are approximately 3-4 inches high, parabolic in shape and 
between 12 and 14 feet in length.  The profile of a 3 inch high speed hump is gentle enough 
to provide a comfortable ride when traversed at a speed of approximately 20-25 mph.  At 
high speeds, it becomes more uncomfortable for motorists to driver over the speed humps. 
To reduce speeds over a longer distance, a number of speed humps can be installed.  ITE’s 
Guidelines for the Design and Application of Speed Humps and Speed Tables recommends a 
spacing of 260-feet to 500-feet for the series of speed humps to be effective.                      
The guidelines further recommend that “The first speed hump in a series is normally located 
in a position where it cannot be approached at high speed from either direction.  To achieve 
this objective, it is typically installed within 200 feet or less of a small-radius curve or stop 
sign, if installed on a street with significant downgrade, at the top of a hill”. 
 
Advantages: 

 Speed reduction for vehicles without 
increasing accident rates.  

 Less need for additional 
enforcement. 

 Possible reduction in cut-through 
traffic. 

 Provides visual reinforcement to 
discourage speeding. 

 Durable and long life span. 
 

 

Disadvantages: 

 Emergency response time may be affected.  Approximate delay between 3 and 5 
seconds per hump for fire trucks and up to 10 seconds for ambulance with patient. 

 Degraded physical driving comfort for auto and truck users. 
 Potential increased noise due to vehicle braking and accelerating and the vibration 

of loose items in truck beds or trailers. 
 May impede bicyclists due to the changes in vertical grades. 
 Requires a sufficiently long stretch of road to install a series of devices. 
 May divert traffic to other streets. 
 May result in some motorists speeding up between speed humps. 
 Requires additional signage and pavement markings. 
 Motorcycles may bypass the speed humps via drainage gutters without slowing. 
 Obstruction to distracted motorist. 
 Impact roadway drainage. 
 Impede snow removal. 

 
Note: The City does not currently permit the use of speed bumps on collector streets or 
primary emergency response routes. 



 

23 | P a g e  

 

 
Speed Table/Raised Crosswalk 
Speed tables or raised crosswalks are similar in nature to speed humps.  They span the full 
width of the street like speed humps and contain a level area on top of the hump like speed 
cushions, often marked with a crosswalk.  Typically, they are longer than both speed humps 
(typically 22 feet long) and have a longer flat section in the middle of the devices. 
 
When a speed table is designated as a crosswalk through the use of striping or pavers, it is 
known as a raised crosswalk.  While a 3-inch height is preferable, raised crosswalks can be 
higher than a speed hump, to ensure that they are level with the adjacent sidewalk/curb.  If 
mid-block pedestrian crossings are an issue, the use of a raised mid-block crosswalk may be 
an appropriate treatment to lower vehicle travel speeds where pedestrians enter the street.  
It should be noted that mid-block pedestrian crossings should only be considered per the 
guidelines established in the City’s “Crosswalk Installation & Enhancement Guide”. 
 
Advantages: 

 Speed reduction for vehicles without increasing accident rates. 
 Little need for additional enforcement. 
 Possible reduction in cut-through traffic. 
 Provides visual reinforcement to discourage speeding. 
 Raised crosswalks improve pedestrian safety. 
 Relatively low implementation cost. 

 
 
Disadvantages: 

 Emergency response time may be affected.  Approximate delay between 3 and 5 
seconds per hump for fire trucks and up to 10 
seconds for ambulance with patient. 

 Degraded physical driving comfort for auto 
and truck users. 

 Potential increased noise due to vehicle 
braking and accelerating and the vibration.   

 May impede bicyclists due to vertical grades. 
 May divert traffic to other streets. 
 Requires additional signage and pavement 

markings. 
 Motorcycles may bypass the speed humps via 

drainage gutters without slowing. 
 Obstruction to distracted motorist. 
 Impact roadway drainage. 
 Impede snow removal. 

 
Note: The City does not currently permit the use of speed tables on collector streets or 
primary emergency response routes. 
 

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwiE0aSFycvQAhUI6oMKHftJD64QjRwIBw&url=http://guide.saferoutesinfo.org/engineering/raised_pedestrian_crosswalks.cfm&bvm=bv.139782543,d.amc&psig=AFQjCNELeRFNfQekVbhGUqS2nzuR-MsAzw&ust=1480426607479153


 

24 | P a g e  

 

 
Raised Intersections 

A raised intersection is similar to a 
raised crosswalk, except that the 
raised section covers an entire 
intersection, including crosswalks.  
Approach ramps are provided on all 
street approaches, resulting in 
calming of traffic on both 
intersecting streets.  Raised 
intersections are especially 
applicable in dense urban areas, where installation of speed humps would result in a larger 
loss of on-street parking than that of the installation of a raised intersection.  A typical 
installation would be at a signal controlled or all-way stop controlled intersection with large 
volumes of pedestrians.  Raised intersections reinforce the stop condition, or in the case of 
signalized intersections, the need to slow down and watch for pedestrians.     

Advantages: 
 Supports speed and accident reduction. 
 Reduced need for enforcement. 
 Possible reduction in cut-through traffic. 
 Visual reinforcement to discourage speeding. 
 Minimizes impact to on street parking. 
 Raised crosswalks improve pedestrian safety. 

 
Disadvantages: 

 Emergency response time may be affected.  Approximate delay between 3 and 5 
seconds per hump for fire trucks and up to 10 seconds for ambulance with patient. 

 May divert traffic to nearby streets. 
 Generally requires a major, costly redesign of storm drainage systems. 
 Increased difficulty for turning large vehicles. 
 Degraded physical driving comfort. 
 Requires additional signage and pavement markings. 
 Can require major utility relocations. 
 High design and construction costs. 
 Potential increased noise due to vehicle braking and accelerating and the vibration of 

loose items in truck beds or trailers. 
 Obstruction to distracted motorist. 
 Impede snow removal. 

 
Note: The City does not currently permit the use of raised islands speed bumps on 
collector streets or primary emergency response routes. 

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=0ahUKEwi77aK689DQAhXq54MKHcdiCrIQjRwIBw&url=http://transitutopia.blogspot.com/2011/01/raised-pedestrian-road-intersections.html&psig=AFQjCNEhwAbi2datsJOmRYT1HWRpk8Gjaw&ust=1480609797153379


 

25 | P a g e  

 

Appendix B – Intrusive Traffic Calming Measures 
 
Partial Closures 

 
Partial closures are barriers that block 
travel in one direction for a short distance 
on otherwise two-way streets.  They are 
also sometimes call partial closures or 
one-way closures.  When two partial 
closures are placed across from one 
another at an intersection, the result is a 
semi-diverter that blocks through 
movement on a cross street.  In some 
cases, a path can be built behind the 
measure to accommodate bicycle and 
pedestrian traffic and separate them from 
vehicular traffic.   
 
Advantages: 

 Reduces volumes and cut-through traffic. 
 More effective than signing. 
 Interrupts straight street sight lines for motorists and narrows the pavement width 

through the closure island, which may reduce speed in the open direction. 
 Reduces crossing distances for pedestrians. 
 Provides landscaping opportunity. 

 
 

Disadvantages: 
 Restricts residents’ access by increasing their travel 

path and time for some movements. 
 Emergency vehicles may have increased response 

times. 
 Traffic is diverted to other streets and potentially 

to other neighborhoods. 
 Potential for wrong-way travel. 
 Obstruction to distracted motorist. 
 Impact roadway drainage. 
 Impede snow removal. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

26 | P a g e  

 

Diagonal Diverters  
Diagonal diverters are barriers placed diagonally across an intersection blocking the through 
movement.  They are also called full diverters and diagonal road closures.  Diagonal 
diverters can have an at-grade pass through that allows bicycles and pedestrians to navigate 
along the original street alignment.  The islands should be signed or landscaped with vertical 
elements to draw motorists’ attention, so that they see the measure on their approach. 

 Advantages: 

 Reduces volumes and cut-through traffic. 
 More effective than signing. 
 Interrupts sight lines for motorists with potential 

for a reduction in speed approaching and through 
the diversion curve. 

 Provides a landscaping opportunity. 
 

 
Disadvantages: 

 May increase travel distance and time for residents of the street for certain trip 
patterns. 

 Emergency vehicles may have increased response times. 
 Traffic is diverted to other streets and potentially to other neighborhoods. 
 Obstruction to distracted motorist. 
 Impact roadway drainage. 
 Impede snow removal. 

 
Intersection Barriers 
Intersection barriers are raised islands located along the centerline of a street and 
continuing through an intersection to block the through movement at a cross street.  They 
also prevent cars on the cross street from turning left at the intersection.  Intersection 
barriers are also referred to as intersection diverters or, occasionally, as island diverters.  
Intersection barriers differ from center islands in that they are intended to force or prevent 
a turning movement rather than narrow the road like a center island. 
 

             



 

27 | P a g e  

 

Advantages: 
 Reduces volumes and cut-through traffic. 
 More effective than signing. 
 Interrupts straight street sight lines for motorists. 
 Eliminates left turn and angle crashes at intersections. 

 
Disadvantages: 

 May increase travel distance and time for residents of the street. 
 Emergency vehicles may have increased response times. 
 Traffic is diverted to other streets and potentially to other neighborhoods. 
 Obstruction to distracted motorist. 
 Impact roadway drainage. 
 Impede snow removal. 

 
Forced Turn Islands/Restrictions 
Forced turn islands are raised islands on approaches to an intersection that 
force a vehicle to turn right at an intersection and block through 
movements.  They are sometimes called forced turn channelization, pork 
chops or right turn islands. 
    

Advantages: 
 Reduces volumes and cut-through traffic. 
 More effective than signing. 
 Interrupts sight lines for motorists. 

 
Disadvantages: 

 May increase travel distance and time for residents 
of the street. 

 Emergency vehicles may have increased response 
times. 

 Traffic is diverted to other streets and potentially to 
other neighborhoods. 

 Obstruction to distracted motorist. 
 Impact roadway drainage. 
 Impede snow removal. 

 
 

 

 

 



 

28 | P a g e  

 

One-Way Streets 

Making a street one-way involves limiting the direction of travel on a street to one direction 
only through regulation and signing.  In many communities, an individual street carries a 
much larger traffic burden than other streets within the same community.  Sometimes a 
larger traffic volumes on these streets is due to the design of the street layout within the 
subdivision, or in some cases, it is the result of a particular route being used by traffic 
attempting to avoid congestion on the surrounding highway system.  When these situations 
occur, often the simplest and easiest solution is to distribute the 
additional traffic burden to other streets.  This can be achieved in 
some cases by designating the high volume street as a one-way street 
and then designating a parallel street one-way in the opposite 
direction. 

 
One-way streets may be used on any classification of street (local, 
collector or arterial) where traffic engineering studies indicate that 
operational improvements can be achieved by the implementation of 
a one-way street system.  For use on local roads, as a traffic calming solution, the use of a 
one-way system is appropriate when the traffic volume on the single street exceeds the 
highest traffic volumes on any other street within the subdivision by 100% or more and the 
street is not intentionally designed to serve as the collector road for the subdivision.  It is 
also important for the traffic volumes on the high volume street to be generally balanced in 
both directions and the geometric design features on the high volume street and the 
parallel street to be approximately the same.  When such conditions exist, community 
streets may be a candidate for a one-way street system. 
 
It should be noted that some streets within subdivisions are intended to be higher volume 
collector streets for the community and are thus wider than the standard subdivision street.  
Generally, these streets also have a limited number of properties with direct driveway 
access.  In subdivisions with this type of higher volume collector street, using a one-way 
street system to divert traffic to a parallel street, which is narrower and provides driveway 
access to many more properties, would not be appropriate. 
 
 Advantages: 

 One-way streets can reduce the traffic volumes on the higher volume street by 40% 
to 60% 

 One-way streets may discourage cut-through traffic from using subdivision streets to 
avoid congestion on the adjacent roadway network. 

 If supported by the community, a one-way street system is fairly easy to implement. 
 A one-way street system is a low cost solution to traffic problems arising from cut-

through traffic and high traffic volumes. 



 

29 | P a g e  

 

 
Disadvantages: 

 A one-way street system will shift some volume on 
traffic (to be estimated by an engineering study) to a 
parallel street, increasing, in some cases significantly, 
the traffic volumes on that second street. 

 Residents on the parallel street may not be willing to 
share the reduction of the traffic burden on the higher volume street. 

 Traffic speeds may increase as traffic volumes decrease on the higher volumes street 
and motorists no longer need to contend with opposing traffic. 

 Increased circulation and travel time will be required for residents with homes along 
the one-way streets to access their properties. 

 
 Appendix C – 85th Percentile Speed  

 
Determination of 85th Percentile Speeds:  By 
definition, the 85% speed is the speed at which 85 
percent of all motorists are travelling at or below, 
or the speed that separates the bottom 85% of 
vehicle speeds from the top 15%.  The 85th 
percentile speed statistic is of particular interest in 
planning because the 85th percentile speed is often 
located at the upper end of a range of speeds that 
includes the majority of motorists who select “safe 
and proper speeds”. 

The most widely accepted method by state and 
local agencies is to set the speed limit at the 
nearest 5 mph increment to the 85th percentile 
speed.  For instance, if the 85th percentile speed 
were measured at 27 mph, then the speed limit on the road would typically be set at 25 
mph. 

Studies have shown that crash rates are lowest around the 85th percentile speed.  Drivers 
traveling significantly faster or slower than this speed are at greater risk of being in an 
accident.  It is not high speeds alone that relate to crash risk, it is the variation of speed 
within the traffic stream.  Other considerations such as accidents and real dangers not 
perceivable by drivers may suggest a need for a lower speed limit.  Since speed limits are 
generally set using the 85th percentile speed, it is expected that 15 percent of the vehicles 
will exceed the speed limit on a regular basis.   

 



 

30 | P a g e  

 

Appendix D – Criteria for Installation of Dynamic Speed Feedback Signs 
 

 

 
 

 85th Percentile Speed shall be greater than 30 MPH on a street with posted speed 
limit of 25 MPH. 

 Limited to one (1) set of DSFS units per street and locations to be determined by 
City. 

 Street within a School Zone that contains school flashers and where the 85th 
percentile speed is greater than 5 mph over the school zone posted speed limit 
during restricted hours.  The signs would only be permitted to be active while the 
school zone flashers are in operation. 

 Streets where crash data suggests that frequent and reoccurring accidents can be 
clearly linked to excessive vehicle speed may be considered. 

 City may periodically re-evaluate the vehicle speeds on streets with DSFS to 
determine if the presence of the units remains effective; and may relocate the unit 
to an alternate location to improve efficacy. 

 All recommended installations are subject to the availability of funding. 

 
 
 
 



 

31 | P a g e  

 

Appendix E – Multi-Way Stop Sign Policy  
 
Multi-way stop signs are intersection controls established for certain operating conditions.  
As with speed limits, drivers must recognize the need for the controls or they will eventually 
begin to ignore the control that they deem unnecessary.  In the case of stop signs, that 
would mean disregarding the sign and potentially posing a risk to another motorist or 
pedestrian.  Studies on the use of stop signs as a standalone, non-construction, traffic 
calming solution for speed control, indicate that drivers will actually exceed speed limits 
between signs to make up for lost time if they feel that the stop signs serve no other 
purpose than to slow traffic down.   
 
Where Multi-way Stop Control can be Useful 
 
The OMUTCD states “Multi-way stop control can be useful as a safety measure at 
intersections if certain traffic conditions exist.  Safety concerns associated with multi-way 
stops includes pedestrians, bicyclists and all road users expecting other road users to stop.  
Multi-way stop control is used where the volume of traffic on the intersecting roads is 
approximately equal.” 
 
Criteria for Warranted Multi-Way Stop Control 
 
Section 2B.07 of the OMUTCD gives criteria for a multiway stop sign installation.  The 
following is from the OMUTCD:  
 
The decision to install multiway stop control should be based on an engineering study.  
 
The following criteria should be considered in the engineering study for a multiway STOP 
sign installation:  

a. Where traffic control signals are justified, the multiway stop is an interim measure 
that can be installed quickly to control traffic while arrangements are being made for 
the installation of the traffic control signal.  

b. Five or more reported crashes in a 12-month period that are susceptible to 
correction by a multiway stop installation. Such crashes include right-turn and left-
turn collisions as well as right-angle collisions.  

c. Minimum volumes:  
1. The vehicular volume entering the intersection from the major street 

approaches (total of both approaches) averages at least 300 vehicles per 
hour for any 8 hours of an average day, and  

2. The combined vehicular, pedestrian, and bicycle volume entering the 
intersection from the minor street approaches (total of both approaches) 
averages at least 200 units per hour for the same 8 hours, with an average 
delay to minor-street vehicular traffic of at least 30 seconds per vehicle 
during the highest hour, but  

3. If the 85th-percentile approach speed of the major-street traffic exceeds 40 
mph, the minimum vehicular volume warrants are 70 percent of the above 
values.  



 

32 | P a g e  

 

d.  Where no single criterion is satisfied, but where Criteria B, C.1, and C.2 are all 
satisfied to 80 percent of the minimum values.  Criterion C.3 is excluded from this 
condition.   
 

Option:  
       Other criteria that may be considered in an engineering study include:  

a. The need to control left-turn conflicts;  
b. The need to control vehicle/pedestrian conflicts near locations that generate high 

pedestrian volumes;  
c. Locations where a road user, after stopping, cannot see conflicting traffic and is not 

able to safely negotiate the intersection unless conflicting cross traffic is also 
required to stop; and  

d. An intersection of two residential neighborhood collector (through) streets of similar 
design and operating characteristics where multiway stop control would improve 
traffic operational characteristics of the intersection. 

 
Location Evaluation Procedures and Considerations 

On occasion, local communities have sought to resolve their traffic speed and traffic 
diversion issues through the use of multi-way stop signs.  Numerous studies conducted by 
transportation agencies and universities have consistently shown the use of this method as 
standalone, non-constructive solution for traffic calming are counterproductive.  Based on 
past research and the resulting national and state policies, the City of Delaware will not 
create safety hazards along City maintained roads by installing unwarranted multi-way stop 
signs as a standalone traffic calming solution unless the following policy requirements are 
met per Resolution No. 03-79: 
 

a. Request for additional stop sign be presented to the City in writing from the 
neighborhood group or appointed representative. 

b. A signed petition be presented demonstrating neighborhood support for additional 
stop signs by at least 75% of property owner with property fronting the affected 
streets for a distance of at least five-hundred feet in all directions of the 
intersection. 

c. The intersection being considered is located on streets defined as residential, low-
volume local streets with a traffic county of less than 2000 vehicles per day. 

d. A current speed study indicates the recorded 85th percentile speed be at least 5 mph 
in excess of the posted speed limit. 

e. A thorough evaluation of the intersection by the Public Works Director/City 
Engineer, Fire Chief, Police Chief, and City Attorney find no specific reason to 
prohibit the installation of the additional stop sign. 

f. That the City retains the ability to remove the additional stop sign if any unforeseen 
negative impacts to traffic or public safety result from the installation. 

g. Favorable recommendation of the requested stop sign by the Parking and Safety 
Committee and approval by City Council, or by approval of City Council by a vote of 
at least five members in favor of the requested installation if not being favorably 
recommended by the Parking and Safety Committee. 



 

33 | P a g e  

 

 
Advantages: 

 Provide orderly traffic flow. 
 Reduce the severity and frequency of right angle and left turn crashes. 
 Relatively inexpensive and quick to implement. 

 
Disadvantages: 

 Potential for increased speeds between controlled intersections. 
 Some other types of crashes could increase. 
 Increases delay to all legs of the intersection. 
 Works best with only single lane approaches. 
 Total intersection capacity is limited. 
 Can interrupt the progressive flow of traffic on a route causing increased delay and 

stopping. 
 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO: 11    DATE: 06/24/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-35    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       June 24, 2019 at 7:30 p.m. 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR THE OHIO 
WESLEYAN VILLAGE STUDENT HOUSING LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST 
CORNER OF LIBERTY STREET AND PARK AVENUE ON APPROXIMATELY 3 
ACRES ZONED PO/I PLANNED OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL DISTRICT. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1148 Conditional Use Regulations of the 
zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 6-0 on June 5, 2019.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 19-35 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT FOR THE OHIO WESLEYAN VILLAGE STUDENT 
HOUSING LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF 
LIBERTY STREET AND PARK AVENUE ON 
APPROXIMATELY 3 ACRES ZONED PO/I PLANNED 
OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL DISTRICT. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of June 5, 2019 
recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit for the Ohio Wesleyan Village 
Student Housing located at the northwest corner of Liberty Street and Park 
Avenue on approximately 3 acres zoned PO/I Planned Office /Institutional District 
(2019-0924). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Conditional Use Permit for the Ohio Wesleyan Village 
Student Housing located at the northwest corner of Liberty Street and Park 
Avenue on approximately 3 acres, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted 
with the following conditions that: 
 

1. The building and site shall be developed per any approved Combined 
Preliminary and Final Development Plan with all approved conditions. 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  12    DATE: 06/24/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-36    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING:NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR OHIO WESLEYAN UNIVERSITY APPROVING A 
COMBINED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR OHIO 
WESLEYAN VILLAGE STUDENT HOUSING LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST 
CORNER OF LIBERTY STREET AND PARK AVENUE ON APPROXIMATELY 3 
ACRES ZONED PO/I (PLANNED OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL DISTRICT). 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1129.05 Final Development Plan   
requirements of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 6-0 on June 5, 2019. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 19-36 
 
AN ORDINANCE FOR OHIO WESLEYAN UNIVERSITY 
APPROVING A COMBINED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR OHIO WESLEYAN VILLAGE 
STUDENT HOUSING LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST 
CORNER OF LIBERTY STREET AND PARK AVENUE ON 
APPROXIMATELY 3 ACRES ZONED PO/I PLANNED 
OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL DISTRICT. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on June 5, 2019 
recommended approval of a Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan for 
Ohio Wesleyan University for a Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan 
for Ohio Wesleyan Village Student Housing located at the northwest corner of 
Liberty Street and Park Avenue on approximately 3 acres zoned PO/I Planned 
Office/Institutional District (2019-0925). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan 
for Ohio Wesleyan University for Ohio Wesleyan Village Student Housing located 
at the northwest corner of Liberty Street and Park Avenue on approximately 3 
acres zoned PO/I Planned Office/Institutional District, is hereby confirmed, 
approved, and accepted with the following conditions that: 
 

1. The applicant needs to obtain engineering approvals, including any 
storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Engineering and Utilities Departments.  All comments regarding the 
layout and details of the project are preliminary and subject to 
modification or change based on the final technical review by the 
Engineering Department once a complete plan set is submitted for 
review. 

2. The appropriate amount of right-of-way shall be dedicated to the City 
at the northwestern portion of Liberty Street and Park Avenue per the 
City Engineer. 

3. The Applicant shall submit all building elevations along with material 
and color samples for all building materials for staff review and approval.  

4. The mechanical equipment area shall be screened from public view by a 
wall made of stone or brick to match the building. 

5. The proposed student housing building shall achieve compliance with 
the City design standards per the submitted drawings as approved by 
staff.  



6. The City shall independently approve the 2019 OWU parking study and 
OWU shall have to achieve compliance with such approval 

7. The Ohio Wesleyan University shall replace 218 caliper inches of trees or 
a revised amount based on the City Arborist review and approval of final 
construction drawings. The University shall utilize the land bank option 
for replacement that achieves compliance with Chapter 1168 Tree 
Preservation Regulations.  The exact location, amount and type of trees 
within the University Campus and the City shall be determined per an 
agreement between the University and the City. This agreement shall be 
executed prior to approval of the occupancy permit of the subject 
building.  

8. A continuous row of shrubs a minimum 3 foot high at installation shall 
be planted along Park Avenue adjacent to the parking lot. Also, trees 
shall be installed in each parking island and within the proposed bio-
swale located in the parking lot.   

9. Any street trees or other on-site trees damaged by construction shall be 
replaced. 

10. The landscape plans shall be reviewed and approved by the Shade Tree 
Commission. 

11. A lighting plan that achieves compliance with the minimum zoning 
requirements and shall be reviewed and approved by the Chief Building 
Official. 

12. Any signage shall achieve compliance with the minimum zoning 
requirements and the adopted Gateways and Corridor Plan. 

13. The entire development shall achieve compliance with the minimum 
fire department requirements.  

14. The project area shall be consolidated into one lot as practical. 
 

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  13    DATE: 06/24/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-37    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING:  YES 
       June 24, 2019 at 7:30 p.m. 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR APPROVAL OF AN ALLEY VACATION REQUEST BY 
OHIO WESLEYAN UNIVERSITY OF AN ALLEY FOR OHIO WESLEYAN VILLAGE 
STUDENT HOUSING LOCATED ALONG THE NORTH SIDE OF PARK AVENUE 
JUST WEST OF LIBERTY ST. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Per Chapter 910 Street and Alley Vacations of the Codified Ordinances. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 6-0 on June 5, 2019. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 



 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 
ORDINANCE NO. 19-37 

 
AN ORDINANCE FOR APPROVAL OF AN ALLEY 
VACATION REQUEST BY OHIO WESLEYAN 
UNIVERSITY OF AN ALLEY FOR OHIO WESLEYAN 
VILLAGE STUDENT HOUSING LOCATED ALONG THE 
NORTH SIDE OF PARK AVENUE JUST WEST OF 
LIBERTY ST. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of June 5, 2019 
recommended approval of an Alley Vacation request by Ohio Wesleyan 
University of an alley for Ohio Wesleyan Village Student Housing located along 
the north side of Park Ave. just west of Liberty St. (2019-0926). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1. That the Alley Vacation for Ohio Wesleyan University of an 
alley for Ohio Wesleyan Village Student Housing located along the north side of 
Park Ave. just west of Liberty St, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted 
with the following conditions that: 
 

1. The alley vacation shall be recorded at the County by the applicant. 
 

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

 
 

VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION: YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________ ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



























































































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  14    DATE: 06/24/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-32    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Dave Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE ACCEPTING THE ANNEXATION OF 100.648± ACRES OF 
LAND MORE OR LESS, DESCRIPTION AND MAP ARE ATTACHED HERETO AS 
EXHIBITS “A” AND “B” FOR THE ANNEXATION KNOWN AS THE GRDEN LLC 
ANNEXATION BY MICHAEL R. SHADE,  AGENT FOR THE PETITIONERS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
This process involves several steps and actions by the County and City in order 
for an annexation to ultimately be accepted by the City.  The City took the first 
city step in the process which required determination of services the City could 
provide – the Resolution of Services passed February 25, 2019 via Resolution 
19-08.  The legislation before City Council currently is the final acceptance of 
annexation which would bring the property into the City.  City Council must 
decide to accept, accept with conditions, or deny the annexation.  If no action 
is taken by the ORC dictated time frame ending on July 9, 2019, ORC dictates 
that the annexation will be denied.   The Applicant has begun the rezoning and 
initial development planning process.  Planning Commission, on May 1, 2019 
recommended approval with conditions.  The cases will advance to City Council 
for consideration next.  There was discussion with some neighbors at the 
Commission hearing that resulted in direction to the applicant to work on some 
details of the plan including additional landscaping.  The Applicant agreed to 
do so in the intervening month or so prior to the public hearing.  The public 
hearings are anticipated to be set for June10, 2019.  Since July 9, 2019 is the 
last day to consider the annexation (this would effectively occur at the City 



Council meeting of July 8, 2019) this will present some overlap between the 
annexation and the zoning and development timeframes.  Therefore, multiple 
readings of this annexation are anticipated.  
Some City Council members had asked for additional information regarding 
costs of development related to this annexation.  The Applicant presented a 
response to this at the Commission hearing and is anticipated to do so with the 
upcoming hearings.  Additionally, the City Manager has provided on March 8, 
2019 copies of the Fiscal Impact Analysis from Tishler & Associates for Council 
review.  These conclusions largely remain the same from a development type 
standpoint.  Additionally important to remember is that the development will 
also generate revenue to the community in several areas.  Again, the revenues 
were detailed by the Applicant at the Commission meeting.  Both costs and 
revenues were detailed and submitted to the city in the form of the Community 
Impact Assessment document which can be reviewed as well.  This information 
will be packaged together and delivered to Council for the June 10, 2019 
meeting in anticipation of the public hearing on the Zoning Amendment and 
Conditional Use Permit.  The proposed development and annexation, in the 
opinion of Staff, also complies with our current Comprehensive Plan, virtually 
completes the southeastern corner of the city with respect to development and 
our utility boundary, and provides planned and needed transportation 
connections for roadways and bikepaths among other benefits to the 
community.  Finally, as was noted in the Fact Sheets for the Resolution of 
Services for this annexation, Staff suggests several conditions of annexation 
that will provide certainty and clarity to the City as well as the Applicant: 
 

1. The applicant shall include the property in the Delaware South New 
Community Authority. 

2. A $1,000 per dwelling unit additional transportation fee shall be required 
similar to other properties in the area to ensure needed transportation 
improvements in the area. 

3. The property is within the South East Highland trunk sewer district 
requiring an additional sewer capacity charge of $3,200 per dwelling unit 
in addition to the standard and customary capacity fees of the city in 
effect at the time of permitting. 

4. The extension of any needed infrastructure for water, sewer, or roadways 
shall be at the cost to the development and as required by the City 
through the normal and customary development review process. 

 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
The Ohio Revised Code provides the process that annexations must follow 
throughout Ohio.  This legislation is the final City step in the process to 
formally accept the annexation of the property.  The City has until July 9, 2019 
to pass this acceptance of annexation Ordinance or it is considered by ORC to 
be denied.   
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 



 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Dave Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval at or before the July 8, 2019 City Council meeting.  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
County Resolution  
Petition 
Map 
City Resolution  



ORDINANCE NO. 19-32 
 

AN ORDINANCE ACCEPTING THE ANNEXATION OF 
100.648± ACRES OF LAND MORE OR LESS, 
DESCRIPTION AND MAP ARE ATTACHED HERETO AS 
EXHIBITS “A” AND “B” FOR THE ANNEXATION KNOWN 
AS THE GRDEN LLC ANNEXATION BY MICHAEL R. 
SHADE,  AGENT FOR THE PETITIONERS. 

 
WHEREAS, Michael R. Shade, agent for the petitioners, has filed with the 

Delaware County Commissioners for annexation of 100.648 acres of land, more or 
less, the description and map are attached hereto as Exhibits A and B; and 
 

WHEREAS, Michael R. Shade, as agent for the petitioners on February 11, 
2019 delivered to the Clerk of the Delaware City Council the notice of his filing of 
the annexation petition with the Board of County Commissioners of Delaware 
County and its clerk on February 7, 2019; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Ohio Revised Code requires that within 20 days following 
the date the petition is filed, the City Council shall, by resolution, adopt a 
statement as to what services, if any, the City will provide and an approximate 
date by which it will provide them to the territory proposed for annexation, upon 
annexation, which was completed when City Council passed a Resolution of 
Services on February 25, 2019 via Resolution 19-08; and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed annexation applied for in the petition to the 

Delaware County Commissioners has been approved, by them for annexation to 
the City of Delaware on March 7, 2019 (See attached)  The territory to be annexed 
is described in the attached Exhibits “A” and “B”; and 
 

WHEREAS, the certified transcript of the proceedings for annexation, with 
an accurate map of the territory, together with the petition of annexation and 
other papers relating to the proceedings of the County Commissioners, are on file 
with the Clerk of Council, and have been for more than sixty days. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That Council hereby accepts the annexation of 100.648 acres 
of land, description and plat of which are hereby attached as Exhibits “A” and “B” 
on the annexation known as the Grden Annexation by Michael R. Shade, agent for 
the petitioners with the following conditions that: 
 

1. That upon annexation to the City of Delaware of 100.648± acres more or 



less as delineated on the attached Exhibits A and B, the Applicant/Property 
Owner at their sole expense shall provide and install all necessary 
roadways, lines, hydrants, and other appurtenances as required by the City 
in order to complete required roadway connections and to receive city utility 
services. 

2. The applicant shall include the property in the Delaware South New 
Community Authority. 

3. A $1,000 per dwelling unit additional transportation fee shall be required 
similar to other properties in the area to ensure needed transportation 
improvements in the area. 

4. The property is within the South East Highland trunk sewer district 
requiring an additional sewer capacity charge of $3,200 per dwelling unit in 
addition to the standard and customary capacity fees of the city in effect at 
the time of permitting. 

5. The extension of any needed infrastructure for water, sewer, or roadways 
shall be at the cost to the development and as required by the City through 
the normal and customary development review process. 

 
SECTION 2.  That the Clerk of Council is directed to make five copies of this 

ordinance, to each of which shall be attached a copy of the map accompanying the 
petition for annexation, a copy of the transcript of proceedings of the Board of 
County Commissioners relating thereto, and a certificate as to the correctness 
thereof. The Clerk shall then forthwith deliver one copy to the Secretary of State, 
and shall file notice of annexation with the Board of Elections, the County Auditor, 
the County Recorder, and the County Engineer within thirty days after it becomes 
effective, and the Clerk shall do all other things required by law. 

 
SECTION 3.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 











































































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  15    DATE: 06/24/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-29    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING:  YES 
       June 10, 2019 @ 8:00 p.m. 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A REZONING AMENDMENT FOR GRDEN LLC., 
FOR WINTERBOOKE PLACE FROM A-1 (AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT) TO R-3 
PMU (ONE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED USE 
OVERLAY DISTRICT) CONTAINING 263 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS ON 
APPROXIMATELY 100.6 ACRES AND LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF 
PEACHBLOW ROAD JUST EAST OF THE BELMONT PLACE SUBDIVISION 
(PARCEL #’s 418-330-01-019-000, 418-330-01-018-001, 418-330-018-000, 
418-320-01-038-000). 
 
BACKGROUND: 
6/10/2019 UPDATE: 
Attached to the material for these cases are several lengthy documents.  These 
are in support of information requested by City Council relative to questions 
raised about the overall costs/benefits of this development and specifically 
roadways.  Additionally, the applicant has submitted their full presentation 
and a cover letter with some accompanying information to be included in the 
record and to allow their verbal presentation Monday night at the public 
hearing to be a brief summary of the overall proposal.   Finally, an objection 
letter is included as well from the attorney for the Gundling’s – a neighboring 
property. The documents include the following: 

1) Mr. Grden has submitted a cover letter and full presentation.  
2) The Community Impact Assessment (in full) that was submitted by the 

applicant.   Page 21 in particular shows fiscal information that adds to 
the discussion about the cost/revenue of development question.   



3) Mr. Grden submitted a spreadsheet (that is attached as a PDF) showing 
roadway costs and benefits which also helps to provide data to the 
discussion about costs/benefits of this development. 

4) City Manager Tom Homan had provided Council previously the 2002 
fiscal impact analysis prepared around the last Comprehensive Plan.  As 
promised, it is included here so that all documents in this regard are in 
one place and with the relevant cases. 

5) Mr. Elliott had supplied an objection letter to Planning Commission on 
behalf of his clients – the Gundling’s - whose property was sold to them 
by the Grden’s in approximately 1993, is located within the township and 
not subject to annexation nor development at this time, and whose 
property is effectively surrounded by the proposed Grden development 
proposed. 

 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1130 Amendments of the Codified 
Ordinances. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 5-0 on May 1, 2019.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Revised Buffer Plan Submitted 6/18/2018 
See attached staff report 
Additional Materials from Applicant: 

• Cover Letter & Presentation 
• Community Impact Assessment 
• Spreadsheet re:  roadway cost 
• 2002 Fiscal Impact Anaylsis 

Gundling’s Letter of Objection 



 ORDINANCE NO. 19-29 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A REZONING 
AMENDMENT FOR GRDEN LLC., FOR WINTERBOOKE 
PLACE FROM A-1 (AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT) TO R-3 
PMU (ONE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A 
PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) 
CONTAINING 263 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS ON 
APPROXIMATELY 100.6 ACRES AND LOCATED ON THE 
NORTH SIDE OF PEACHBLOW ROAD JUST EAST OF 
THE BELMONT PLACE SUBDIVISION (PARCEL #’s 418-
330-01-019-000, 418-330-01-018-001, 418-330-018-
000, 418-320-01-038-000). 
 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of May 1, 2019 
recommended approval of a Rezoning Amendment for Grden LLC., for 
Winterbrooke Place from A-1 (Agricultural District) to R-3 PMU (One-Family 
Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) containing 263 
single family lots on approximately 100.6 acres and located on the north side of 
Peachblow Road just east of the Belmont Place Subdivision (Parcel #’s 418-330-
01-019-000, 418-330-01-018-001, 418-330-018-000, 418-320-01-038-000) (PC 
Case 2019-0640). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Rezoning Amendment for Grden LLC., for 
Winterbrooke Place from A-1 (Agricultural District) to R-3 PMU (One-Family 
Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) containing 263 
single family lots on approximately 100.6 acres and located on the north side of 
Peachblow Road just east of the Belmont Place Subdivision (Parcel #’s 418-330-
01-019-000, 418-330-01-018-001, 418-330-018-000, 418-320-01-038-000), is 
hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following condition that: 
 
1. Any change of use or major modification of the plan shall require conformance 

to all provisions of the Development Text. 
 

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 



 
 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  16    DATE: 06/24/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-30    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       June 10, 2019 @ 8:00 p.m. 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR GRDEN 
LLC., ALLOWING THE PLACEMENT OF A PMU (PLANNED MIXED USE 
OVERLAY DISTRICT) TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR WINTERBROOKE PLACE 
CONTAINING 263 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS ON APPROXIMATELY 100.6 ACRES 
AND LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF PEACHBLOW ROAD JUST EAST OF 
THE BELMONT PLACE SUBDIVISION.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
6/10/2019 UPDATE: 
Attached to the material for these cases are several lengthy documents.  These 
are in support of information requested by City Council relative to questions 
raised about the overall costs/benefits of this development and specifically 
roadways.  Additionally, the applicant has submitted their full presentation 
and a cover letter with some accompanying information to be included in the 
record and to allow their verbal presentation Monday night at the public 
hearing to be a brief summary of the overall proposal.   Finally, an objection 
letter is included as well from the attorney for the Gundling’s – a neighboring 
property. The documents include the following: 

1) Mr. Grden has submitted a cover letter and full presentation.  
2) The Community Impact Assessment (in full) that was submitted by the 

applicant.   Page 21 in particular shows fiscal information that adds to 
the discussion about the cost/revenue of development question.   



3) Mr. Grden submitted a spreadsheet (that is attached as a PDF) showing 
roadway costs and benefits which also helps to provide data to the 
discussion about costs/benefits of this development. 

4) City Manager Tom Homan had provided Council previously the 2002 
fiscal impact analysis prepared around the last Comprehensive Plan.  As 
promised, it is included here so that all documents in this regard are in 
one place and with the relevant cases. 

5) Mr. Elliott had supplied an objection letter to Planning Commission on 
behalf of his clients – the Gundling’s - whose property was sold to them 
by the Grden’s in approximately 1993, is located within the township and 
not subject to annexation nor development at this time, and whose 
property is effectively surrounded by the proposed Grden development 
proposed. 

 
 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1148 Conditional Use Regulations of the 
zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 5-0 on May 1, 2019.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached staff report 
Additional Materials from Applicant: 

• Cover Letter & Presentation 
• Community Impact Assessment 
• Spreadsheet re:  roadway cost 
• 2002 Fiscal Impact Anaylsis 

Gundling’s Letter of Objection 



 ORDINANCE NO. 19-30 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT FOR GRDEN LLC., ALLOWING THE 
PLACEMENT OF A PMU (PLANNED MIXED USE 
OVERLAY DISTRICT) TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR 
WINTERBROOKE PLACE CONTAINING 263 SINGLE 
FAMILY LOTS ON APPROXIMATELY 100.6 ACRES AND 
LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF PEACHBLOW 
ROAD JUST EAST OF THE BELMONT PLACE 
SUBDIVISION. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of May 1, 2019 
recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit for Grden LLC., allowing the 
Placement of a PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) to be established for 
Winterbrooke Place containing 263 single family lots on approximately 100.6 acres 
and located on the north side of Peachblow Road just east of the Belmont Place 
Subdivision (PC Case 2019-0641). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Conditional Use Permit for Grden LLC., allowing the 
Placement of a PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) to be established for 
Winterbrooke Place containing 263 single family lots on approximately 100.6 acres 
and located on the north side of Peachblow Road just east of the Belmont Place 
Subdivision,, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted. 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  17    DATE: 06/24/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-31    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR 
GRDEN LLC., FOR WINTERBOOKE PLACE CONTAINING 263 SINGLE FAMILY 
LOTS ON APPROXIMATELY 100.6 ACRES  ZONED R-3 PMU (ONE-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) 
AND LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF PEACHBLOW ROAD JUST EAST OF 
THE BELMONT PLACE SUBDIVISION.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
6/10/2019 UPDATE: 
Attached to the material for these cases are several lengthy documents.  These 
are in support of information requested by City Council relative to questions 
raised about the overall costs/benefits of this development and specifically 
roadways.  Additionally, the applicant has submitted their full presentation 
and a cover letter with some accompanying information to be included in the 
record and to allow their verbal presentation Monday night at the public 
hearing to be a brief summary of the overall proposal.   Finally, an objection 
letter is included as well from the attorney for the Gundling’s – a neighboring 
property. The documents include the following: 

1) Mr. Grden has submitted a cover letter and full presentation.  
2) The Community Impact Assessment (in full) that was submitted by the 

applicant.   Page 21 in particular shows fiscal information that adds to 
the discussion about the cost/revenue of development question.   



3) Mr. Grden submitted a spreadsheet (that is attached as a PDF) showing 
roadway costs and benefits which also helps to provide data to the 
discussion about costs/benefits of this development. 

4) City Manager Tom Homan had provided Council previously the 2002 
fiscal impact analysis prepared around the last Comprehensive Plan.  As 
promised, it is included here so that all documents in this regard are in 
one place and with the relevant cases. 

5) Mr. Elliott had supplied an objection letter to Planning Commission on 
behalf of his clients – the Gundling’s - whose property was sold to them 
by the Grden’s in approximately 1993, is located within the township and 
not subject to annexation nor development at this time, and whose 
property is effectively surrounded by the proposed Grden development 
proposed. 

 
See attached report 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1129 requirements of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 5-0 on May 1, 2019. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval as submitted with the documented conditions. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached staff report 
Additional Materials from Applicant: 

• Cover Letter & Presentation 
• Community Impact Assessment 
• Spreadsheet re:  roadway cost 
• 2002 Fiscal Impact Anaylsis 

Gundling’s Letter of Objection 
 



 ORDINANCE NO. 19-31 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PRELIMINARY 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR GRDEN LLC., FOR 
WINTERBOOKE PLACE CONTAINING 263 SINGLE 
FAMILY LOTS ON APPROXIMATELY 100.6 ACRES  
ZONED R-3 PMU (ONE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
WITH A PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) 
AND LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF PEACHBLOW 
ROAD JUST EAST OF THE BELMONT PLACE 
SUBDIVISION. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of May 1, 2019 
recommended approval of a Preliminary Development Plan for Grden LLC., for 
Winterbrooke Place containing 263 single family lots on approximately 100.6 acres 
zoned R-3 PMU (One-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use 
Overlay District) and located on the north side of Peachblow Road just east of the 
Belmont Place Subdivision (PC 2019-0642). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Preliminary Development Plan for Grden LLC., for 
Winterbrooke Place containing 263 single family lots on approximately 100.6 acres 
zoned R-3 PMU (One-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use 
Overlay District) and located on the north side of Peachblow Road just east of the 
Belmont Place Subdivision, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the 
following conditions that: 

1. The Applicant needs to obtain final engineering approvals, including any 
storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Engineering and Utilities Departments. All comments regarding the 
layout and details of the project are preliminary and subject to 
modification or change based on the final technical review by the 
Engineering Department. 

2. The developer shall be responsible for any improvements and/or 
financial obligations of the traffic impact study per the City Engineer and 
County Engineer. 

3. The primary access to the development shall be from Peachblow Road at 
a proposed roundabout to be constructed in the future by the Delaware 
County Engineer (a fair share amount would be paid by developer per 
the County’s requirements) for the subject development and the 
proposed developments located south of Peachblow Road in the County. 
If the County Engineer does not construct the proposed the roundabout 



prior to the developer initiating construction of the subject development, 
the proposed access point to Peachblow Road shall be a traditional 
intersection with a stop sign. 

4. All retention ponds shall be setback from a public road per the City 
Engineer. 

5. The lots and houses shall comply with the minimum bulk and setback 
requirements in the approved development text. 

6. The single family houses shall comply with the minimum architectural 
standards in the approved development text and per applicable sections 
of the current zoning code. 

7. All the active open space areas shall have amenities approved by staff 
and the tot lots shall be exceptionally well programed and appointed with 
a variety of amenities across the development including areas for active 
field space. The final details of each tot lot and active open spaces shall 
be reviewed and approved with every Final Development Plan and Final 
Subdivision Plat. All opens spaces shall be owned and maintained by the 
homeowners association but allow public access. 

8. A minimum 3-6 foot high mound with landscaping shall be located along 
both sides  Winterbourne Drive to be consistent with the roadway 
treatment in the Communities of Glenross and a 3-6 high mound with 
landscaping shall be located along Peachblow Road to be consistent with 
the treatment along Belmont Place. 

9. Along the eastern property line adjacent to the existing single family 
house, a buffer shall established that would require a 5 to 6 high 
mound with a continuous screen of landscaping with minimum 6 foot 
high evergreen trees planted 20 feet on-center in staggered alignment. 
The setback shall range from 25 feet at lot 220 to 230 feet at lot 227 (on 
the Preliminary Development Plan). 

10. Along the northeastern and north property line to existing single 
family house, the setback and buffering from lot 220 (east) to lot 215 
(north) (on the Preliminary Development Plan) shall have a  25 foot 
setback that shall require a 3 to 4 high  mound with a continuous 
screen of landscaping with minimum 6 foot high evergreen trees planted 
20 feet on-center in staggered alignment.  

11. A street tree plan shall be submitted and approved by the Shade Tree 
Commission. 

12. Any tree removal and/or replacement requirements shall achieve 
compliance with the approved development text.  

13. The existing tree lines along the north and eastern perimeters of the 
development shall be preserved and placed in a tree preservation 



easement along with the preserved trees located west of Winterbourne 
Drive. 

14. The bike paths along both sides of Winterbourne Drive and the north 
side of Peachblow Road shall be installed by the developer and located 
within an easement dedicated to the City and shall be maintained by the 
Homeowner’s Association. 

15. The street lighting plan shall be submitted, reviewed and approved by 
the Chief Building Official and achieve compliance with all zoning 
requirements prior to final subdivision plat approval of each phase. 

16. The development shall be in the Delaware South New Community 
Authority, subject to the single family lot transportation fee ($1,000 per 
dwelling unit) in effect at the time of building permit issuance and is 
subject to the South East Highland Sanitary Sewer additional capacity 
charge of $3,200 per dwelling units. 

17. For the 52 foot wide lots,  one-story houses shall be a minimum 
1,600 square feet and the two-story houses shall be a minimum1,800 
square feet to be consistent with the smaller width lots in the 
Communities at Glenross. 
 

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



REVISED BUFFER PLAN 
WINTERBROOKE PLACE AND 

GUNDLING PROPERTY 
 

SUBMITTED:  JUNE 18, 2019 



                LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

NORTH
1" = 30'

15 300 60 90

WINTERBROOKE PLACE
PREPARED FOR ARLINGTON BUILDERS
DATE: 6/18/19

GUNDLING PROPERTY BUFFER ENLARGEMENT PLAN

p (614) 487-1964                              www.farisplanninganddesign.com
243 N. 5th Street              Suite 401                        Columbus, OH 43215

LAND PLANNING                  

Faris Planning & Design
                LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTUREg



51NEP

36ITV

25FOT

32BUX

25BUX

TALL GRASS
PRAIRIE MIX

PAN

MIS

TALL GRASS
PRAIRIE MIX

PAN

MIS

1

1

1

1

1

ROAD "K"

RO
A

D
 "I

"

RO
A

D
 "L

"

8PGL

9PAB

11PAB

4POM

7PAB

6PAB

5 PAB

6 PGL

3 POM

7 PGL

4 POM

6 PAB

3POM

3POM

2ZEL

10VIB

7PAB1

3QUE

10VIB

2MAG

5VIB

3MAG

9 PGL

7 PAB

8 PGL

6 PAB

8PGL1

1

1

1

2-3' HGT.
MOUND

3-4' HGT.
MOUND

4-5' HGT.
MOUND

3-4' HGT.
MOUND

4 PGL

ROAD 'D'

RO
A

D
 'G

'

  

REVISIONS

17082

DATE

PROJECT

SHEET

120

6/18/19

D-4NORTH
1"=40'

8020 400

EN
LA

RG
EM

EN
T

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 P
LA

N
S

W
IN

TE
RB

RO
O

KE
 P

LA
C

E
PR

EP
A

RE
D

 F
O

R

A
RL

IN
G

TO
N

 B
UI

LD
ER

S
10

59
0 

W
EL

LI
N

G
TO

N
 B

LV
D

.
PO

W
EL

L,
 O

H 
43

06
5

  

p 
(6

14
) 4

87
-1

96
4 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  w

w
w

.fa
ris

pl
an

ni
ng

an
d

d
es

ig
n.

co
m

24
3 

N
. 5

th
 S

tre
et

   
   

   
   

  S
ui

te
 4

01
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
C

ol
um

bu
s, 

O
H 

43
21

5

LA
N

D
 P

LA
N

N
IN

G
   

   
   

   
   

   

Far
is P

lan
nin

g &
 De

sig
n

   
   

   
   

   
 L

A
N

D
SC

A
PE

 A
RC

HI
TE

C
TU

RE
g

SEE PLANT LIST FOR SPECIFIC PLANT SPECIES

EVERGREEN TREE

EXISTING TREE
EVERGREEN SHRUB

LARGE DECIDUOUS SHRUB

PLANT KEY TYPICALS

SHADE TREE

PERENNIALS

ORNAMENTAL TREE

GROUNDCOVER

DECIDUOUS SHRUB

CONSTRUCTION NOTES:
1

LAWN AREA, PROVIDE POSITIVE DRAINAGE ACROSS ALL
SURFACES.

SOUTHEAST PARK ENLARGEMENT PLAN
1"=40'1

(CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL PLANTS SHOWN ON PLAN)

*NOTE:  ANNUALS TO BE PLANTED BY OWNER.  NOT IN INITIAL LANDSCAPE COSTS.

PLANT LIST
QTY KEY COMMON NAMEBOTANICAL NAME SIZE COND. REMARKS

PERENNIALS/ORNAMENTAL GRASSES

SHRUBS
B&BBUX57 18" HGT.GREEN GEM BOXWOODBUXUS 'GREEN GEM'

FOT25 18" HGT.DWARF FOTHERGILLAFOTHERGILLA GARDENII
ITV36 24" HGT.HENRY'S GARNET SWEETSPIREITEA VIRGINICA 'HENRY'S GARNET'

CONT.MIS 1 GAL.LITTLE ZEBRA MAIDEN GRASSMISCANTHUS SINENSIS 'LITTLE ZEBRA'
CONT.NEP51 1 GAL.WALKER'S LOW CATMINTNEPETA X FAASSENII 'WALKER'S LOW'
CONT.PAN 1 GAL.SHENANDOAH SWITCH GRASSPANICUM VIRGATUM 'SHENANDOAH'

B&B
B&B

TBD

TBD

B&BPAB57 5'-6' HGT.NORWAY SPRUCEPICEA ABIES
PAB17 8' HGT.NORWAY SPRUCEPICEA ABIES

POM17 5'-6' HGT.SERBIAN SPRUCEPICEA OMORIKA

B&B

B&B
QUE3 2" CAL.RED OAKQUERCUS RUBRA
ZEL2 2" CAL.GREEN VASE ZELKOVAZELKOVA SERRATA 'GREEN VASE'

B&B
B&B

TREES

SOUTHWEST BUFFER ENLARGEMENT PLAN
1"=40'2

OHIO HEALTH ROAD 'A' BUFFER
1"=40'3

VIB25 24" HGT.BLUE MUFFIN VIBURNUMVIBURNUM DENTATUM 'CHRISTOM' B&B

MAG5 1.5" CAL.SWEETBAY MAGNOLIAMAGNOLIA VIRGINIANA B&B

B&BPGL42 5'-6' HGT.
PGL18 8' HGT.WHITE SPRUCEPICEA GLAUCA B&B

WHITE SPRUCEPICEA GLAUCA











































































































































ADDITIONAL MATERIALS: 
• Grden Cover Letter and 

Presentation 
• Community Impact Assessment 
• Spreadsheet re:  road cost 
• 2002 Fiscal Impact Analysis 
• Gundling’s Letter of Objection 



Bob Grden / Grden LLC       June 3, 2019 

10590 Wellington Blvd,  

Powell, Ohio 

 

City Council Members, 

I would like to thank the City of Delaware for their support in our endeavor to develop approximately 
100 acres that my Father has owned for about 30 years. I would also like to give you a brief outline of 
some of the obstacles we have encountered throughout the process of trying to develop this property. 
Our largest obstacle was acquiring easements from OhioHealth to cross their 80’ strip of land separating 
us from the City utilities currently stubbed at Belmont Place the development to our west. It took two 
years and many meetings Matt Weber and Dave Efland attended, to try to convince OhioHealth to grant 
the easements. We finally have a signed recorded contract with them that will cost us close to $315,000 
to have the needed easements for utility connection. Then we were required to put a no-load roadway 
through the center of our property which current estimates are $2.2 million. We also had a problem 
with the alignment of Ensigns Lane coming from Belmont place that we were required to connect to for 
a secondary access for us and Belmont Place. Ensigns lane was placed in a position that made it 
impossible for us to connect without acquiring an easement from a neighboring property owner and 
also getting a diversion from the radius requirements from the City. After two years of trying to work 
out something with the Neighbor which seemed as if it was going to happen. I even had a contract and 
surveyed exhibits drafted, the homeowner changed his mind and wanted additional compensation for 
the .067 of an acre I needed for the radius. We had to go back to OhioHealth and ask to reroute the 
roadway so we would not need the neighbor’s property to move forward. He is now asking for 
additional buffering, I have included some professional pictures of the buffering he currently has in 
place around his entire property. We have also been requested by the Builders we are talking to for 
smaller lots. We have done some research, and provided that as well, with articles pertaining to lot sizes 
in general across the country, there has been a steady decrease in lot sizes as you will see from the 
associated articles. We also encountered a problem with our alignment to Peachblow Road with the 
proposed development to our South. Metro development wanted this alignment to be moved east so 
their portion of no-load roadway would be decreased. We had many meetings with the City and County 
and finally agreed upon a placement of the alignment which is more centered on our property to utilize 
existing trees at our entrance. The County also agreed to install a fee based roundabout at this 
intersection. We are also being required to join the Glenn Parkway NCA which will require all our 
residents to pay 7.5 mills for future roadway improvements to Glenn Parkway. We feel very fortunate to 
finally be in front of City Council for possible approvals of our preliminary development plan. 

There were some questions raised at our resolution of services hearing regarding the annexation of our 
property and the ability of the City to maintain these roadways in light of the current problems they are 
encountering with maintaining roads and associated costs. I did an analysis which I have included with 
what I have submitted to Dave Efland and the City for our upcoming hearing. I would like to give a brief 
explanation of the spread sheet and will be available to answer any questions as well. We asked Matt 
Weber for costs to maintain roadways and he sent us a pamphlet generated by the City including 
himself and Bill Ferrigno as authors. It details associated costs with maintenance, preservation and 



resurfacing of roadways. These are the three costs associated with the costs to maintain roads. I based 
the life cycle of a road at 25 years which is when less driven residential roads would need to be 
resurfaced. I calculated an annual cost for all three aspects of road maintenance cost per year then 
compared this to annual income tax revenue generated by the development and there is a large surplus 
annually based on projected income ranges. This development will easily maintain their own roadways 
as well as helping to City with current challenges with older inner City road maintenance costs. 

We are looking forward to receiving preliminary development approvals and moving forward with our 
project on the City’s southern border. We have been talking to several builders which have great 
interest in this project and are anticipating a quick absorption in this already dynamic area. 

Best Regards, 

Bob Grden 









































































Neighboring 5 acre Tract with existing Home within Grden property 



From Peachblow Rd Looking Down West Property Line 



Front West Side





Front West Side



Front west 
Side



West Rear Corner 



Middle West Facing North



Middle West Side



West Side Facing South



North West Corner



North end existing buffer



Middle Back of Property



North end of property



North East Corner



East Back Corner 

North East Corner Facing South



Noeth East Corner



East side of Pond



East Property line



East Property Line Facing 
South















































Winterbrooke Place maintenance and preservation of added roadways 4-22-2019

Roadway preservation calculation 
Pavement Condition Report 2018/ City of Delaware
We will be adding 12,100 feet of roadway to the City 
Miles added to the City (5,280 feet are in one mile) 
Winterbourne main arterial road 2200 L.F. .41 Mile
Other residential roads 9900 L.F. 1.875 miles
TOTAL Roadways 2.29 Miles

According to pavement condition report 2018 page 9 
$7,500 a mile for preservation for a mile of NEW ROADWAY
Cost for roadway preservation annually 17,175.00$           

Roadway Resurfacing Cycle Cost Analysis
According to same document high volume  Arterial roads 
deteriorates at a rate to need resurfacing in about 10 to 15 years
Current resurface cost per mile $375,000 
12.5 years resurface cost based on 25 year cycle 
 (2x$375,000x.41)=$307,500/25yr. - Annual cost 12,300.00$                    
Residential roads less traveled roads last up to 25 years
 before resurfacing required
$375,000x1.875=$703,125/25yr. - Annual cost 28,125.00$                    

Cost for roadway resurfacing annually 40,425.00$           

Maintenance Per Delaware County Engineer
(9900x26'/9) + (2200x32'/9) = 36,422 Square Yards
 36,422 yards @ $ .30 a yard = $10,927
Cost of roadway maintenance annually 10,927.00$           

Cost of Road Maintenance and Preservation Icl. Resurfacing 68,527.00$           

Annual Income Tax Revenue for 263 Households 842,120.00$        
Total Annual Surplus $773,593.00













































































































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  18    DATE:  06/24/2019 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO:  19-28 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION OF NO OBJECTION TO FIVE EXPANSIONS OF THE 
CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, A NEW COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY UNDER CHAPTER 349 OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The CIFA is a new community authority formed in 2007 pursuant to a Petition 
filed by Developer Triangle Properties located in Liberty and Concord 
Townships.  Prior to its formation, the City of Delaware was identified as a 
“proximate city” (as defined in ORC Section 349.01(M)) and received notice of 
the proposed Petition to form the CIFA before it was filed with the Delaware 
County Board of Commissioners. Delaware provided its Consent to the 
formation of the CIFA before the filing, and a copy of said Consent was 
attached to the Petition.  The CIFA is now working through the process of 
adding new territory to the CIFA, consisting of five individual expansion 
applications.  
 
Council approved expansions of the NCA in June 2017, July 2016 and October 
2014. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Under ORC Chapter 349.03(B), the CIFA must follow the same process as was 
used to establish the CIFA, which requires City Council approval.   
 



COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Memo from City Manager regarding millage 
Applications & Map Exhibits:  

• Carpenter Mill 
• Clark Shaw Reserve 
• Heather Ridge 
• Meadow at Home Road 
• Village at Clark Shaw Reserve 

City Approvals 



RESOLUTION NO. 19-28 
 

RESOLUTION OF NO OBJECTION TO THE 
EXPANSION OF THE CONCORD/SCIOTO 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, A NEW  COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY UNDER CHAPTER 349 OF THE OHIO 
REVISED CODE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Concord/Scioto Community Authority (the “Authority”), 
as a new community authority under Chapter 349 of the Ohio Revised Code, 
exists within the boundaries of Delaware County, Ohio; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees (the “Board”) of the Authority desires 
to expand the boundaries of the territory of the Authority (the “District”) to 
include the following additional properties (collectively, the “Properties”): 
 

• Carpenter’s Mill, consisting of approximately 108.85 acres in 
Concord Township, Delaware County, with parcel numbers 
319-240-01-046-000, 319-240-01-047-000, 319-240-01-048-
000, and 319-230-02-103-000; 

• Meadows at Home Road, consisting of approximately 10.25 
acres in Concord Township, Delaware County, with parcel 
number 319-230-02-011-000; 

• Village at Clark Shaw Reserve, consisting of approximately 
24.24 acres in Liberty Township, Delaware County, with parcel 
number 419-340-02-019-000; 

• Heather Ridge, consisting of approximately 38.9 acres in 
Concord Township, Delaware County, with parcel number 419-
330-02-066-002; and 

• Clark Shaw Reserve – Rockford, consisting of approximately 
42.79 acres in Liberty Township, Delaware County, with parcel 
numbers 419-340-02-013-000, 419-340-02-014-000, 419-340-
02-019-000, and 419-340-02-020-000. 

 
 WHEREAS, a community development charge will be levied against the 
property added to the District to pay the costs of community facilities that 
benefit the Property; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware (the “City”) may be defined as a 
“proximate city” under Section 349.01(M) of the Ohio Revised Code and has 
thus been informed of this proposed expansion. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF DELAWARE, DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO: 
 



 2 

 SECTION 1. The City does not object to the addition of the Property to the 
District. 
 
 SECTION 2. The City hereby authorizes and directs the Mayor or the City 
Manager to sign any petition or other documentation necessary to evidence the 
City’s consent to add the Properties to the District.   
 
 SECTION 3. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of 
this Council concerning and relating to the passage of this resolution were 
taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all deliberations of this 
Council and of any of its committees that resulted in such formal action, were 
in meetings open to the public, in compliance with all legal requirements 
including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 
 
 SECTION 4. This resolution shall be effective immediately upon its 
passage. 

 
 

PASSED: _________________________, 2019 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
 





COLUMBUS  I  CLEVELAND 
    CINCINNATI-DAYTON 
            MARIETTA 

BRICKER & ECKLER LLP 

100 South Third Street 
Columbus, OH 43215-4291 
MAIN: 614.227.2300 
FAX: 614.227.2390 

www.bricker.com 
info@bricker.com 

Christiane W. Schmenk 
614.227.2323 
cschmenk@bricker.com 

John Caleb Bell 
614.227.2384 
jbell@bricker.com 

Michael L. Katz 
614.227.4845 
mkatz@bricker.com 

MEMORANDUM 

VIA E-MAIL 

TO: Hon. Carolyn Kay Riggle, City of Delaware 
R. Thomas Homan, City of Delaware 

FROM: Christiane W. Schmenk 
John Caleb Bell 
Michael L. Katz 

DATE: June 10, 2019 

RE: Applications to Add Five Properties to the Concord/Scioto 
Community Authority 

We’ve prepared this executive summary to accompany the 
Applications to add five properties (the “Applications”) to the 
Concord/Scioto Community Authority (the “Authority”).  The Applications 
cover the following properties: 

 Carpenter’s Mill 
 Meadows at Home Road 
 Village at Clark Shaw Reserve 
 Heather Ridge 
 Clark Shaw Reserve – Rockford 

The Applications were submitted to the City of Delaware, Ohio (the 
“City”) on June 10, 2019, along with a draft resolution of “no-objection” to 
the Applications for City Council to consider, and draft signature pages to 
the Applications to be executed on behalf of the City, if so authorized by 
City Council. 

Concord/Scioto Community Authority is a new community authority 
established pursuant to Chapter 349 of the Ohio Revised Code, and has 
district that covers property in Concord and Scioto Townships in Delaware 
County. See the map in Exhibit A to each of the Applications. 

Concord/Scioto Development, LLC, the statutory developer for the 
Authority (the “Developer”), is preparing to petition the Delaware County 
Board of Commissioners to approve the addition of the five above 
properties to the Concord/Scioto Community Authority.  Prior to submitting 



Bricker & Eckler
A T T O R N E Y S  A T  L A W  

Hon. Carolyn Kay Riggle 
R. Thomas Homan 
June 10, 2019 
Page 2 

2 

the Applications to the Board of Commissioners, the Developer is requesting proximate city 
approval from the City. 

The subject properties are situated adjacent to or near existing properties previously 
added to the Authority. See the maps in Exhibit A to each Application. 

The Carpenter’s Mill property, consisting of 108.85 acres, will be developed into 183 
individually platted single-family residential lots by Pulte Homes of Ohio, LLC (the 
“Carpenter’s Mill Builder”).  The property is zoned as Planned Residential District.  See Exhibit 
D to the Carpenter’s Mill Application for the zoning approvals related to the Carpenter’s Mill 
property. 

The Meadows at Home Road property, consisting of 10.25 acres, will be developed into 
25 condominium units by CV Real Property, LLC (the “Meadows at Home Road Builder”).  The 
property is zoned as Planned Residential District.  See Exhibit D to the Meadows at Home Road 
Application for the zoning approvals related to the Meadows at Home Road property. 

The Village at Clark Shaw Reserve property, consisting of 24.24 acres, will be developed 
into 84 condominium units by Epcon Hyatts, LLC (the “Village at Clark Shaw Reserve 
Builder”).  The property is zoned as Planned Residential District.  See Exhibit D to the Village at 
Clark Shaw Reserve Application for the zoning approvals related to the Village at Clark Shaw 
Reserve property. 

The Heather Ridge property, consisting of 38.9 acres, will be developed into 75 
individually platted single-family residential lots by Homewood Corporation (the “Heather 
Ridge Builder”).  The property is zoned as Planned Residential District.  See Exhibit D to the 
Heather Ridge Application for the zoning approvals related to the Heather Ridge property. 

The Clark Shaw Reserve – Rockford property, consisting of 42.79 acres, will be 
developed into 86 individually platted single-family residential lots by Rockford Homes, Inc. 
(the “Clark Shaw Reserve – Rockford Builder”).  The property is zoned as Planned Residential 
District.  See Exhibit D to the Clark Shaw Reserve – Rockford Application for the zoning 
approvals related to the Clark Shaw Reserve – Rockford property. 

The Developer and each of the builders for the five projects outlined above (collectively, 
the “Builders”) anticipate the construction of certain “community facilities” that will benefit each 
of the above properties. See preliminary list of anticipated community facilities in Exhibit G to 
each of the Applications.  The Authority will finance these community facilities by levying a 
community development charge on the homes within the properties in the same manner as other 
areas within the Authority. See the plan of finance in Exhibit F to each of the Applications. 



Bricker & Eckler
A T T O R N E Y S  A T  L A W  

Hon. Carolyn Kay Riggle 
R. Thomas Homan 
June 10, 2019 
Page 3 

3 

Additionally, each Application contains the traffic study and the Phase I environmental 
site assessment (or equivalent information) conducted for each of the properties in Exhibit H and 
Exhibit L, respectively, of each Application. 

On behalf of the Developer, we respectfully request that City Council consider the 
resolution of “no-objection” and authorize the execution of the proximate city approval page on 
behalf of the City of Delaware. 

Please let us know if you have any questions or if you would like to discuss the 
Applications further. 

CWS 
JCB 
MLK 



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 

APPLICATION TO ADD PROPERTY TO THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY DISTRICT AND TO AMEND THE PETITION FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF 

THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY AUTHORITY AS A NEW COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY UNDER CHAPTER 349 OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE 

Submitted by: 

CONCORD/SCIOTO DEVELOPMENT, LLC 

As the Developer



1 

BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 

APPLICATION TO ADD PROPERTY TO THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY DISTRICT AND TO AMEND THE PETITION FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF 

THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY AUTHORITY AS A NEW COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY UNDER CHAPTER 349 OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE 

The undersigned, Concord/Scioto Development, LLC (the “Developer”), is an Ohio 
limited liability company and is the “developer” within the meaning of Ohio Revised Code 
Section 349.01 for the Concord/Scioto Community Authority (the “Authority”), a new 
community authority established under and operating pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Chapter 
349 (the “Act”). 

On February 8, 2007, this Board of County Commissioners of Delaware County, Ohio 
(the “Board”) received a petition (the “Petition”) filed by Triangle Properties, Inc. (“Triangle”) 
under the Act to create the Authority.  The Board approved the creation of the Authority on 
March 22, 2007 pursuant to its Resolution No. 07-331.  The Board approved the assignment by 
Triangle of its rights, responsibilities, and duties as statutory developer of the Authority to the 
Developer on July 2, 2007 pursuant to its Resolution 07-809. 

On December 1, 2014, the Board received an application to add the Rockford property to 
the Authority (the “Rockford Application”) filed by the Developer.  On January 15, 2015, the 
Board approved the Rockford Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 
15-54. 

On August 18, 2016, the Board received (i) an application to add the Clark Shaw Moors 
(M/I Homes) property to the Authority (the “Clark Shaw Moors (M/I Homes) Application”), (ii) 
an application to add the Clark Shaw Moors (Rockford Homes) property to the Authority (the 
“Clark Shaw Moors (Rockford Homes) Application”), (iii) an application to add the Price Farms 
property to the Authority (the “Price Farms Application”), and (iv) an application to add the 
River Bluff property to the Authority (the “River Bluff Application”), all filed by the Developer.  
On September 29, 2016, the Board approved the Clark Shaw Moors (M/I Homes) Application 
and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-980, approved the Clark Shaw Moors 
(Rockford Homes) Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-981, 
approved the Price Farms Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-
982, and approved the River Bluff Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its 
Resolution 16-983. 

On August 3, 2017, the Board received an application filed by the Developer to add the 
Scioto Ridge Crossing (M/I Homes) property to the Authority (the “Scioto Ridge Crossing 
Application”).  On September 14, 2017, the Board approved the Scioto Ridge Crossing 
Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 17-952. 

As authorized by Ohio Revised Code Section 349.03, the Developer now seeks Board 
approval to add certain real property described below to the territory of the Authority (the 
“District”) and to amend the Petition as necessary to accomplish the same, all pursuant to this 



2 

application (the “Application”).  Exhibit A attached hereto is a map showing the existing District 
as well as the real property that the Developer now seeks to add to the District.  To that end, with 
respect to the real property at issue in this Application, the Developer hereby applies as follows: 

1. Property.  The Developer seeks the addition to the District of certain real property 
consisting of approximately 108.85 acres in Concord Township, Delaware County, Ohio 
(the “Property”), which Property is identified in the records of the Delaware County 
Auditor at the time of this Application with parcel numbers 319-240-01-046-000, 319-
240-01-047-000, 319-240-01-048-000 and 319-230-02-103-000.  As described more 
particularly in the legal descriptions attached hereto as Exhibit B and as depicted in the 
map attached hereto as Exhibit C, which identifies the location of the Property and 
outline the initial plan of development for the Property, the Property is generally situated 
on the east and west sides of Steitz Road between Home Road and Rutherford Road.  The 
Property is owned by or is under the control of the Developer through leases of at least 75 
years’ duration, options, or contracts to purchase.  The Developer hereby confirms that 
the addition of the Property will be conducive to the public health, safety, and 
convenience and welfare, will be consistent with the development of the District, and will 
further the plan of development for the District.  

2. Zoning.  The Property is zoned “Planned Residential District”, which designation will 
foster the necessary comprehensive development of the Property and the District as one 
functionally-interrelated community.  The City of Powell, Delaware, Ohio approved said 
zoning designation with respect to the Property on May 18, 2017.  A copy of the May 18, 
2017 approval appears as Exhibit D hereto.   

3. Development Plan.  Pulte Homes of Ohio LLC, a Michigan limited liability company 
(“Pulte Homes”), plans to build 183 individually platted single-family residential lots on 
the Property.  Consistent with the overall plan for the District, the Developer or Pulte 
Homes will provide for the District certain improvements constituting “community 
facilities” under the Act, including certain Community Facilities (as defined herein) in 
support of the Property.  Exhibits F and G hereto provide additional details regarding the 
development plan and anticipated improvements to the Property. 

4. Community Development Charge.  The Developer proposes to issue revenue bonds to 
finance the Community Facilities and to secure said revenue bonds through the levy and 
collection of a 10.25-mill community development charge that will be paid by owners of 
real property within the Property pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 349.07.  
Pursuant to the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for the Authority (the 
“Declaration”), a 2.0-mill portion of the community development charge will be provided 
to Delaware County, Ohio.  Pursuant to the Declaration, the community development 
charge with respect to any parcel within the District, including the Property, is chargeable 
and may be assessed by the Authority if a structure or building is located on a parcel and 
the parcel (i) receives approval to tap into the public sanitary sewer treatment system; (ii) 
receives approval to tap into the Del-Co Water Company, Inc. water system (or any 
successor thereto); or (iii) receives approval of a final development plan for lands, 
buildings, structures, and improvements to be included in said parcel from the applicable 
zoning jurisdiction. 



3 

5. Economic Feasibility.  The preliminary economic feasibility analysis for the District, 
including the area development pattern and demand, location and territory size, present 
and future socio-economic conditions, public services provision, financial plan, and the 
Developer’s management capability, were attached to the Petition as Exhibit C 
(Development Plan), Exhibit F (Development Program), Exhibit I (demographic 
information for Concord Township), Exhibit J (demographic information for Scioto 
Township), Exhibit K (Financial Plan), and Exhibit L (management capability).  The 
Statement of Economic Feasibility with respect to the Property is attached as Exhibit I 
hereto.  Demographic information relating to Concord Township appears as Exhibit J 
hereto.  The analysis additionally includes information about the Developer and Pulte 
Homes, which information appears in Exhibit K hereto. 

6. Environmental Compliance.  The Developer and Pulte Homes shall comply with all 
applicable environmental laws and regulations.  As evidence of such anticipated 
compliance by the Developer, the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment relating to the 
Property is attached to this Application as Exhibit L. 

7. Approvals.  For the purposes of the establishment of the Authority as well as the 
expansion of the District, the City of Delaware, Ohio is the only city that can be defined 
as a “proximate city” as that term is defined in Ohio Revised Code Section 349.01(M).  
The City of Delaware, Ohio passed a resolution of no objection to the expansion of the 
District, a copy of which resolution is attached to this Application as Exhibit M.   

8. Exhibits.  Attached Exhibits A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I, J, K, L, and M are part of this 
Application, and the Petition and the exhibits thereto are incorporated herein as part of 
this Application. 

9. Definitions.  Words and terms not defined herein shall have the meanings given in Ohio 
Revised Code Section 349.01, unless context requires a different meaning. 



Bmang
Stamp




A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Map of District and Additional Property 

 

 

The attached map shows the territory of the Authority as well as the additional property 

proposed in this Application. 

 

[Attached] 

 

 



OKNNU!TF

ECNJQWP!TF

VCTVCP!HKGNFU!FT

Eqtrqtcvkqp!Nkokvu!.!Lcp!3118

Vqypujkr!Dqwpfct{!.!Lcp!3118

Nqygt!Uekqvq!Ugtxkeg!Ctgc

Ngigpf

Uekqvq!

Eqpeqtf

Eqpeqtf

Uekqvq!

2

4

3 5

6

7

8

CWVJQTKV[!K

9
;

21

22

23

24

25

CWVJQTKV[!KK

26

27

28

29

29

2;

CWVJQTKV[!KKK

CWVJQTKV[!KX

22

ITCRJKE!UECNG

1 611 2111 3111

2!kpej!?!2111!hggv

qh

3124.2485

Ugrvgodgt!21-!3124

2 2

2#!?!2111(

FGNCYCTG!EQWPV[-!QJKQ

FCVG<

UECNG<

LQD!PQ/<

UJGGV<

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!K

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KK

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KKK

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KX

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

VQVCN!CWVJQTKV[?!2239³!CE/

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Rockford Homes
Property

Added to the
Authority on
January 15, 2015

CONCORD/SCIOTO
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY

Approximate
Boundaries of the
River Bluff Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Price Farms
Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Clark Shaw
(Rockford Homes)
Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Clark Shaw (M/I
Homes) Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Scioto Ridge
Crossing Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 14th,
2017

Approximate
Boundaries of
the Carpenter's
Mill Property



B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

 

Legal Description 

 

 

The attached legal descriptions relate to the Property to be added to the Authority pursuant 

to this Application. 

 

[Attached] 

 

 

 













C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

 

Map 

 

 

The attached map shows the location and anticipated development of the Property. 

 

[Attached] 

 

 



4 I

DEVELOPMENT DATA

\ H._
II I 

r -

i zy-e' t 1 1 _1 1 \, 1 1
I 1 7 T

------/--,,, 7'H
, I 1 1 Tfl/1 , , , ,, /1 1 ,, /

1....„,1 , , _j 
1 
--. --_—__CL.,i_ _Ls 7,......... ///- - -\ \ 

„ , 1 j--- 1'-.. I tl I, 1 1 ' 1 1 1 \,./

..- ________11..-:.,..,..).. -7: _1: 7 _L _ 1_ __:_r-7.--.._-)  -- 1 -`• / ,,

'(•;. 1 1 1 1 1 1 ) 1 

-- — —7- Ti T----  
-1 1 I \\----- if.  T-r- -r- -7-- --"7:44zzr ---r-- n

'1- 1 I I ! /-- i- -t-""! ! 1 t • ! \I, I

- • - • , ' -----F-79=7.-i-------T---T----9=-F-F-:--1--.r-i \I I
,  
' r-7-- - ---1--;-f---11-r7.--,

''

----------------- /

1 / -- r ---- 1 1 `1--- ' •
L J-

.1)
------------

s.

."

•

llb l F
ns 

„ „ I \ I • I „
4 

l̀ 
'•••,-"'""' I,

.-'t I 1 1 " ' ' '

ss 
I 1 Cs‘r; I F

—

‘ — k s l , 
v".

,5 1 \ 
°I-1-7" Z4 41 ) L 

/ I I „ --F) ,,- l '„
j,

'``` 
s'  )11-1—‘; I it_—FT`  , I I I / ; I , \ ,f

ss, 

-rte 1

 —T-

1 1 1 1 1

7-

1 1 1 1 1
  __L_

—r-
-1, 1 1 1 1

i
__L

\ .1 sr. !1_ / I I i

SHELLY PROPERTY
1.1 Nes

Thal WIts

./.31.111 AC

• AZIAT LOTS
S. EDAM LOTS

Voss MAW% LS MAL

Open Space P.a. •/-7.38 AC. (19.)

SMITH PROPERT,
Telal Anss ./.78.1AC.

Telal 111
-11527307075
n • =minors
4. 957130707S
21.110XIII7MS

GrossOmillt 1.57 PAL

sk...5,acelfterldet 4•1,1011,C31x1

OVERALL DEVELOPMENT
Tretal Ana. AC

Tof Unlo

Gass Dendly:

31- 9017I0,017
9,4730,073

11. 100.01.013
,171)17£1.01,

Preliminary Site Plan

SHELLY/SMITH PROPERTY - STEITZ ROAD 
LIBERTY TOWNSHIP, DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO

DWA 

3

C

01.115,xwe ProMetz 4.25.5,4 Poi

Prepared for Pulte Homes

Prepared by EDGE

September 21, 2016

7..71,..J
0 75' 150' 300' 711011111



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 

APPLICATION TO ADD PROPERTY TO THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY DISTRICT AND TO AMEND THE PETITION FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF 

THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY AUTHORITY AS A NEW COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY UNDER CHAPTER 349 OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE 

Submitted by: 

CONCORD/SCIOTO DEVELOPMENT, LLC 

As the Developer



1 

BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 

APPLICATION TO ADD PROPERTY TO THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY DISTRICT AND TO AMEND THE PETITION FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF 

THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY AUTHORITY AS A NEW COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY UNDER CHAPTER 349 OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE 

The undersigned, Concord/Scioto Development, LLC (the “Developer”), is an Ohio 
limited liability company and is the “developer” within the meaning of Ohio Revised Code 
Section 349.01 for the Concord/Scioto Community Authority (the “Authority”), a new 
community authority established under and operating pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Chapter 
349 (the “Act”). 

On February 8, 2007, this Board of County Commissioners of Delaware County, Ohio 
(the “Board”) received a petition (the “Petition”) filed by Triangle Properties, Inc. (“Triangle”) 
under the Act to create the Authority.  The Board approved the creation of the Authority on 
March 22, 2007 pursuant to its Resolution No. 07-331.  The Board approved the assignment by 
Triangle of its rights, responsibilities, and duties as statutory developer of the Authority to the 
Developer on July 2, 2007 pursuant to its Resolution 07-809. 

On December 1, 2014, the Board received an application to add the Rockford property to 
the Authority (the “Rockford Application”) filed by the Developer.  On January 15, 2015, the 
Board approved the Rockford Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 
15-54. 

On August 18, 2016, the Board received (i) an application to add the Clark Shaw Moors 
(M/I Homes) property to the Authority (the “Clark Shaw Moors (M/I Homes) Application”), (ii) 
an application to add the Clark Shaw Moors (Rockford Homes) property to the Authority (the 
“Clark Shaw Moors (Rockford Homes) Application”), (iii) an application to add the Price Farms 
property to the Authority (the “Price Farms Application”), and (iv) an application to add the 
River Bluff property to the Authority (the “River Bluff Application”), all filed by the Developer.  
On September 29, 2016, the Board approved the Clark Shaw Moors (M/I Homes) Application 
and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-980, approved the Clark Shaw Moors 
(Rockford Homes) Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-981, 
approved the Price Farms Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-
982, and approved the River Bluff Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its 
Resolution 16-983. 

On August 3, 2017, the Board received an application filed by the Developer to add the 
Scioto Ridge Crossing (M/I Homes) property to the Authority (the “Scioto Ridge Crossing 
Application”).  On September 14, 2017, the Board approved the Scioto Ridge Crossing 
Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 17-952. 

As authorized by Ohio Revised Code Section 349.03, the Developer now seeks Board 
approval to add certain real property described below to the territory of the Authority (the 
“District”) and to amend the Petition as necessary to accomplish the same, all pursuant to this 



2 

application (the “Application”).  Exhibit A attached hereto is a map showing the existing District 
as well as the real property that the Developer now seeks to add to the District.  To that end, with 
respect to the real property at issue in this Application, the Developer hereby applies as follows: 

1. Property.  The Developer seeks the addition to the District of certain real property 
consisting of approximately 42.79 acres in Liberty Township, Delaware County, Ohio 
(the “Property”), which Property is identified in the records of the Delaware County 
Auditor at the time of this Application with parcel numbers 419-340-02-013-000, 419-
340-02-014-000, 419-340-02-019-000, and 419-340-02-020-000.  As described more 
particularly in the legal descriptions attached hereto as Exhibit B and as depicted in the 
map attached hereto as Exhibit C, which identifies the location of the Property and 
outline the initial plan of development for the Property, the Property is generally situated 
west of Sawmill Parkway, between Hyatts Road and Clark-Shaw Road.  The Property is 
owned by or is under the control of the Developer through leases of at least 75 years’ 
duration, options, or contracts to purchase.  The Developer hereby confirms that the 
addition of the Property will be conducive to the public health, safety, and convenience 
and welfare, will be consistent with the development of the District, and will further the 
plan of development for the District. 

2. Zoning.  The Property is zoned “Planned Residential District”, which designation will 
foster the necessary comprehensive development of the Property and the District as one 
functionally-interrelated community.  The Board of Trustees of Liberty Township, 
Delaware County, Ohio (the “Trustees”) approved said zoning designation with respect to 
the Property on March 20, 2017.  A copy of the minutes from the Trustees’ March 20, 
2017 meeting appears as Exhibit D hereto. A copy of the Liberty Township zoning 
resolution appears as Exhibit E hereto.  

3. Development Plan.  Rockford Homes, Inc., an Ohio corporation (“Rockford”), plans to 
build 86 individually platted single-family residential lots on the Property.  Consistent 
with the overall plan for the District, the Developer or Rockford will provide for the 
District certain improvements constituting “community facilities” under the Act, 
including certain Community Facilities (as defined herein) in support of the Property.  
Exhibits F and G hereto provide additional details regarding the development plan and 
anticipated improvements to the Property. Exhibit H provides a traffic study completed 
for the Property.  

4. Community Development Charge.  The Developer proposes to issue revenue bonds to 
finance the Community Facilities and to secure said revenue bonds through the levy and 
collection of a 10.25-mill community development charge that will be paid by owners of 
real property within the Property pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 349.07.  
Pursuant to the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for the Authority (the 
“Declaration”), a 2.0-mill portion of the community development charge will be provided 
to Delaware County, Ohio.  Pursuant to the Declaration, the community development 
charge with respect to any parcel within the District, including the Property, is chargeable 
and may be assessed by the Authority if a structure or building is located on a parcel and 
the parcel (i) receives approval to tap into the public sanitary sewer treatment system; (ii) 
receives approval to tap into the Del-Co Water Company, Inc. water system (or any 



3 

successor thereto); or (iii) receives approval of a final development plan for lands, 
buildings, structures, and improvements to be included in said parcel from the applicable 
zoning jurisdiction. 

5. Economic Feasibility.  The preliminary economic feasibility analysis for the District, 
including the area development pattern and demand, location and territory size, present 
and future socio-economic conditions, public services provision, financial plan, and the 
Developer’s management capability, were attached to the Petition as Exhibit C 
(Development Plan), Exhibit F (Development Program), Exhibit I (demographic 
information for Liberty Township), Exhibit J (demographic information for Scioto 
Township), Exhibit K (Financial Plan), and Exhibit L (management capability).  The 
Statement of Economic Feasibility with respect to the Property is attached as Exhibit I 
hereto.  Demographic information relating to Liberty Township appears as Exhibit J 
hereto.  The analysis additionally includes information about the Developer and 
Rockford, which information appears in Exhibit K hereto. 

6. Environmental Compliance.  The Developer and Rockford shall comply with all 
applicable environmental laws and regulations.  As evidence of such anticipated 
compliance by the Developer, the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment relating to the 
Property is attached to this Application as Exhibit L. 

7. Approvals.  For the purposes of the establishment of the Authority as well as the 
expansion of the District, the City of Delaware, Ohio is the only city that can be defined 
as a “proximate city” as that term is defined in Ohio Revised Code Section 349.01(M).  
The City of Delaware, Ohio passed a resolution of no objection to the expansion of the 
District and executed a document exhibiting its approval, a copy of which resolution and 
approval is attached to this Application as Exhibit M.   

8. Exhibits.  Attached Exhibits A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I, J, K, L, and M are part of this 
Application, and the Petition and the exhibits thereto are incorporated herein as part of 
this Application. 

9. Definitions.  Words and terms not defined herein shall have the meanings given in Ohio 
Revised Code Section 349.01, unless context requires a different meaning. 





A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Map of District and Additional Property 

 

 

The attached map shows the territory of the Authority as well as the additional property 

proposed in this Application. 

 

[Attached] 

 

 



OKNNU!TF

ECNJQWP!TF

VCTVCP!HKGNFU!FT

Eqtrqtcvkqp!Nkokvu!.!Lcp!3118

Vqypujkr!Dqwpfct{!.!Lcp!3118

Nqygt!Uekqvq!Ugtxkeg!Ctgc

Ngigpf

Uekqvq!

Eqpeqtf

Eqpeqtf

Uekqvq!

2

4

3 5

6

7

8

CWVJQTKV[!K

9
;

21

22

23

24

25

CWVJQTKV[!KK

26

27

28

29

29

2;

CWVJQTKV[!KKK

CWVJQTKV[!KX

22

ITCRJKE!UECNG

1 611 2111 3111

2!kpej!?!2111!hggv

qh

3124.2485

Ugrvgodgt!21-!3124

2 2

2#!?!2111(

FGNCYCTG!EQWPV[-!QJKQ

FCVG<

UECNG<

LQD!PQ/<

UJGGV<

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!K

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KK

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KKK

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KX

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

VQVCN!CWVJQTKV[?!2239³!CE/

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Rockford Homes
Property

Added to the
Authority on
January 15, 2015

CONCORD/SCIOTO
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY

Approximate
Boundaries of the
River Bluff Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Price Farms
Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Clark Shaw
(Rockford Homes)
Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Clark Shaw (M/I
Homes) Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Scioto Ridge
Crossing Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 14th,
2017

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Clark Shaw Reserve
(Rockford) Property



B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

 

Legal Description 

 

 

The attached legal descriptions relate to the Property to be added to the Authority pursuant 

to this Application. 

 

[Attached] 

 





Thence with the west line of said 3.168 acre tract, the westerly right of way line of 
Sawmill Parkway and the east line of the remainder of said 58.75 acre tract, S 03° 27' 
20" W, 40.00 feet to a magnail set at angle point in the south line of said 58.75 acre 
tract and being in the centerline of Hyatts Road (R/W Varies); 
 
Thence with the south line of the remainder of said 58.75 acre tract and the centerline 
of Hyatts Road, N 86° 32' 40" W, 1008.38 feet to a magnail set at the southwest 
corner of the remainder of said 58.75 acre tract and the southeast corner of a 5.032 
acre tract as conveyed to Patrick A . Sells and Christal L. Caudill in Official Record 1134, 
Page 2572; 
 
Thence with the west line of the remainder of said 58.75 acre tract and the east line of 
said 5.032 acre tract, N 03° 37' 07" E, 1557.29 feet to an iron pin set at the 
northwest corner of the remainder of said 58.75 acre tract, the northeast corner of said 
5.032 acre tract, the southwest corner of said 40.0 acre tract, the southeast corner of a 
48.89 acre tract as conveyed to Clarkshaw Reserve I LLC in Official Record 1553, Page 
1306; 
 
Thence across said 40.0 acre tract the following six (6) courses: 

1. N 52° 16' 33" E, 78.54 feet to an iron pin set; 
2. N 01° 42' 57" E, 468.44 feet to an iron pin set; 
3. S 86° 26' 57" E, 150.00 feet to an iron pin set; 
4. N 03° 33' 03" E, 116.80 feet to an iron pin set; 
5. S 86° 26' 57" E, 415.00 feet to an iron pin set; 
6. N 03° 33' 03" E, 52.11 feet to an iron pin set; 

 
Thence across said 40.0 acre tract and said 10.0 acre tract, S 86° 26' 57" E, 220.04 
feet to an iron pin set in the east line of said 10.0 acre tract and the west line of a 
26.870 acre tract as conveyed to Carolyn R. Edwards in Official Record 531, Page 551; 
 
Thence with the east line of said 10.0 acre tract and the west line of said 26.870 acre 
tract, S 03° 38' 20" W, 689.60 feet to an iron pin set at the southeast corner of said 
10.0 acre tract and the southwest corner of said 26.870 acre tract and being in the 
north line of the remainder of said 58.75 acre tract; 
 
Thence with the north line of the remainder of said 58.75 acre tract, the south line of 
said 26.870 acre tract and the south line of the remainder of said 30.000 acre tract, S 
86° 24' 09" E, 818.66 feet to the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING, containing 
42.786 acres, more or less. 
 
The above description was prepared by Advanced Civil Design, Inc. and is based on 
existing records and an actual field survey by Advanced Civil Design in November of 
2016.  A drawing of the above description has been prepared and is a part hereof. 
 
Iron pins set are 3/4” diameter iron pipe, 30” long and capped Advanced 7661. 
 
Bearings are based on the Ohio State Plane Coordinated System, North Zone, NAD83 
(NSRS2007).  Said bearings were derived from GPS observation that determines a 
portion of the centerline of Hyatts Road to be S 86° 32' 40" E. 
 







C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

 

Map 

 

 

The attached map shows the location and anticipated development of the Property. 

 

[Attached] 

 

 



COMMON
OPEN SPACE "C"

±17.34 AC.
(INCLUDES:

±12.98 AC COMMON OPEN SPACE
±0.61 AC COMMON OPEN SPACE
±3.75 AC NATURAL GREEN SPACE)

COMMON OPEN SPACE
"G"

±0.51 AC.

COMMON
OPEN SPACE

"A"
±0.32 AC.

25' REAR YARD SETBACK (TYP.) 25' REA
R YA

RD
 SETBA

C
K

(TYP.)

25' REAR YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

25' REAR YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

25' REAR YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

25' REAR YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

25' REAR YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

30' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

30' FRO
N

T YA
RD

 SETBA
C

K
(TYP.)

30' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

30' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

30' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

30' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

30' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

8' MIN WIDTH INTERNAL PATH (TYP.)

TOT LOT  - SEE DETAIL 6 ON
SHEET D-2 FOR EXAMPLE OR
OWNER APPROVED EQUAL.

± 5'-6' HT. MOUND (TYP.)
10' MIN. WIDTH ASPHALT
PATH (TYP. ALONG HYATTS)

± 4'-5' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

± 4'-5' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

± 3'-4' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

8' MIN WIDTH INTERNAL PATH (TYP.)

10' MIN. WIDTH ASPHALT PATH
(TYP. ALONG CLARKSHAW)

10' MIN. WIDTH ASPHALT PATH
(TYP. ALONG CLARKSHAW)10' MIN. WIDTH ASPHALT PATH

(TYP. ALONG CLARKSHAW)

± 5'-6' HT.
MOUND (TYP.)

± 4'-5' HT.
MOUND (TYP.)

± 4'-5' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

± 5'-6' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

± 4'-5' HT.
MOUND (TYP.)

10' MIN WIDTH
PATH (TYP.)

8' MIN WIDTH INTERNAL PATH (TYP.)

± 6'-8' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

± 6'-8' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

10' MIN. WIDTH ASPHALT
PATH (TYP. ALONG HYATTS)

± 6'-8' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

± 6'-8' HT. MOUND (TYP.) FUTURE CONDO
DEVELOPMENT
- SEE SECTION 2
OF REZONING

PACKAGE

APPROVED
WOODCREST

CROSSING
DEVELOPMENT

PROPOSED
BASIN

PROPOSED
BASIN

PROPOSED
BASIN

PEAVEY STREET

MARSHALL DRIVE

PE
A

RL
 C

O
UR

T

ZI
LD

JI
A

N
 W

A
Y

GIBSON COURT

FENDER AVENUE

FE
N

D
ER

 A
V

EN
UE

G
RE

TS
C

H 
ST

RE
ET

LU
D

W
IG

 S
TR

EE
T

ROLAND WAY

CLARK SHAW ROAD

ST
EIT

Z R
OAD EX

TE
NSIO

N

HYATTS ROAD

SA
W

M
IL

L 
PA

RK
W

A
Y

10' MIN. WIDTH ASPHALT
PATH (TYP. ALONG HYATTS)

PROPOSED 80'
R.O.W. (40' FROM ℄)

130' BUILDING SETBACK FROM ℄

60' BUILDING SETBACK FROM ℄

EXISTING 60' R.O.W.

OVERHEAD POWER LINE EASEMENT

OVERHEAD POWER LINE EASEMENT

OVERHEAD POWER LINE EASEMENT

EXISTING 40' R.O.W.
(20' FROM ℄)

COMMON
OPEN SPACE

±12.33 AC.

COMMON
OPEN SPACE

±3.69 AC.

NATURAL GREEN SPACE
±3.75 AC

1
(0.226
 AC)

2
(0.226
 AC)

6
   (0.208 AC)

5
   (0.226 AC)

4
   (0.226 AC)

7
  (0.201 AC)

8
   (0.201 AC)

9
   (0.201 AC)

10
      (0.201 AC)

11
    (0.221 AC)

12
    (0.226 AC)

13
    (0.226 AC)

14
    (0.226 AC)

15
(0.226
 AC)

16
(0.226
 AC)

17
(0.226
 AC)

18
(0.310
 AC)

19
(0.293
 AC)

20
(0.205
 AC)

21
(0.226
 AC)

22
(0.226
 AC)

23
(0.226
 AC)

24
(0.226
 AC)

25
(0.230
 AC)

26
(0.221
 AC)

27
(0.201
 AC)

28
(0.201
 AC)

29
(0.201
 AC)

30
(0.201
 AC)

31
(0.201
 AC)

32
(0.293
 AC)

33
     (0.201 AC)

34
     (0.201 AC)

35
     (0.293 AC)

36
     (0.201 AC)

37
     (0.201 AC)

38
     (0.201 AC)

39
     (0.201 AC)

40
     (0.201 AC)

41
     (0.201 AC)

42
     (0.201 AC)

43
     (0.201 AC)

44
     (0.201 AC)

45
     (0.201 AC)

46
     (0.201 AC)

47
     (0.201 AC)

49
     (0.201 AC)

50
     (0.201 AC)

51
     (0.201 AC)

52
     (0.201 AC)

53
     (0.201 AC)

54
     (0.218 AC)

48
     (0.218 AC)

55
(0.313
 AC)

56
(0.231
 AC)

57
(0.231
 AC)

66
(0.317
 AC)

65
(0.231
 AC)

58
     (0.217 AC)

59
     (0.201 AC)

60
     (0.201 AC)

61
     (0.201 AC)

62
     (0.201 AC)

63
     (0.216 AC)

64
(0.231
 AC)

67
     (0.202 AC)

68
     (0.201 AC)

69
     (0.201 AC)

70
     (0.201 AC)

71
     (0.201 AC)

72
     (0.201 AC)

73
     (0.275 AC)

74
     (0.275 AC)

75
     (0.286 AC)

84
     (0.275 AC)

85
     (0.275 AC)

86
     (0.275 AC)

87
     (0.275 AC)

88
     (0.275 AC)

93
     (0.275 AC)

94
     (0.275 AC)

95
     (0.275 AC)

92
     (0.298 AC)

91
     (0.295 AC) 90

     (0.297 AC)

89
     (0.286 AC)

130
(0.201
 AC)

129
(0.201
 AC)

128
(0.201
 AC)

127
(0.201
 AC)

126
(0.201
 AC)

125
(0.209
 AC)

131
(0.293
 AC)

118
(0.293
 AC)

119
(0.201
 AC)

120
(0.201
 AC)

121
(0.201
 AC)

122
(0.201
 AC)

123
(0.237
 AC)

124
(0.208
 AC)

77
(0.289
 AC)

78
(0.289
 AC)

79
(0.286
 AC)

80
(0.275
 AC)

81
(0.290
 AC)82

(0.300
 AC)

83
     (0.307 AC)

76
     (0.289 AC)

117
      (0.284 AC)

116
      (0.306 AC)

115
      (0.306 AC)

114
      (0.306 AC)

113
      (0.306 AC)

112
(0.306
 AC)

111
(0.306
 AC)

110
(0.412
 AC)

103
(0.327
 AC)102

(0.316
 AC)

101
(0.316
 AC)

100
(0.316
 AC)

99
(0.507
 AC)

98
(0.361
 AC)

97
(0.304
 AC)

96
(0.379
 AC)

132
(0.275
 AC)

133
(0.275
 AC)

134
(0.275
 AC)

135
(0.275
 AC)

136
(0.275
 AC)

137
(0.275
 AC)

138
(0.275
 AC)

139
(0.275
 AC)

164
(0.377
 AC)

165
(0.275
 AC)

166
(0.275
 AC)

167
(0.275
 AC)

168
(0.377
 AC)

169
(0.377
 AC)

170
(0.275
 AC)

171
(0.275
 AC)

172
(0.275
 AC)

173
(0.377
 AC)

154
(0.275
 AC)

153
(0.275
 AC)

109
      (0.291 AC)

104
      (0.377 AC)

105
      (0.275 AC)

106
      (0.275 AC)

162
       (0.275 AC)

161
       (0.275 AC)

160
       (0.275 AC)

159
       (0.275 AC)

158
       (0.318 AC)

157
       (0.292 AC)

156
       (0.279 AC)

155
       (0.377 AC)

152
       (0.377 AC)

151
       (0.275 AC)

163
       (0.403 AC)

107
      (0.313 AC)

108
      (0.316 AC)

140
       (0.377 AC)

141
       (0.275 AC)

142
       (0.275 AC)

143
       (0.275 AC)

144
       (0.275 AC)

145
       (0.275 AC)

146
       (0.275 AC)

147
       (0.280 AC)

148
       (0.315 AC)

149
       (0.372 AC)

150
       (0.414 AC)

3
(0.226
 AC)

13
5'

87'

87'

87'

87'

87'

71
'-1

"
65

'
65

'
65

'
82

'-4
"

87
'

87
'

87
'

87'

87'

87' 110'-3"

135'135'

90'-8"
58'-9"

58'-9"

58'-9"

58
'-9

"

58
'-9

"

58
'-9

"
60

'-1
"

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

63
'-3

"

58'-9"
58'-9"

58'-9"

58'-9"
58'-9"

125'-1"

29'-2"
50'

40'-11"

40'-11"
19'-6"

33
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'32

'-4
" 20

'-2
"

40
'-1

1"

40'-11"28'-7"
50'

83
'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

83
'

123'-6"

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

13
5'

13
5'

105'-11"

105'-11"

86'-5"

87
'-1

"
10

5'-
11

"

105'-11"

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

95
'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

95'

13
5'

68'-4"87'

87'

87'

87'

58'-9"
58'-9"

58'-9" 58'-9" 64'

13
5'13

5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

40'-11" 48'-4"
65'

105'-11"
93'-5"

65' 65' 65' 95'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5' 135'

65
'

65
'

136'-7"

65
'

135'

65
'

135'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

135'

135'

135'

95' 65' 65' 65' 65' 65' 65'

13
5'

22'-4"
13

5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

65'65'

13
5'

13
5'

21
'-9

"

18
7'

-1
"

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

95' 65' 65' 65' 65'

86
'-5

"

103'-4"

103'-5"

103'-5"

150'

150'

150'

150'

78
'-4

"

74'-1"

74'-2"

74'-2"

80
'

150'

80
'

150'

61'-11"

57'-10"

57'-10"

57'-10"

62'-10"

15
0'

15
0'

150'

150'

103'-5"

15
0'

136'-4"

74'-2"
74'-2"

74'-2"

103'-5"

103'-5"

103'-5"

15
0'

15
0'

96
'-2

"

150'

80
'

150'-10"

150'

150'

150'

150'

11
0'

-1
0"

11
0'

80
'

80
'

10
8'

11
1'

72
'-3

"
73

'

15
0'

-3
"

150'

150'

150'

150'156'-10"

21
1'

-5
"

80'

17
5'

-3
"

87'-9"
110'-2"

14
9'

-3
"

72
'-3

"

72'-3
"

72'-3"
70'-3"

119'-1"

111'

111'

11
1'

80'

84'-6"
110'-1"

80' 110'

15
0'

15
4'

-3
"

18
1'

-4
"

15
0'150'

150'

43
'-3

" 4
1'-6" 56'-4"

13
2'

-2
"

130'-4"

111'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

150'

150'

150'

150'
176'

150'

150' 47
'-2

"

150'

150'

80
'

80
'

173'-2"
150'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

84
'-2

"

47'-9"

40
'-7

"

83'-4"

150'

150'

150'

150'

65'

80' 80' 80' 80' 80' 80' 80' 80'

110' 80' 80' 80' 110'
13

8'
-1

"
80

'
80

'
80

'
80

'

80
'

80
'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

150'

150'

150'

150'

150'

150'

203'

150'

150'

150'

80
'

11
0'

15
0'

80' 80'

15
0'

15
0'

150'

80
'

11
0'

11
0'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

150'

150'

150'

150'

150'

150'

150'

150'

186'-11"

218'

228'-1"

11
0'

96'

52
'

41'-5"

12'-9"

80'-5"

85'-1"

85'-10"

80'-7"

55'-11"

102'-6"
108'-11"

108'-11"

108'-11"
103'-8"

73'-5"

152'-7"

65
'

± 3'-4' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

TA
M

A
 D

RI
V

E

25' REAR YARD
SETBACK (TYP.)

8' MIN. WIDTH INTERNAL PATH (TYP.)

13
0' 

BU
ILD

IN
G

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
FR

O
M

 ℄

± 3'-4' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

15
0'

60
' R

.O
.W

.

25
'

30
'

8'8'

13
5'

60
' R

.O
.W

.

25
'

30
'

7'-6"7'-6"

80' MIN AT FRONT BUILD LINE
65' MIN AT FRONT

BUILD LINE

NORTH
1"=100'

50 1000 200 300

CLARK SHAW RESERVE
PREPARED FOR METRO DEVELOPMENT
DATE: FEBRUARY 1, 2017

PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN

p (614) 487-1964                              www.farisplanninganddesign.com
243 N. 5th Street              Suite 401                        Columbus, OH 43215

LAND PLANNING                  

Faris Planning & Design
                LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTUREg

EXHIBIT C-1

VICINITY MAP

*SITE

TYPICAL 80'x150' LOT CONFIGURATION
SCALE:  1"=30'

TYPICAL 65'x135' LOT CONFIGURATION
SCALE:  1"=30'

SITE DATA
±148.4 ACRESTOTAL ACRES

173TOTAL UNITS

±1.17 D.U./AC.DENSITY

OPEN SPACE

PERCENTAGE OF OPEN SPACE

±84.59 AC.

±57.00%

8665' X 135' LOTS

8780' X 150' LOTS

*MOUNDING CONCEPT MAY BE ADJUSTED TO
ACCOMMODATE FINAL ENGINEERING

1 2

±1.56 D.U./AC.NET DENSITY



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 

APPLICATION TO ADD PROPERTY TO THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY DISTRICT AND TO AMEND THE PETITION FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF 

THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY AUTHORITY AS A NEW COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY UNDER CHAPTER 349 OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE 

Submitted by: 

CONCORD/SCIOTO DEVELOPMENT, LLC 

As the Developer



1 

BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 

APPLICATION TO ADD PROPERTY TO THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY DISTRICT AND TO AMEND THE PETITION FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF 

THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY AUTHORITY AS A NEW COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY UNDER CHAPTER 349 OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE 

The undersigned, Concord/Scioto Development, LLC (the “Developer”), is an Ohio 
limited liability company and is the “developer” within the meaning of Ohio Revised Code 
Section 349.01 for the Concord/Scioto Community Authority (the “Authority”), a new 
community authority established under and operating pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Chapter 
349 (the “Act”). 

On February 8, 2007, this Board of County Commissioners of Delaware County, Ohio 
(the “Board”) received a petition (the “Petition”) filed by Triangle Properties, Inc. (“Triangle”) 
under the Act to create the Authority.  The Board approved the creation of the Authority on 
March 22, 2007 pursuant to its Resolution No. 07-331.  The Board approved the assignment by 
Triangle of its rights, responsibilities, and duties as statutory developer of the Authority to the 
Developer on July 2, 2007 pursuant to its Resolution 07-809. 

On December 1, 2014, the Board received an application to add the Rockford property to 
the Authority (the “Rockford Application”) filed by the Developer.  On January 15, 2015, the 
Board approved the Rockford Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 
15-54. 

On August 18, 2016, the Board received (i) an application to add the Clark Shaw Moors 
(M/I Homes) property to the Authority (the “Clark Shaw Moors (M/I Homes) Application”), (ii) 
an application to add the Clark Shaw Moors (Rockford Homes) property to the Authority (the 
“Clark Shaw Moors (Rockford Homes) Application”), (iii) an application to add the Price Farms 
property to the Authority (the “Price Farms Application”), and (iv) an application to add the 
River Bluff property to the Authority (the “River Bluff Application”), all filed by the Developer.  
On September 29, 2016, the Board approved the Clark Shaw Moors (M/I Homes) Application 
and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-980, approved the Clark Shaw Moors 
(Rockford Homes) Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-981, 
approved the Price Farms Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-
982, and approved the River Bluff Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its 
Resolution 16-983. 

On August 3, 2017, the Board received an application filed by the Developer to add the 
Scioto Ridge Crossing (M/I Homes) property to the Authority (the “Scioto Ridge Crossing 
Application”).  On September 14, 2017, the Board approved the Scioto Ridge Crossing 
Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 17-952. 

As authorized by Ohio Revised Code Section 349.03, the Developer now seeks Board 
approval to add certain real property described below to the territory of the Authority (the 
“District”) and to amend the Petition as necessary to accomplish the same, all pursuant to this 



2 

application (the “Application”).  Exhibit A attached hereto is a map showing the existing District 
as well as the real property that the Developer now seeks to add to the District.  To that end, with 
respect to the real property at issue in this Application, the Developer hereby applies as follows: 

1. Property.  The Developer seeks the addition to the District of certain real property 
consisting of approximately 38.9 acres in Concord Township, Delaware County, Ohio 
(the “Property”), which Property is identified in the records of the Delaware County 
Auditor at the time of this Application with parcel number 419-330-02-066-002.  As 
described more particularly in the legal descriptions attached hereto as Exhibit B and as 
depicted in the map attached hereto as Exhibit C, which identifies the location of the 
Property and outline the initial plan of development for the Property, the Property is 
generally situated south of the Clark Shaw Moors project and north of Hyatts Road.  The 
Property is owned by or is under the control of the Developer through leases of at least 75 
years’ duration, options, or contracts to purchase.  The Developer hereby confirms that 
the addition of the Property will be conducive to the public health, safety, and 
convenience and welfare, will be consistent with the development of the District, and will 
further the plan of development for the District. 

2. Zoning.  The Property is zoned “Planned Residential District”, which designation will 
foster the necessary comprehensive development of the Property and the District as one 
functionally-interrelated community.  The Board of Trustees of Concord Township, 
Delaware County, Ohio (the “Trustees”) approved said zoning designation with respect to 
the Property on December 9, 2015.  A copy of the minutes from the Trustees’ December 
9, 2015 meeting appears as Exhibit D hereto. A copy of the Concord Township zoning 
resolution appears as Exhibit E hereto. 

3. Development Plan.  Homewood Corporation, an Ohio corporation (“Homewood”), plans 
to build 75 individually platted single-family residential lots on the Property.  Consistent 
with the overall plan for the District, the Developer or Homewood will provide for the 
District certain improvements constituting “community facilities” under the Act, 
including certain Community Facilities (as defined herein) in support of the Property.  
Exhibits F and G hereto provide additional details regarding the development plan and 
anticipated improvements to the Property. Exhibit H provides a traffic study completed 
for the Property.  

4. Community Development Charge.  The Developer proposes to issue revenue bonds to 
finance the Community Facilities and to secure said revenue bonds through the levy and 
collection of a 10.25-mill community development charge that will be paid by owners of 
real property within the Property pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 349.07.  
Pursuant to the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for the Authority (the 
“Declaration”), a 2.0-mill portion of the community development charge will be provided 
to Delaware County, Ohio.  Pursuant to the Declaration, the community development 
charge with respect to any parcel within the District, including the Property, is chargeable 
and may be assessed by the Authority if a structure or building is located on a parcel and 
the parcel (i) receives approval to tap into the public sanitary sewer treatment system; (ii) 
receives approval to tap into the Del-Co Water Company, Inc. water system (or any 
successor thereto); or (iii) receives approval of a final development plan for lands, 



3 

buildings, structures, and improvements to be included in said parcel from the applicable 
zoning jurisdiction. 

5. Economic Feasibility.  The preliminary economic feasibility analysis for the District, 
including the area development pattern and demand, location and territory size, present 
and future socio-economic conditions, public services provision, financial plan, and the 
Developer’s management capability, were attached to the Petition as Exhibit C 
(Development Plan), Exhibit F (Development Program), Exhibit I (demographic 
information for Concord Township), Exhibit J (demographic information for Scioto 
Township), Exhibit K (Financial Plan), and Exhibit L (management capability).  The 
Statement of Economic Feasibility with respect to the Property is attached as Exhibit I 
hereto.  Demographic information relating to Concord Township appears as Exhibit J 
hereto.  The analysis additionally includes information about the Developer and 
Homewood, which information appears in Exhibit K hereto. 

6. Environmental Compliance.  The Developer and Homewood shall comply with all 
applicable environmental laws and regulations.  As evidence of such anticipated 
compliance by the Developer, the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment relating to the 
Property is attached to this Application as Exhibit L. 

7. Approvals.  For the purposes of the establishment of the Authority as well as the 
expansion of the District, the City of Delaware, Ohio is the only city that can be defined 
as a “proximate city” as that term is defined in Ohio Revised Code Section 349.01(M).  
The City of Delaware, Ohio passed a resolution of no objection to the expansion of the 
District and executed a document exhibiting its approval, a copy of which resolution and 
approval is attached to this Application as Exhibit M.   

8. Exhibits.  Attached Exhibits A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I, J, K, L, and M are part of this 
Application, and the Petition and the exhibits thereto are incorporated herein as part of 
this Application. 

9. Definitions.  Words and terms not defined herein shall have the meanings given in Ohio 
Revised Code Section 349.01, unless context requires a different meaning. 





A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Map of District and Additional Property 

 

 

The attached map shows the territory of the Authority as well as the additional property 

proposed in this Application. 

 

[Attached] 

 

 



OKNNU!TF

ECNJQWP!TF

VCTVCP!HKGNFU!FT

Eqtrqtcvkqp!Nkokvu!.!Lcp!3118

Vqypujkr!Dqwpfct{!.!Lcp!3118

Nqygt!Uekqvq!Ugtxkeg!Ctgc

Ngigpf

Uekqvq!

Eqpeqtf

Eqpeqtf

Uekqvq!

2

4

3 5

6

7

8

CWVJQTKV[!K

9
;

21

22

23

24

25

CWVJQTKV[!KK

26

27

28

29

29

2;

CWVJQTKV[!KKK

CWVJQTKV[!KX

22

ITCRJKE!UECNG

1 611 2111 3111

2!kpej!?!2111!hggv

qh

3124.2485

Ugrvgodgt!21-!3124

2 2

2#!?!2111(

FGNCYCTG!EQWPV[-!QJKQ

FCVG<

UECNG<

LQD!PQ/<

UJGGV<

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!K

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KK

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KKK

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KX

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

VQVCN!CWVJQTKV[?!2239³!CE/

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Rockford Homes
Property

Added to the
Authority on
January 15, 2015

CONCORD/SCIOTO
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY

Approximate
Boundaries of the
River Bluff Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Price Farms
Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Clark Shaw
(Rockford Homes)
Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Clark Shaw (M/I
Homes) Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Scioto Ridge
Crossing Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 14th,
2017

Approximate
Boundaries of
the Heather
Ridge Property



B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

 

Legal Description 

 

 

The attached legal descriptions relate to the Property to be added to the Authority pursuant 

to this Application. 

 

[Attached] 

 

 

 

 



Zoning Description
38.4 +/- Acres

North of Hyatts Road
West of Sawmill Parkway

Situated in the State of Ohio, County of Delaware, Township of Concord, Farm Lot 39, Section
3, Township 4, Range 19, United States Military District and being all of a 30.00 acre tract of
land conveyed to Roy K. Jackson and Judith M. Jackson, Trustees of record in Official Record
13, Page 89, all of a 6.00 acre tract of land conveyed to Metro Development, LLC of record in
Official Record 1382, Page 1342 and being part of a 51.75 acre tract of land conveyed to Roy K.
Jackson & Judith M. Jackson, Trustees of record in Official Record 13, Page 1086 and being
more particularly described as follows:

Beginning, in the southerly line of said 51.75 acre tract of land, the same being in the southerly
line of Farm Lot 39, the same being at the northwesterly corner of Farm Lot 21, the same being
the northeasterly corner of Farm Lot 20, the same being in the easterly line of Concord
Township, the same being in the westerly line of Liberty Township and being in the centerline of
Hyatts Road;

Thence N 86° 43’ 48” W, along a portion of the southerly line of said 51.75 acre tract of land,
and the southerly line of said 30.00 acre tract of land and the southerly line of said 6.00 acre tract
of land, the same being the southerly line of said Farm Lot 39, the same being the northerly line
of said Farm Lot 20 and being along the centerline of said Hyatts Road, 1079.48 feet to the
southwesterly corner of said 6.00 acre tract of land;

Thence N 03° 17’ 51” E, along the westerly line of said 6.00 acre tract of land, 1554.38 feet to
the northwesterly corner thereof, the same being the northerly line of said Farm Lot 39 and being
the southerly line of Farm Lot 34;

Thence S 86° 33’ 10” E, along the northerly line of said 30.00 acre tract of land, the northerly
line of said 6.00 acre tract of land, a portion of the northerly line of said 51.75 acre tract of land,
the same being the common line of said Farm Lot 39 and said Farm Lot 34, 1076.83 feet to the
easterly line of said Concord Township and the same being the westerly line of said Liberty
Township;

Thence S 03° 11’ 58” W, across said 51.75 acre tract of land and the same being the common
line of said Concord Township and Liberty Township, 1551.05 feet to the True Point of
Beginning.

Containing 38.4 +/- acres, more or less.  Subject, however, to all legal highways, easements, and
restrictions.  The above description was prepared by Advanced Civil Design, Inc. on December
4, 2015 and is based on existing Delaware County Auditor’s and Recorder’s records.

This description is not to be used for the transfer of land.

ADVANCED CIVIL DESIGN, INC.

Z:\15-0106-128\survey\38.4 ac zoning desc.doc





C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

 

Map 

 

 

The attached map shows the location and anticipated development of the Property. 

 

[Attached] 

 

 





BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 

APPLICATION TO ADD PROPERTY TO THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY DISTRICT AND TO AMEND THE PETITION FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF 

THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY AUTHORITY AS A NEW COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY UNDER CHAPTER 349 OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE 

Submitted by: 

CONCORD/SCIOTO DEVELOPMENT, LLC 

As the Developer



1 

BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 

APPLICATION TO ADD PROPERTY TO THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY DISTRICT AND TO AMEND THE PETITION FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF 

THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY AUTHORITY AS A NEW COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY UNDER CHAPTER 349 OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE 

The undersigned, Concord/Scioto Development, LLC (the “Developer”), is an Ohio 
limited liability company and is the “developer” within the meaning of Ohio Revised Code 
Section 349.01 for the Concord/Scioto Community Authority (the “Authority”), a new 
community authority established under and operating pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Chapter 
349 (the “Act”). 

On February 8, 2007, this Board of County Commissioners of Delaware County, Ohio 
(the “Board”) received a petition (the “Petition”) filed by Triangle Properties, Inc. (“Triangle”) 
under the Act to create the Authority.  The Board approved the creation of the Authority on 
March 22, 2007 pursuant to its Resolution No. 07-331.  The Board approved the assignment by 
Triangle of its rights, responsibilities, and duties as statutory developer of the Authority to the 
Developer on July 2, 2007 pursuant to its Resolution 07-809. 

On December 1, 2014, the Board received an application to add the Rockford property to 
the Authority (the “Rockford Application”) filed by the Developer.  On January 15, 2015, the 
Board approved the Rockford Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 
15-54. 

On August 18, 2016, the Board received (i) an application to add the Clark Shaw Moors 
(M/I Homes) property to the Authority (the “Clark Shaw Moors (M/I Homes) Application”), (ii) 
an application to add the Clark Shaw Moors (Rockford Homes) property to the Authority (the 
“Clark Shaw Moors (Rockford Homes) Application”), (iii) an application to add the Price Farms 
property to the Authority (the “Price Farms Application”), and (iv) an application to add the 
River Bluff property to the Authority (the “River Bluff Application”), all filed by the Developer.  
On September 29, 2016, the Board approved the Clark Shaw Moors (M/I Homes) Application 
and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-980, approved the Clark Shaw Moors 
(Rockford Homes) Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-981, 
approved the Price Farms Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-
982, and approved the River Bluff Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its 
Resolution 16-983. 

On August 3, 2017, the Board received an application filed by the Developer to add the 
Scioto Ridge Crossing (M/I Homes) property to the Authority (the “Scioto Ridge Crossing 
Application”).  On September 14, 2017, the Board approved the Scioto Ridge Crossing 
Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 17-952. 

As authorized by Ohio Revised Code Section 349.03, the Developer now seeks Board 
approval to add certain real property described below to the territory of the Authority (the 
“District”) and to amend the Petition as necessary to accomplish the same, all pursuant to this 



2 

application (the “Application”).  Exhibit A attached hereto is a map showing the existing District 
as well as the real property that the Developer now seeks to add to the District.  To that end, with 
respect to the real property at issue in this Application, the Developer hereby applies as follows: 

1. Property.  The Developer seeks the addition to the District of certain real property 
consisting of approximately 10.25 acres in Concord Township, Delaware County, Ohio 
(the “Property”), which Property is identified in the records of the Delaware County 
Auditor at the time of this Application with parcel number 319-230-02-011-000.  As 
described more particularly in the legal descriptions attached hereto as Exhibit B and as 
depicted in the map attached hereto as Exhibit C, which identifies the location of the 
Property and outline the initial plan of development for the Property, the Property is 
generally situated at 5055 Home Road.  The Property is owned by or is under the control 
of the Developer through leases of at least 75 years’ duration, options, or contracts to 
purchase.  The Developer hereby confirms that the addition of the Property will be 
conducive to the public health, safety, and convenience and welfare, will be consistent 
with the development of the District, and will further the plan of development for the 
District. 

2. Zoning.  The Property is zoned “Planned Residential District”, which designation will 
foster the necessary comprehensive development of the Property and the District as one 
functionally-interrelated community.  The Board of Trustees of Concord Township, 
Delaware County, Ohio (the “Trustees”) approved said zoning designation with respect to 
the Property on April 20, 2016.  A copy of the minutes from the Trustees’ April 20, 2016 
meeting appears as Exhibit D hereto.  A copy of the Concord Township zoning resolution 
appears as Exhibit E hereto.  

3. Development Plan.  CV Real Property, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company (“CV”), 
plans to build 25 condominium units on the Property.  Consistent with the overall plan for 
the District, the Developer or CV will provide for the District certain improvements 
constituting “community facilities” under the Act, including certain Community Facilities 
(as defined herein) in support of the Property.  Exhibits F and G hereto provide additional 
details regarding the development plan and anticipated improvements to the Property. As 
noted on the Exhibit H attached hereto, a traffic study was not completed for the 
Property. 

4. Community Development Charge.  The Developer proposes to issue revenue bonds to 
finance the Community Facilities and to secure said revenue bonds through the levy and 
collection of a 10.25-mill community development charge that will be paid by owners of 
real property within the Property pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 349.07.  
Pursuant to the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for the Authority (the 
“Declaration”), a 2.0-mill portion of the community development charge will be provided 
to Delaware County, Ohio.  Pursuant to the Declaration, the community development 
charge with respect to any parcel within the District, including the Property, is chargeable 
and may be assessed by the Authority if a structure or building is located on a parcel and 
the parcel (i) receives approval to tap into the public sanitary sewer treatment system; (ii) 
receives approval to tap into the Del-Co Water Company, Inc. water system (or any 
successor thereto); or (iii) receives approval of a final development plan for lands, 



3 

buildings, structures, and improvements to be included in said parcel from the applicable 
zoning jurisdiction. 

5. Economic Feasibility.  The preliminary economic feasibility analysis for the District, 
including the area development pattern and demand, location and territory size, present 
and future socio-economic conditions, public services provision, financial plan, and the 
Developer’s management capability, were attached to the Petition as Exhibit C 
(Development Plan), Exhibit F (Development Program), Exhibit I (demographic 
information for Concord Township), Exhibit J (demographic information for Scioto 
Township), Exhibit K (Financial Plan), and Exhibit L (management capability).  The 
Statement of Economic Feasibility with respect to the Property is attached as Exhibit I 
hereto.  Demographic information relating to Concord Township appears as Exhibit J 
hereto.  The analysis additionally includes information about the Developer and CV, 
which information appears in Exhibit K hereto. 

6. Environmental Compliance.  The Developer and CV shall comply with all applicable 
environmental laws and regulations.  As evidence of such anticipated compliance by the 
Developer, the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment relating to the Property is 
attached to this Application as Exhibit L. 

7. Approvals.  For the purposes of the establishment of the Authority as well as the 
expansion of the District, the City of Delaware, Ohio is the only city that can be defined 
as a “proximate city” as that term is defined in Ohio Revised Code Section 349.01(M).  
The City of Delaware, Ohio passed a resolution of no objection to the expansion of the 
District and executed a document exhibiting its approval, a copy of which resolution and 
approval is attached to this Application as Exhibit M.   

8. Exhibits.  Attached Exhibits A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I, J, K, L, and M are part of this 
Application, and the Petition and the exhibits thereto are incorporated herein as part of 
this Application. 

9. Definitions.  Words and terms not defined herein shall have the meanings given in Ohio 
Revised Code Section 349.01, unless context requires a different meaning. 





A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Map of District and Additional Property 

 

 

The attached map shows the territory of the Authority as well as the additional property 

proposed in this Application. 

 

[Attached] 

 

 



OKNNU!TF

ECNJQWP!TF

VCTVCP!HKGNFU!FT

Eqtrqtcvkqp!Nkokvu!.!Lcp!3118

Vqypujkr!Dqwpfct{!.!Lcp!3118

Nqygt!Uekqvq!Ugtxkeg!Ctgc

Ngigpf

Uekqvq!

Eqpeqtf

Eqpeqtf

Uekqvq!

2

4

3 5

6

7

8

CWVJQTKV[!K

9
;

21

22

23

24

25

CWVJQTKV[!KK

26

27

28

29

29

2;

CWVJQTKV[!KKK

CWVJQTKV[!KX

22

ITCRJKE!UECNG

1 611 2111 3111

2!kpej!?!2111!hggv

qh

3124.2485

Ugrvgodgt!21-!3124

2 2

2#!?!2111(

FGNCYCTG!EQWPV[-!QJKQ

FCVG<

UECNG<

LQD!PQ/<

UJGGV<

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!K

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KK

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KKK

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KX

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

VQVCN!CWVJQTKV[?!2239³!CE/

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Rockford Homes
Property

Added to the
Authority on
January 15, 2015

CONCORD/SCIOTO
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY

Approximate
Boundaries of the
River Bluff Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Price Farms
Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Clark Shaw
(Rockford Homes)
Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Clark Shaw (M/I
Homes) Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Scioto Ridge
Crossing Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 14th,
2017

Approximate
Boundary of
Meadows at
Home Rd



B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

 

Legal Description 

 

 

The attached legal descriptions relate to the Property to be added to the Authority pursuant 

to this Application. 

 

[Attached] 

 



EXHIBIT B-1



 
 

 
 

 
 
Page Two (10.249 ac) 
 
 
Thence, South 86‘16” East, with the southerly line of said 0.819 acres (right-of-way), with the 
centerline of said Home Road and with the northerly line of said 10.245 acres, a distance of 
567.91 feet to the TRUE PLACE OF BEGINNING. 
 
This legal description is based upon an actual field survey, performed by and under the direct 
supervision of William D. Beer, P.S. #7980 in January of 2016. 
 
All rebar’s set are 5/8 inch, 30 inches long (w/ “B.L. SURVEYING, P.S. #7980” cap). 
 
A SURVEY of this description is attached hereto and made part thereof. 
 
Subject to all easements, restrictions, and rights-of-way of record. Containing 9.101 acres in Farm 
Lot 14 and 1.148 acres in Farm Lot 13 for a total of 10.249 acres, being all of Auditors Parcel # 
31923002011000. 
 
Bearings are based on South 86’16” West, as listed hereon for the centerline of Home Road 
(C.R. 124), as derived from GPS observations, utilizing ODOT VRS and being based on Ohio 
State Plane Coordinate System (North Zone), NAD ’83 (with an NSRS adjustment). 
 
All references are to records of the Recorder’s Office, Delaware County, Ohio. 
 
 
 
                                                                            ________________________________________                                                                                                                                              
                                                                          William D. Beer                                  Date                                                                                                                        
              Registered Professional Surveyor No. 7980 



SC
ALE 1" = 150'

W
illiam

 D
. B

eer                                             D
ate

R
egistered Professional Surveyor N

o. 7980

I hereby certify that this boundary survey w
as prepared from

 an
actual field survey and to the best of our know

ledge and belief
is correct and that this plat w

as prepared in accordance w
ith O

hio
A

dm
inistrative C

ode C
hapter 4733-37 "Standards for B

oundary
Surveys". A

ll m
onum

entation is found or to be set as show
n.

13 & 14, SEC
TIO

N
 2, TO

W
N

SH
IP 3, R

AN
G

E 19, 
PLAT O

F SU
R

VEY 
U

.S.M
.L., C

O
N

C
O

R
D

 TO
W

N
SH

IP, D
ELAW

AR
E C

O
U

N
TY, O

H
IO

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K
 LA

N
D

 S
U

R
V

E
YIN

G

bm
lsu

rveyin
g@

yah
oo.com

(614) 899-0336 ~ Fax
(614) 794-9609 ~ O

ffice
W

E
S

TE
R

V
ILLE

, O
H

 43081
3501 M

A
N

ILA
 D

R
IV

E

B
earings are based on S 86° 50' 16" W

, as show
n hereon for the centerline

of H
om

e R
oad (C

.R
. 124), as derived from

 G
PS observations based on

the O
hio State Plane C

oordinate System
 (South Zone), N

A
D

 '83 (w
ith

an N
SR

S adjustm
ent) using O

D
O

T V
R

S.

F.L. 14
F.L. 13

F.L. 13
F.L. 14

BEIN
G

 10.249 AC
R

ES, SITU
ATED

 IN
 FAR

M
 LO

TS

1.148 A
cres

9.101 A
cres

EXHIBIT B-2



C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

 

Map 

 

 

The attached map shows the location and anticipated development of the Property. 

 

[Attached] 

 

 





13206535v4

BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 

APPLICATION TO ADD PROPERTY TO THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY DISTRICT AND TO AMEND THE PETITION FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF 

THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY AUTHORITY AS A NEW COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY UNDER CHAPTER 349 OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE 

Submitted by: 

CONCORD/SCIOTO DEVELOPMENT, LLC 

As the Developer

Bmang
Stamp

Bmang
Stamp

Bmang
Stamp

Bmang
Stamp



1 
13206535v4

BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO 

APPLICATION TO ADD PROPERTY TO THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY DISTRICT AND TO AMEND THE PETITION FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF 

THE CONCORD/SCIOTO COMMUNITY AUTHORITY AS A NEW COMMUNITY 
AUTHORITY UNDER CHAPTER 349 OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE 

The undersigned, Concord/Scioto Development, LLC (the “Developer”), is an Ohio 
limited liability company and is the “developer” within the meaning of Ohio Revised Code 
Section 349.01 for the Concord/Scioto Community Authority (the “Authority”), a new 
community authority established under and operating pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Chapter 
349 (the “Act”). 

On February 8, 2007, this Board of County Commissioners of Delaware County, Ohio 
(the “Board”) received a petition (the “Petition”) filed by Triangle Properties, Inc. (“Triangle”) 
under the Act to create the Authority.  The Board approved the creation of the Authority on 
March 22, 2007 pursuant to its Resolution No. 07-331.  The Board approved the assignment by 
Triangle of its rights, responsibilities, and duties as statutory developer of the Authority to the 
Developer on July 2, 2007 pursuant to its Resolution 07-809. 

On December 1, 2014, the Board received an application to add the Rockford property to 
the Authority (the “Rockford Application”) filed by the Developer.  On January 15, 2015, the 
Board approved the Rockford Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 
15-54. 

On August 18, 2016, the Board received (i) an application to add the Clark Shaw Moors 
(M/I Homes) property to the Authority (the “Clark Shaw Moors (M/I Homes) Application”), (ii) 
an application to add the Clark Shaw Moors (Rockford Homes) property to the Authority (the 
“Clark Shaw Moors (Rockford Homes) Application”), (iii) an application to add the Price Farms 
property to the Authority (the “Price Farms Application”), and (iv) an application to add the 
River Bluff property to the Authority (the “River Bluff Application”), all filed by the Developer.  
On September 29, 2016, the Board approved the Clark Shaw Moors (M/I Homes) Application 
and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-980, approved the Clark Shaw Moors 
(Rockford Homes) Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-981, 
approved the Price Farms Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 16-
982, and approved the River Bluff Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its 
Resolution 16-983. 

On August 3, 2017, the Board received an application filed by the Developer to add the 
Scioto Ridge Crossing (M/I Homes) property to the Authority (the “Scioto Ridge Crossing 
Application”).  On September 14, 2017, the Board approved the Scioto Ridge Crossing 
Application and so amended the Petition pursuant to its Resolution 17-952. 

As authorized by Ohio Revised Code Section 349.03, the Developer now seeks Board 
approval to add certain real property described below to the territory of the Authority (the 
“District”) and to amend the Petition as necessary to accomplish the same, all pursuant to this 

Bmang
Stamp




2 
13206535v4

application (the “Application”).  Exhibit A attached hereto is a map showing the existing District 
as well as the real property that the Developer now seeks to add to the District.  To that end, with 
respect to the real property at issue in this Application, the Developer hereby applies as follows: 

1. Property.  The Developer seeks the addition to the District of certain real property 
consisting of approximately 24.24 acres in Liberty Township, Delaware County, Ohio 
(the “Property”), which Property is identified in the records of the Delaware County 
Auditor at the time of this Application with parcel number 419-340-02-019-000.  As 
described more particularly in the legal descriptions attached hereto as Exhibit B and as 
depicted in the map attached hereto as Exhibit C, which identifies the location of the 
Property and outline the initial plan of development for the Property, the Property is 
generally situated west of Sawmill Parkway, between Hyatts Road and Clark-Shaw Road.  
The Property is owned by or is under the control of the Developer through leases of at 
least 75 years’ duration, options, or contracts to purchase.  The Developer hereby 
confirms that the addition of the Property will be conducive to the public health, safety, 
and convenience and welfare, will be consistent with the development of the District, and 
will further the plan of development for the District. 

2. Zoning.  The Property is zoned “Planned Residential District”, which designation will 
foster the necessary comprehensive development of the Property and the District as one 
functionally-interrelated community.  The Board of Trustees of Liberty Township, 
Delaware County, Ohio (the “Trustees”) approved said zoning designation with respect to 
the Property on March 20, 2017.  A copy of the minutes from the Trustees’ March 20, 
2017 meeting appears as Exhibit D hereto. A copy of the Liberty Township zoning 
resolution appears as Exhibit E hereto.  

3. Development Plan.  Epcon Hyatts, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company, or a related 
entity (“Epcon”), plans to build 84 condominium units on the Property.  Consistent with 
the overall plan for the District, the Developer or Epcon will provide for the District 
certain improvements constituting “community facilities” under the Act, including certain 
Community Facilities (as defined herein) in support of the Property.  Exhibits F and G 
hereto provide additional details regarding the development plan and anticipated 
improvements to the Property. Exhibit H provides a traffic study completed for the 
Property. 

4. Community Development Charge.  The Developer proposes to issue revenue bonds to 
finance the Community Facilities and to secure said revenue bonds through the levy and 
collection of a 10.25-mill community development charge that will be paid by owners of 
real property within the Property pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 349.07.  
Pursuant to the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for the Authority (the 
“Declaration”), a 2.0-mill portion of the community development charge will be provided 
to Delaware County, Ohio.  Pursuant to the Declaration, the community development 
charge with respect to any parcel within the District, including the Property, is chargeable 
and may be assessed by the Authority if a structure or building is located on a parcel and 
the parcel (i) receives approval to tap into the public sanitary sewer treatment system; (ii) 
receives approval to tap into the Del-Co Water Company, Inc. water system (or any 
successor thereto); or (iii) receives approval of a final development plan for lands, 

Bmang
Stamp




3 
13206535v4

buildings, structures, and improvements to be included in said parcel from the applicable 
zoning jurisdiction. 

5. Economic Feasibility.  The preliminary economic feasibility analysis for the District, 
including the area development pattern and demand, location and territory size, present 
and future socio-economic conditions, public services provision, financial plan, and the 
Developer’s management capability, were attached to the Petition as Exhibit C 
(Development Plan), Exhibit F (Development Program), Exhibit I (demographic 
information for Liberty Township), Exhibit J (demographic information for Scioto 
Township), Exhibit K (Financial Plan), and Exhibit L (management capability).  The 
Statement of Economic Feasibility with respect to the Property is attached as Exhibit I 
hereto.  Demographic information relating to Liberty Township appears as Exhibit J 
hereto.  The analysis additionally includes information about the Developer and Epcon, 
which information appears in Exhibit K hereto. 

6. Environmental Compliance.  The Developer and Epcon shall comply with all applicable 
environmental laws and regulations.  As evidence of such anticipated compliance by the 
Developer, the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment relating to the Property is 
attached to this Application as Exhibit L. 

7. Approvals.  For the purposes of the establishment of the Authority as well as the 
expansion of the District, the City of Delaware, Ohio is the only city that can be defined 
as a “proximate city” as that term is defined in Ohio Revised Code Section 349.01(M).  
The City of Delaware, Ohio passed a resolution of no objection to the expansion of the 
District and executed a document exhibiting its approval, a copy of which resolution and 
approval is attached to this Application as Exhibit M.   

8. Exhibits.  Attached Exhibits A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I, J, K, L, and M are part of this 
Application, and the Petition and the exhibits thereto are incorporated herein as part of 
this Application. 

9. Definitions.  Words and terms not defined herein shall have the meanings given in Ohio 
Revised Code Section 349.01, unless context requires a different meaning. 

Bmang
Stamp




Bmang
Stamp




A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Map of District and Additional Property 

 

 

The attached map shows the territory of the Authority as well as the additional property 

proposed in this Application. 

 

[Attached] 

 

 



OKNNU!TF

ECNJQWP!TF

VCTVCP!HKGNFU!FT

Eqtrqtcvkqp!Nkokvu!.!Lcp!3118

Vqypujkr!Dqwpfct{!.!Lcp!3118

Nqygt!Uekqvq!Ugtxkeg!Ctgc

Ngigpf

Uekqvq!

Eqpeqtf

Eqpeqtf

Uekqvq!

2

4

3 5

6

7

8

CWVJQTKV[!K

9
;

21

22

23

24

25

CWVJQTKV[!KK

26

27

28

29

29

2;

CWVJQTKV[!KKK

CWVJQTKV[!KX

22

ITCRJKE!UECNG

1 611 2111 3111

2!kpej!?!2111!hggv

qh

3124.2485

Ugrvgodgt!21-!3124

2 2

2#!?!2111(

FGNCYCTG!EQWPV[-!QJKQ

FCVG<

UECNG<

LQD!PQ/<

UJGGV<

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!K

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KK

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KKK

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

CWVJQTKV[!RCTEGN!KX

PQ/ QYPGT RCTEGN!PQ/ CETGCIG

VQVCN

VQVCN!CWVJQTKV[?!2239³!CE/

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Rockford Homes
Property

Added to the
Authority on
January 15, 2015

CONCORD/SCIOTO
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY

Approximate
Boundaries of the
River Bluff Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Price Farms
Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Clark Shaw
(Rockford Homes)
Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Clark Shaw (M/I
Homes) Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 29, 2016

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Scioto Ridge
Crossing Property

Added to the
Authority on
September 14th,
2017

Approximate
Boundaries of the
Village at Clark
Shaw Reserve
Property



B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

 

Legal Description 

 

 

The attached legal descriptions relate to the Property to be added to the Authority pursuant 

to this Application. 

 

[Attached] 

 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
24.236 ACRES 

 
Situated in the State of Ohio, County of Delaware, Township of Liberty, being in Farm 
Lots 38, Quarter Township 3, Township 4, Range 19 in the United States Military 
District, and also being part of the remainder of a 58.75 acre tract as conveyed to RKJ 
Judy LLC in Official Record 1495, page 895 as being further described as follows; 
 
Commencing an iron pin set at the northeast corner of said Farm Lot 38, the southeast 
corner of Farm Lot 35, the southwest corner of Farm Lot 36, the northwest corner Farm 
Lot 37, being in the south line of a 9.958 acre tract (16WL) as conveyed to the Board of 
Delaware Commissioners in Official Record Number 1240, Page 1961, the north line of a 
1.053 acre tract (15WL) as conveyed to the Board of Delaware Commissioners in 
Official Record Number 1082, Page 1248; 
 
Thence with the south line of said Farm Lot 35, the north line of said Farm Lot 38, the 
south line of said 9.958 acre and the north line of said 1.053 acre tract, N 86° 14' 52" 
W, 12.84 feet to the northeast corner of the remainder of said 58.75 acre tract, an 
angle point in the south line of the remainder of a 30.000 acre tract as conveyed to 
Donald Scott Bauder and Kathy J. Bauder in Official Record 598, page 297, and being in 
the westerly right of way line of Sawmill Parkway (R/W Varies); 
 
Thence with the east line of the remainder of said 58.75 acre tract, the west line of said 
1.053 acre tract and the westerly right of way line of Sawmill Parkway, S 14° 55' 55" 
W, 97.11 feet to an iron pin set at the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING for the land 
herein described as follows; 
 
Thence continuing with the east line of the remainder of said 58.75 acre tract, the west 
line of said 1.053 acre tract and the westerly right of way line of Sawmill Parkway the 
following three (3) courses: 

1. S 14° 55' 55" W, 149.54 feet to an iron pin set; 
2. S 08° 45' 45" W, 255.24 feet to an iron pin set; 
3. S 03° 15' 04" W, 628.35 feet to an iron pin set; 

 
Thence with the east line of the remainder of said 58.75 acre tract, the west line of said 
1.053 acre tract, the west line of a 3.168 acre tract (8WD) as conveyed to the Board of 
Delaware County Commissioners in Official Record 840, Page 199 and the westerly right 
of way line of Sawmill Parkway, S 03° 12' 33" W, 283.26 feet to an iron pin set; 
 
Thence with the east line of the remainder of said 58.75 acre tract, the west line of said 
3.618 acre tract and the westerly right of way line of Sawmill Parkway, S 40° 07' 01" 
W, 100.65 feet to an iron pin set at the southeast corner of the remainder of said 
58.75 acre tract and being in the northerly right of way line of Hyatts Road; 
 
Thence with the south line of the remainder of said 58.75 acre tract, the west line of 
said 3.168 acre tract and the northerly right of way line of Hyatts Road, N 86° 32' 40" 
W, 513.39 feet to an iron pin set; 
 







C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

 

Map 

 

 

The attached map shows the location and anticipated development of the Property. 

 

[Attached] 

 

 



COMMON
OPEN SPACE "C"

±17.34 AC.
(INCLUDES:

±12.98 AC COMMON OPEN SPACE
±0.61 AC COMMON OPEN SPACE
±3.75 AC NATURAL GREEN SPACE)

COMMON OPEN SPACE
"G"

±0.51 AC.

COMMON
OPEN SPACE

"A"
±0.32 AC.

25' REAR YARD SETBACK (TYP.) 25' REA
R YA

RD
 SETBA

C
K

(TYP.)

25' REAR YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

25' REAR YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

25' REAR YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

25' REAR YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

25' REAR YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

25
' R

EA
R 

YA
RD

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
(T

YP
.)

30' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

30' FRO
N

T YA
RD

 SETBA
C

K
(TYP.)

30' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

30' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

30' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

30' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

30' FRONT YARD SETBACK (TYP.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

30
' F

RO
N

T 
YA

RD
 S

ET
BA

C
K 

(T
YP

.)

8' MIN WIDTH INTERNAL PATH (TYP.)

TOT LOT  - SEE DETAIL 6 ON
SHEET D-2 FOR EXAMPLE OR
OWNER APPROVED EQUAL.

± 5'-6' HT. MOUND (TYP.)
10' MIN. WIDTH ASPHALT
PATH (TYP. ALONG HYATTS)

± 4'-5' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

± 4'-5' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

± 3'-4' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

8' MIN WIDTH INTERNAL PATH (TYP.)

10' MIN. WIDTH ASPHALT PATH
(TYP. ALONG CLARKSHAW)

10' MIN. WIDTH ASPHALT PATH
(TYP. ALONG CLARKSHAW)10' MIN. WIDTH ASPHALT PATH

(TYP. ALONG CLARKSHAW)

± 5'-6' HT.
MOUND (TYP.)

± 4'-5' HT.
MOUND (TYP.)

± 4'-5' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

± 5'-6' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

± 4'-5' HT.
MOUND (TYP.)

10' MIN WIDTH
PATH (TYP.)

8' MIN WIDTH INTERNAL PATH (TYP.)

± 6'-8' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

± 6'-8' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

10' MIN. WIDTH ASPHALT
PATH (TYP. ALONG HYATTS)

± 6'-8' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

± 6'-8' HT. MOUND (TYP.) FUTURE CONDO
DEVELOPMENT
- SEE SECTION 2
OF REZONING

PACKAGE

APPROVED
WOODCREST

CROSSING
DEVELOPMENT

PROPOSED
BASIN

PROPOSED
BASIN

PROPOSED
BASIN

PEAVEY STREET

MARSHALL DRIVE

PE
A

RL
 C

O
UR

T

ZI
LD

JI
A

N
 W

A
Y

GIBSON COURT

FENDER AVENUE

FE
N

D
ER

 A
V

EN
UE

G
RE

TS
C

H 
ST

RE
ET

LU
D

W
IG

 S
TR

EE
T

ROLAND WAY

CLARK SHAW ROAD

ST
EIT

Z R
OAD EX

TE
NSIO

N

HYATTS ROAD

SA
W

M
IL

L 
PA

RK
W

A
Y

10' MIN. WIDTH ASPHALT
PATH (TYP. ALONG HYATTS)

PROPOSED 80'
R.O.W. (40' FROM ℄)

130' BUILDING SETBACK FROM ℄

60' BUILDING SETBACK FROM ℄

EXISTING 60' R.O.W.

OVERHEAD POWER LINE EASEMENT

OVERHEAD POWER LINE EASEMENT

OVERHEAD POWER LINE EASEMENT

EXISTING 40' R.O.W.
(20' FROM ℄)

COMMON
OPEN SPACE

±12.33 AC.

COMMON
OPEN SPACE

±3.69 AC.

NATURAL GREEN SPACE
±3.75 AC

1
(0.226
 AC)

2
(0.226
 AC)

6
   (0.208 AC)

5
   (0.226 AC)

4
   (0.226 AC)

7
  (0.201 AC)

8
   (0.201 AC)

9
   (0.201 AC)

10
      (0.201 AC)

11
    (0.221 AC)

12
    (0.226 AC)

13
    (0.226 AC)

14
    (0.226 AC)

15
(0.226
 AC)

16
(0.226
 AC)

17
(0.226
 AC)

18
(0.310
 AC)

19
(0.293
 AC)

20
(0.205
 AC)

21
(0.226
 AC)

22
(0.226
 AC)

23
(0.226
 AC)

24
(0.226
 AC)

25
(0.230
 AC)

26
(0.221
 AC)

27
(0.201
 AC)

28
(0.201
 AC)

29
(0.201
 AC)

30
(0.201
 AC)

31
(0.201
 AC)

32
(0.293
 AC)

33
     (0.201 AC)

34
     (0.201 AC)

35
     (0.293 AC)

36
     (0.201 AC)

37
     (0.201 AC)

38
     (0.201 AC)

39
     (0.201 AC)

40
     (0.201 AC)

41
     (0.201 AC)

42
     (0.201 AC)

43
     (0.201 AC)

44
     (0.201 AC)

45
     (0.201 AC)

46
     (0.201 AC)

47
     (0.201 AC)

49
     (0.201 AC)

50
     (0.201 AC)

51
     (0.201 AC)

52
     (0.201 AC)

53
     (0.201 AC)

54
     (0.218 AC)

48
     (0.218 AC)

55
(0.313
 AC)

56
(0.231
 AC)

57
(0.231
 AC)

66
(0.317
 AC)

65
(0.231
 AC)

58
     (0.217 AC)

59
     (0.201 AC)

60
     (0.201 AC)

61
     (0.201 AC)

62
     (0.201 AC)

63
     (0.216 AC)

64
(0.231
 AC)

67
     (0.202 AC)

68
     (0.201 AC)

69
     (0.201 AC)

70
     (0.201 AC)

71
     (0.201 AC)

72
     (0.201 AC)

73
     (0.275 AC)

74
     (0.275 AC)

75
     (0.286 AC)

84
     (0.275 AC)

85
     (0.275 AC)

86
     (0.275 AC)

87
     (0.275 AC)

88
     (0.275 AC)

93
     (0.275 AC)

94
     (0.275 AC)

95
     (0.275 AC)

92
     (0.298 AC)

91
     (0.295 AC) 90

     (0.297 AC)

89
     (0.286 AC)

130
(0.201
 AC)

129
(0.201
 AC)

128
(0.201
 AC)

127
(0.201
 AC)

126
(0.201
 AC)

125
(0.209
 AC)

131
(0.293
 AC)

118
(0.293
 AC)

119
(0.201
 AC)

120
(0.201
 AC)

121
(0.201
 AC)

122
(0.201
 AC)

123
(0.237
 AC)

124
(0.208
 AC)

77
(0.289
 AC)

78
(0.289
 AC)

79
(0.286
 AC)

80
(0.275
 AC)

81
(0.290
 AC)82

(0.300
 AC)

83
     (0.307 AC)

76
     (0.289 AC)

117
      (0.284 AC)

116
      (0.306 AC)

115
      (0.306 AC)

114
      (0.306 AC)

113
      (0.306 AC)

112
(0.306
 AC)

111
(0.306
 AC)

110
(0.412
 AC)

103
(0.327
 AC)102

(0.316
 AC)

101
(0.316
 AC)

100
(0.316
 AC)

99
(0.507
 AC)

98
(0.361
 AC)

97
(0.304
 AC)

96
(0.379
 AC)

132
(0.275
 AC)

133
(0.275
 AC)

134
(0.275
 AC)

135
(0.275
 AC)

136
(0.275
 AC)

137
(0.275
 AC)

138
(0.275
 AC)

139
(0.275
 AC)

164
(0.377
 AC)

165
(0.275
 AC)

166
(0.275
 AC)

167
(0.275
 AC)

168
(0.377
 AC)

169
(0.377
 AC)

170
(0.275
 AC)

171
(0.275
 AC)

172
(0.275
 AC)

173
(0.377
 AC)

154
(0.275
 AC)

153
(0.275
 AC)

109
      (0.291 AC)

104
      (0.377 AC)

105
      (0.275 AC)

106
      (0.275 AC)

162
       (0.275 AC)

161
       (0.275 AC)

160
       (0.275 AC)

159
       (0.275 AC)

158
       (0.318 AC)

157
       (0.292 AC)

156
       (0.279 AC)

155
       (0.377 AC)

152
       (0.377 AC)

151
       (0.275 AC)

163
       (0.403 AC)

107
      (0.313 AC)

108
      (0.316 AC)

140
       (0.377 AC)

141
       (0.275 AC)

142
       (0.275 AC)

143
       (0.275 AC)

144
       (0.275 AC)

145
       (0.275 AC)

146
       (0.275 AC)

147
       (0.280 AC)

148
       (0.315 AC)

149
       (0.372 AC)

150
       (0.414 AC)

3
(0.226
 AC)

13
5'

87'

87'

87'

87'

87'

71
'-1

"
65

'
65

'
65

'
82

'-4
"

87
'

87
'

87
'

87'

87'

87' 110'-3"

135'135'

90'-8"
58'-9"

58'-9"

58'-9"

58
'-9

"

58
'-9

"

58
'-9

"
60

'-1
"

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

63
'-3

"

58'-9"
58'-9"

58'-9"

58'-9"
58'-9"

125'-1"

29'-2"
50'

40'-11"

40'-11"
19'-6"

33
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'32

'-4
" 20

'-2
"

40
'-1

1"

40'-11"28'-7"
50'

83
'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

83
'

123'-6"

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

13
5'

13
5'

105'-11"

105'-11"

86'-5"

87
'-1

"
10

5'-
11

"

105'-11"

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

95
'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

135'

95'

13
5'

68'-4"87'

87'

87'

87'

58'-9"
58'-9"

58'-9" 58'-9" 64'

13
5'13

5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

40'-11" 48'-4"
65'

105'-11"
93'-5"

65' 65' 65' 95'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5' 135'

65
'

65
'

136'-7"

65
'

135'

65
'

135'

65
'

65
'

65
'

65
'

135'

135'

135'

95' 65' 65' 65' 65' 65' 65'

13
5'

22'-4"
13

5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

65'65'

13
5'

13
5'

21
'-9

"

18
7'

-1
"

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

13
5'

95' 65' 65' 65' 65'

86
'-5

"

103'-4"

103'-5"

103'-5"

150'

150'

150'

150'

78
'-4

"

74'-1"

74'-2"

74'-2"

80
'

150'

80
'

150'

61'-11"

57'-10"

57'-10"

57'-10"

62'-10"

15
0'

15
0'

150'

150'

103'-5"

15
0'

136'-4"

74'-2"
74'-2"

74'-2"

103'-5"

103'-5"

103'-5"

15
0'

15
0'

96
'-2

"

150'

80
'

150'-10"

150'

150'

150'

150'

11
0'

-1
0"

11
0'

80
'

80
'

10
8'

11
1'

72
'-3

"
73

'

15
0'

-3
"

150'

150'

150'

150'156'-10"

21
1'

-5
"

80'

17
5'

-3
"

87'-9"
110'-2"

14
9'

-3
"

72
'-3

"

72'-3
"

72'-3"
70'-3"

119'-1"

111'

111'

11
1'

80'

84'-6"
110'-1"

80' 110'

15
0'

15
4'

-3
"

18
1'

-4
"

15
0'150'

150'

43
'-3

" 4
1'-6" 56'-4"

13
2'

-2
"

130'-4"

111'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

150'

150'

150'

150'
176'

150'

150' 47
'-2

"

150'

150'

80
'

80
'

173'-2"
150'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

84
'-2

"

47'-9"

40
'-7

"

83'-4"

150'

150'

150'

150'

65'

80' 80' 80' 80' 80' 80' 80' 80'

110' 80' 80' 80' 110'
13

8'
-1

"
80

'
80

'
80

'
80

'

80
'

80
'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

15
0'

150'

150'

150'

150'

150'

150'

203'

150'

150'

150'

80
'

11
0'

15
0'

80' 80'

15
0'

15
0'

150'

80
'

11
0'

11
0'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

80
'

150'

150'

150'

150'

150'

150'

150'

150'

186'-11"

218'

228'-1"

11
0'

96'

52
'

41'-5"

12'-9"

80'-5"

85'-1"

85'-10"

80'-7"

55'-11"

102'-6"
108'-11"

108'-11"

108'-11"
103'-8"

73'-5"

152'-7"

65
'

± 3'-4' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

TA
M

A
 D

RI
V

E

25' REAR YARD
SETBACK (TYP.)

8' MIN. WIDTH INTERNAL PATH (TYP.)

13
0' 

BU
ILD

IN
G

 S
ET

BA
C

K 
FR

O
M

 ℄

± 3'-4' HT. MOUND (TYP.)

15
0'

60
' R

.O
.W

.

25
'

30
'

8'8'

13
5'

60
' R

.O
.W

.

25
'

30
'

7'-6"7'-6"

80' MIN AT FRONT BUILD LINE
65' MIN AT FRONT

BUILD LINE

NORTH
1"=100'

50 1000 200 300

CLARK SHAW RESERVE
PREPARED FOR METRO DEVELOPMENT
DATE: FEBRUARY 1, 2017

PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN

p (614) 487-1964                              www.farisplanninganddesign.com
243 N. 5th Street              Suite 401                        Columbus, OH 43215

LAND PLANNING                  

Faris Planning & Design
                LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTUREg

EXHIBIT C-1

VICINITY MAP

*SITE

TYPICAL 80'x150' LOT CONFIGURATION
SCALE:  1"=30'

TYPICAL 65'x135' LOT CONFIGURATION
SCALE:  1"=30'

SITE DATA
±148.4 ACRESTOTAL ACRES

173TOTAL UNITS

±1.17 D.U./AC.DENSITY

OPEN SPACE

PERCENTAGE OF OPEN SPACE

±84.59 AC.

±57.00%

8665' X 135' LOTS

8780' X 150' LOTS

*MOUNDING CONCEPT MAY BE ADJUSTED TO
ACCOMMODATE FINAL ENGINEERING

1 2

±1.56 D.U./AC.NET DENSITY



APPROVAL OF THE CITY OF DELAWARE 

The City of Delaware, by resolution number 19-___, adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Delaware on __________, 2019 (a copy of which is attached hereto) approves the 
foregoing Application to add certain real property to the district (the “District”) of the 
Concord/Scioto Community Authority District (the “Authority”) and has authorized the Mayor, 
the City Manager, or the Clerk of Council to sign this Application, and the Application is 
herewith signed as evidence of that approval.  Pursuant to the Declaration of Covenants and 
Restrictions for the Authority, the community development charge with respect to any parcel 
within the District, including the real property to be added to the District by means of the instant 
petition, is chargeable and may be assessed by the Authority if a structure or building is located 
on a parcel and the parcel (i) receives approval to tap into the public sanitary sewer treatment 
system; (ii) receives approval to tap into the Del-Co Water Company, Inc. water system (or any 
successor thereto); or (iii) receives approval of a final development plan for lands, buildings, 
structures, and improvements to be included in said parcel from the applicable zoning 
jurisdiction. 

CITY OF DELAWARE 

By: __________________________ 
Name: __________________________ 
Title: __________________________ 



APPROVAL OF THE CITY OF DELAWARE 

The City of Delaware, by resolution number 19-___, adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Delaware on __________, 2019 (a copy of which is attached hereto) approves the 
foregoing Application to add certain real property to the district (the “District”) of the 
Concord/Scioto Community Authority District (the “Authority”) and has authorized the Mayor, 
the City Manager, or the Clerk of Council to sign this Application, and the Application is 
herewith signed as evidence of that approval.  Pursuant to the Declaration of Covenants and 
Restrictions for the Authority, the community development charge with respect to any parcel 
within the District, including the real property to be added to the District by means of the instant 
petition, is chargeable and may be assessed by the Authority if a structure or building is located 
on a parcel and the parcel (i) receives approval to tap into the public sanitary sewer treatment 
system; (ii) receives approval to tap into the Del-Co Water Company, Inc. water system (or any 
successor thereto); or (iii) receives approval of a final development plan for lands, buildings, 
structures, and improvements to be included in said parcel from the applicable zoning 
jurisdiction. 

CITY OF DELAWARE 

By: __________________________ 
Name: __________________________ 
Title: __________________________ 



APPROVAL OF THE CITY OF DELAWARE 

The City of Delaware, by resolution number 19-___, adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Delaware on __________, 2019 (a copy of which is attached hereto) approves the 
foregoing Application to add certain real property to the district (the “District”) of the 
Concord/Scioto Community Authority District (the “Authority”) and has authorized the Mayor, 
the City Manager, or the Clerk of Council to sign this Application, and the Application is 
herewith signed as evidence of that approval.  Pursuant to the Declaration of Covenants and 
Restrictions for the Authority, the community development charge with respect to any parcel 
within the District, including the real property to be added to the District by means of the instant 
petition, is chargeable and may be assessed by the Authority if a structure or building is located 
on a parcel and the parcel (i) receives approval to tap into the public sanitary sewer treatment 
system; (ii) receives approval to tap into the Del-Co Water Company, Inc. water system (or any 
successor thereto); or (iii) receives approval of a final development plan for lands, buildings, 
structures, and improvements to be included in said parcel from the applicable zoning 
jurisdiction. 

CITY OF DELAWARE 

By: __________________________ 
Name: __________________________ 
Title: __________________________ 



APPROVAL OF THE CITY OF DELAWARE 

The City of Delaware, by resolution number 19-___, adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Delaware on __________, 2019 (a copy of which is attached hereto) approves the 
foregoing Application to add certain real property to the district (the “District”) of the 
Concord/Scioto Community Authority District (the “Authority”) and has authorized the Mayor, 
the City Manager, or the Clerk of Council to sign this Application, and the Application is 
herewith signed as evidence of that approval.  Pursuant to the Declaration of Covenants and 
Restrictions for the Authority, the community development charge with respect to any parcel 
within the District, including the real property to be added to the District by means of the instant 
petition, is chargeable and may be assessed by the Authority if a structure or building is located 
on a parcel and the parcel (i) receives approval to tap into the public sanitary sewer treatment 
system; (ii) receives approval to tap into the Del-Co Water Company, Inc. water system (or any 
successor thereto); or (iii) receives approval of a final development plan for lands, buildings, 
structures, and improvements to be included in said parcel from the applicable zoning 
jurisdiction. 

CITY OF DELAWARE 

By: __________________________ 
Name: __________________________ 
Title: __________________________ 



APPROVAL OF THE CITY OF DELAWARE 

The City of Delaware, by resolution number 19-___, adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Delaware on __________, 2019 (a copy of which is attached hereto) approves the 
foregoing Application to add certain real property to the district (the “District”) of the 
Concord/Scioto Community Authority District (the “Authority”) and has authorized the Mayor, 
the City Manager, or the Clerk of Council to sign this Application, and the Application is 
herewith signed as evidence of that approval.  Pursuant to the Declaration of Covenants and 
Restrictions for the Authority, the community development charge with respect to any parcel 
within the District, including the real property to be added to the District by means of the instant 
petition, is chargeable and may be assessed by the Authority if a structure or building is located 
on a parcel and the parcel (i) receives approval to tap into the public sanitary sewer treatment 
system; (ii) receives approval to tap into the Del-Co Water Company, Inc. water system (or any 
successor thereto); or (iii) receives approval of a final development plan for lands, buildings, 
structures, and improvements to be included in said parcel from the applicable zoning 
jurisdiction. 

CITY OF DELAWARE 

By: __________________________ 
Name: __________________________ 
Title: __________________________ 



TO: Members of City Council
FROM: Dean Stelzer, Finance Director
DATE: June 20, 2019

Reports Included
Page                     Reports                   Purpose

2 Revenues by Source This summary compares year-to-date revenues for 2019 to 2018 by source.
3  General Fund Summary of General Fund budgeted revenues, expenditures and fund 

  balance.
4 Other  Operating Funds Summary of budgeted revenues, expenditures, & fund balances for 
   non-general fund operating funds.
5 Other Funds Other non-operating funds revenues, expenditures and fund balance.
6 Insurance Summary of the City's self-funded health insurance costs with 

  comparisons to last year.
7 Income Tax Monthly income tax collections for last three years.  Also includes 

  tax collection projections for remainder of the year.

YTD 2019 Budget Supplementals
19-03 $150,000 - Donation Fund - Hayes Statue 
19-04 $28,000  -  CIP Fund Electric Parking System
19-15 $1,150,000 - CIP E. William St. Grant Project
19-16 $160,000 - CIP FUND Annex Improvements
19-17  $650,000 - General Fund Transfers to CIP and SMR

MAY FINANCE REPORT



FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT

REVENUES BY SOURCE

May 31, 2019

Revenues Revenues  

@ 5/31/19 @ 5/31/18 % Change

TAXES

Income Tax 13,617,717$         12,946,483$         5.18%
 Property Tax 1,117,668             1,093,647             2.20%

Local Government Fund 253,937                241,301                5.24%
Hotel/Motel Tax 25,536                  29,463                  -13.33%
Gasoline Taxes 489,480                476,031                2.83%
License Plate Tax 278,080                274,807                1.19%

 
FEES  

Franchise Fee (cable tv) 138,066$              136,379$              1.24%
Parking Meter & Lot Fees 30,995                  33,531                  -7.56%
Fines/Forfeitures/Court Diversion Fees 58,147                  53,688                  8.31%
Impact Fees 456,866                394,676                15.76%
Airport - Fuel 235,739                233,412                1.00%
Cemetery 72,739                  99,764                  -27.09%
Golf Course 52,073                  53,624                  -2.89%

REIMBURSEMENTS

Engineering Fees 127,687$              410,428$              -68.89%
Fire/EMS Reimbursement 188,718                347,018                0.00%
Prosecutor Reimbursements 124,315                73,190                  69.85%
Building Permits and Fees 526,513                447,210                17.73%

UTILITY CHARGES   
Water  -  Meter Charges 2,193,768$           2,202,214$           -0.38%
           -  Capacity Fees 1,206,617             1,036,775             16.38%
Sewer  -  Meter Charges 2,643,277             2,592,524             1.96%
           -  Capacity Fees 1,163,968             993,798                17.12%
Refuse 1,475,222             1,440,601             2.40%
Storm Sewer 365,074                363,441                0.45%

MUNICIPAL COURT REVENUES 1,477,116$           1,404,825$           5.15%

2



FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT

GENERAL FUND REVENUES

May 31, 2019

May 41.7% of year Comparative

Revenues 2019 Revenues As Revenues % Change

5/31/2019 Budget % of Budget 5/31/2018 YTD

GENERAL FUND

Property Tax 855,424 1,629,406 52.50% 839,481 0.00%
City Income Tax 7,362,035 15,645,000 47.06% 7,001,430 5.15%
Other Taxes 22 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
Local Government Fund 253,937 618,976 41.03% 241,301 5.24%
Fines and Forfeitures 58,147 148,000 39.29% 53,688 8.31%
Engineering Fees 127,687 1,200,000 10.64% 410,428 (68.89%)
Prosecutor Contracts 124,315 285,000 43.62% 73,190 69.85%
Parking Meters 13,687 38,000 36.02% 15,435 (11.32%)
Other Fees and Contracts 15,240 0 0.00% 18,335 (16.88%)
Liquor Permits 40,906 45,000 90.90% 40,438 0.00%
Franchise Fees 138,066 405,000 34.09% 136,379 1.24%
Licenses & Permits 526,513 830,000 63.44% 447,210 17.73%
Investment Income 329,410 650,000 50.68% 201,095 63.81%
Miscellaneous 115,533 110,000 105.03% 28,007 0.00%
Reimbursements 93,340 200,000 46.67% 67,387 38.51%
Transfers 852,866 1,920,000 44.42% 826,858 3.15%

TOTAL 10,907,128 23,724,382 45.97% 10,400,662 4.87%

GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES 

Comparative

Expenses 2019 Expenses As Expenses % Change

5/31/2019 Budget % of Budget 5/31/2018 YTD

GENERAL FUND

City Council 62,737 184,347 34.03% 57,906 8.34%
City Manager 261,795 823,711 31.78% 274,647 (4.68%)
Human Resources 174,685 358,692 48.70% 110,829 57.62%
Economic Development 206,132 474,137 43.48% 217,290 (5.14%)
Legal Affairs/Prosecution 289,931 842,343 34.42% 305,839 (5.20%)
Finance 520,610 1,485,683 35.04% 574,521 (9.38%)
Income Tax Refunds 282,576 450,000 62.79% 277,456 1.85%
General Administration 2,696,895 6,090,255 44.28% 2,153,634 25.23%
Risk Management 11,904 349,100 3.41% 32,685 (63.58%)
Police 3,102,900 9,105,357 34.08% 3,216,024 (3.52%)
Planning 402,172 1,268,512 31.70% 432,797 (7.08%)
Engineering 529,644 1,988,887 26.63% 584,970 (9.46%)
City Buildings 211,686 554,958 38.14% 196,711 7.61%

TOTAL 8,753,667 23,975,982 36.51% 8,435,309 3.77%

General Fund Beginning Balance January 1, 2019 5,184,249           

 2019 General Fund Revenues 10,907,128       
 2019 General Fund Expenditures (8,753,667)        
 Advances to Other Funds 1,236,286          
 Outstanding Encumbrances 5/31/19 (749,377)            
General Fund Ending Fund Balance May 31, 2019 7,824,619         

3



FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT

OTHER OPERATING FUNDs
May 31, 2019

 

REVENUES

Comparative

Revenues 2019 Revenues As Revenues % Change

5/31/2019 Budget % of Budget 5/31/2018 YTD

STREET MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 1,322,085 3,231,000 40.92% 1,198,894 10.28%
STORM SEWER 365,949 863,000 42.40% 364,211 0.48%
PARKS AND RECREATION 726,904 1,571,500 46.26% 516,228 40.81%
CEMETERY 114,406 256,000 44.69% 99,765 14.68%
AIRPORT OPERATIONS 321,442 924,840 34.76% 307,214 4.63%
FIRE/EMS INCOME TAX 5,476,389 11,866,361 46.15% 5,370,973 1.96%
MUNICIPAL COURT 1,075,553 2,744,000 39.20% 1,020,369 5.41%
GOLF COURSE 52,073 183,500 28.38% 53,624 (2.89%)
WATER 2,372,426 6,536,132 36.30% 2,315,470 2.46%
SEWER 2,851,578 7,407,971 38.49% 2,764,958 3.13%
REFUSE 1,506,931 3,672,095 41.04% 1,481,266 1.73%
GARAGE ROTARY 179,650 718,600 25.00% 164,455 9.24%
INFORMATION TECH. ROTARY 269,049 1,076,017 25.00% 269,004 0.02%

TOTAL 16,634,435 41,051,016 40.52% 15,926,431 4.45%
 

 EXPENDITURES

Comparative

Expenditures 2019 Expenses As Expenses % Change

5/31/2019 Budget % of Budget 5/31/2018 YTD

STREET MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 1,048,280 3,313,335 31.64% 1,128,688 (7.12%)
STORM SEWER 253,004 1,380,464 18.33% 198,988 27.15%
PARKS AND RECREATION 482,845 1,592,532 30.32% 477,342 1.15%
CEMETERY 83,083 315,113 26.37% 92,221 (9.91%)
AIRPORT OPERATIONS 355,837 974,226 36.53% 278,725 27.67%
FIRE/EMS INCOME TAX 4,636,422 11,182,079 41.46% 3,758,523 23.36%
MUNICIPAL COURT 940,166 2,734,190 34.39% 984,417 (4.50%)
GOLF COURSE 32,367 183,401 17.65% 56,361 (42.57%)
WATER OPERATIONS 1,634,945 6,336,213 25.80% 1,712,781 (4.54%)
SEWER OPERATIONS 1,489,336 7,075,047 21.05% 1,446,020 3.00%
REFUSE 1,160,712 3,813,216 30.44% 2,254,163 (48.51%)
GARAGE ROTARY 248,347 707,989 35.08% 252,354 (1.59%)
INFORMATION TECH. ROTARY 472,079 1,384,166 34.11% 404,284 16.77%

TOTAL 12,837,423 40,991,971 31.32% 13,044,867 (1.59%)
 

FUND BALANCES

Fund Fund

Balance Revenues Expenditures Outstanding Balance

1/1/2019 5/31/2019 5/31/2019 Encumb. 5/31/2019

STREET MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 461,581 1,322,085 1,048,280 260,447 474,939
STORM SEWER 1,868,735 365,949 253,004 192,766 1,788,914
PARKS AND RECREATION 218,433 726,904 482,845 200,512 261,980
CEMETERY 265,769 114,406 83,083 3,362 293,730
AIRPORT OPERATIONS 272,195 321,442 355,837 156,434 81,366
FIRE/EMS INCOME TAX 9,031,814 5,476,389 4,636,422 179,680 9,692,101
MUNICIPAL COURT 2,744,978 1,075,553 940,166 12,525 2,867,840
GOLF COURSE 39,762 52,073 32,367 6,594 52,874
WATER OPERATIONS 1,219,585 2,372,426 1,634,945 212,116 1,744,950
SEWER OPERATIONS 3,134,518 2,851,578 1,489,336 167,960 4,328,800
REFUSE 909,634 1,506,931 1,160,712 781,459 474,394
GARAGE ROTARY 385,951 179,650 248,347 81,252 236,002
INFORMATION TECH. ROTARY 864,189 269,049 472,079 45,694 615,465

TOTAL 21,417,144 16,634,435 12,837,423 2,300,801 22,913,3554



FINANCE DIRECTOR'S REPORT

OTHER FUND REVENUES/EXPENSES/FUND BALANCE

May 31, 2019

Beginning Ending

Fund Revenues Expenses Outstanding Fund

Balance 5/31/2019 5/31/2019 Encumbrances Balance

STATE HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENT 219,665 46,222 698 2,500 262,689
LICENSE FEE 238,083 179,828 51,546 14,894 351,471
TREE FUND 156,124 8,287 924 0 163,487
AIRPORT 2000 T-HANGAR 173,352 42,159 25,192 9,942 180,377
RECREATION FACILITIES TAX 4,583,228 1,142,996 675,696 235,000 4,815,528
AIRPORT TIF 109,485 13,626 0 0 123,111
GLENN RD BRIDGE TIF 2,878,284 504,612 1,343,634 116,693 1,922,569
SKY CLIMBER/V&P TIF 0 24,151 24,151 45,849 (45,849)
MILL RUN TIF 0 84,041 84,041 85,959 (85,959)
COURT IDIAM 30,321 13,301 20,858 4,689 18,075
DRUG ENFORCEMENT 57,260 2,919 13,561 431 46,187
COURT ALCOHOL TREATMENT 546,244 26,685 14,089 0 558,840
OMVI ENFORCEMENT/EDUCATION 6,468 1,045 3,471 0 4,042
POLICE JUDGEMENT 121,012 5,482 23,765 6,955 95,774
PARK DEVELOPMENT 184,116 0 0 0 184,116
COMPUTER LEGAL RESEARCH 714,293 110,227 27,494 86,610 710,416
COURT SPECIAL PROJECTS 752,409 111,847 32,292 5,827 826,137
PROBATION SERVICES 572,555 135,539 15,590 26,808 665,696
POLICE/FIRE DISABILITY 0 262,244 262,244 0 0
COMMUNITY PROMOTION FUND 69,220 25,536 53,524 54,500 (13,268)
CDBG GRANT 2,530 0 8,525 0 (5,995)
ED REVOLVING LOAN 270,186 45,308 72,375 34,061 209,058
HOUSING GRANT PROGRAM INCOME 0 8,150 0 0 8,150
CHIP GRANT 0 0 0 0 0
GENERAL BOND RETIREMENT 336,521 635,028 632,295 0 339,254
PARK IMPROV BONDS FUND 111,273 553,311 357,701 0 306,883
SE HIGHLAND SEWER BOND FUND 83,995 417,629 278,304 0 223,320
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 2,037,627 1,440,180 1,435,393 1,090,630 951,784
POINT PROJECT 565,337 142,536 39,200 647,150 21,523
FAA AIRPORT GRANT 48,413 0 0 0 48,413
FAA AIRPORT AIP GRANT 47,948 0 0 0 47,948
EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT 158,550 250,000 61,447 337,405 9,698
PARK IMPACT FEE 1,455,146 238,584 60,653 112,852 1,520,225
POLICE IMPACT FEE 354,038 53,157 7,813 165 399,217
FIRE IMPACT FEE 397,705 88,506 79,954 169 406,088
MUNICIPAL SERVICES IMPACT FEE 361,999 98,549 68,319 102,736 289,493
GLENN ROAD CONSTRUCTION FUNDS 3,112,362 8,609,735 10,339,429 117,825 1,264,843
PARKING LOTS 45,944 17,308 14,270 19,673 29,309
WATER CIP 12,555,562 1,212,499 1,237,564 278,155 12,252,342
SEWER CIP 8,821,116 1,419,968 1,863,240 385,734 7,992,110
SELF INSURANCE 1,508,194 1,780,804 2,734,738 3,538 550,722
WORKERS COMP RESERVE 2,628,786 128,851 235,658 17,231 2,504,748
FIRE DONATION 6,345 0 5,462 0 883
PARK DONATION 16,410 47,984 47,700 9,600 7,094
POLICE DONATION 7,809 0 182 0 7,627
MAYOR'S DONATION 1,202 650 751 261 840
PROJECT TRUST 693,554 5,394 0 0 698,948
UNCLAIMED FUNDS 85,371 14,602 0 0 99,973
DEVELOPMENT RESERVE FUND 964,886 0 0 0 964,886
RESERVE ACCOUNT FUND 1,163,864 0 0 0 1,163,864
BERKSHIRE JEDD FUND 57,099 193,338 189,668 310,332 (249,563)
CEMETERY PERPETUAL CARE FUND 34,191 278 280 410 33,779
STATE PATROL TRANSFER 9,699 22,738 32,437 0 0
STATE BUILDING PERMIT FEES 466 5,273 4,442 0 1,297
PERFORMANCE BOND FUND 667,238 294,415 20,931 3,513 937,209
TOTAL 50,023,485 20,465,522 22,501,501 4,168,097 43,819,409

5



City of Delaware
      Employee Health Insurance Plan

 May 31, 2019
 

May YTD 2019 % of YTD % Change

Account 2019 2019 Budget Budget 2018 2018-19

Life Insurance 4,228$            10,583$          27,000$          39.2% 2,503$            322.8%
 

Insurance Opt-Out 2,195               10,975            30,500            36.0% 10,875            0.9%

Preventative Care 5,739               11,050            55,000            20.1% 16,071            -31.2%
Vision Coverage 4,860               12,266            28,500            43.0% 15,306            0.0%

Administrative Fees
Excise Tax -                   951                  5,000               0.0% 939                  0.0%
 TPA Fees 15,743            41,092            99,500            41.3% 39,060            5.2%
 PPO Fees 6,279               15,755            40,000            39.4% 15,251            3.3%
 Broker Fees 841                  3,510               6,500               54.0% 2,594               0.0%
  Total Admin 22,863            61,308            151,000          40.6% 57,844            6.0%
 
Stop Loss Insurance 141,010          354,734          795,000          44.6% 309,119          14.8%

Claims   
 Medical 279,823          1,688,639       4,250,000       39.7% 1,586,350       6.4%
 Dental 23,671            111,559          285,000          39.1% 110,478          1.0%
 Prescription 114,490          473,625          850,000          55.7% 337,114          40.5%
  Total Claims 417,984          2,273,823       5,385,000       42.2% 2,033,942       11.8%

Total Costs 598,879          2,734,739       6,472,000       42.3% 2,445,660       11.8%

Employee Payment 77,473            409,326          893,568          45.8% 312,222          
Reimbursements 1,103               253,010          500,000          50.6% 142,249           

NET PLAN COSTS 520,303$        2,072,403$    5,078,432$    40.8% 1,991,189$    4.1%

6



MONTHLY INCOME TAX REVENUES 

2017-2019

 

 2017    2018    2019   

% OF % OF % OF

W/H PERSONAL BUSINESS TOTAL ACTUAL W/H PERSONAL BUSINESS TOTAL ACTUAL W/H PERSONAL BUSINESS TOTAL BUDGET
               

JANUARY 1,794,272 205,680 204,662 2,204,614 1,741,914 440,952 56,565 2,239,431 1,570,681 603,605 80,207 2,254,493

FEBRUARY 1,304,987 327,145 95,437 1,727,569 1,389,048 337,974 56,041 1,783,063 1,616,403 398,566 112,062 2,127,031

MARCH 1,175,241 625,299 195,522 1,996,062 1,240,476 682,589 192,027 2,115,092 1,308,699 737,799 133,499 2,179,997

APRIL 1,786,686 2,352,889 1,092,340 5,231,915 1,949,558 2,433,093 806,548 5,189,199 1,941,656 2,595,734 781,735 5,319,125

MAY 1,388,195    185,269       50,869          1,624,333 1,387,867    213,714       18,117          1,619,698 1,440,447 242,575 54,049 1,737,071

SUBTOTAL 7,449,381 3,696,282 1,638,830 12,784,493 49.36% 7,708,863 4,108,322 1,129,298 12,946,483 46.52% 7,877,886 4,578,279 1,161,552 13,617,717 47.06%

JUNE 1,284,197    481,309       167,392        1,932,898 1,407,521    622,838       374,208        2,404,567

JULY 1,680,268 158,901 62,961 1,902,130 1,718,647 227,721 28,964 1,975,332

AUGUST 1,395,822 124,025 26,462 1,546,309 1,363,624 171,517 142,149 1,677,290

SEPTEMBER 1,303,188 421,650 287,996 2,012,834 1,648,825 624,312 164,383 2,437,520

OCTOBER 1,697,249    257,687       81,440          2,036,376 1,675,716    307,591       462,819        2,446,126

NOVEMBER 1,438,751    175,718       30,847          1,645,316 1,442,983    252,947       59,435          1,755,365

DECEMBER 1,419,960 388,069 229,805 2,037,834 1,688,530 412,229 85,907 2,186,666  
   

  TOTALS 17,668,816 5,703,641 2,525,732 25,898,189 97.31% 18,654,709 6,727,477 2,447,163 27,829,349 101.43% 7,877,886 4,578,279 1,161,552 13,617,717 47.06%

   
  BUDGETED 26,614,811 27,437,537 28,936,941

Total MAY  % of Annual Projection based on ten year trend!  

7



City Manager Report 20190624 
 

 
 
 
 
TO:  Mayor Riggle and Members of Council 
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Miscellaneous Matters 
 
DATE: June 20, 2019 
 
 
1. Calendar 
 See Attached 
 
2. Per Section 73 Of The City Charter The City Manager Is To Report 

Contract Agreements 
 N/A 
 
3. Meetings 
  

June 5 
 United Way Affordable Housing Conversation 

 June 6  
  Sister City Meeting with Rand Guebert 
 June 7 
  COMMA 
 June 10 
  City Council –Jackie Walker 
 June 14 
  Police Swearing In- Jackie Walker 
 June 15 
  Juneteenth Celebration  
 June 17 
  Finance Meeting 
 June 18 
  Strand Board Meeting 
  
  



June 
 

 2019 
  

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 
      1 

       

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 
   3:30 Civil Service 

6:30 Planning 
   

9 10 11 12 13 14 15 
 7:00 City Council      

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 
 3:30 Finance 

6:00 Parking and Safety 
     

23 24 25 26 27 28 29 
 7:00 City Council 6:30 Shade Tree 6:30 HPC - Cancelled    

30       
       

 



July 
2019 

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 
1 2 3 4 5 6 

City Offices Closed 

7 8 9 10 11 12 13 
7pm City Council  6pm Sister City 6:30 pm BZA 

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 
6:30 Parks & Rec 6:30 Planning 6:30 Airport 

Commission 

21 22 23 24 25 26 27 
7 pm City Council 6:30 pm HPC 

28 29 30 31 


	01 20190624 council agenda
	CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

	02 20190610 council minutes
	03 20190403 finance minutes
	04 20181015 parking minutes
	05 20190107 special parking minutes
	06 fact sheet res 19 -23, Webcheck
	07 res 19-23,  BCI user agreement
	08 Agreement
	09 fact sheet res 19 -24,  Holder of the Record Agreement
	10 res 19- 24,   LEADS Holder of the Record Agreement
	11 Xerox Scan_06072019080809
	12 fact sheet res 19 -25, USMS Violent Offender Task Force MOU
	13 res 19-25,  Violent Offender Task Force - Memorandum of Understanding
	14 Xerox Scan_06072019092809
	15 fact sheet res 19-26, ODNR Grant
	16 res 19-26, ODNR - Fish with a Cop Grant
	17 Agreement 2500
	18 Agreement 6500
	19 fact sheet res 19 -27,  Restricted parking on W. Fountain Ave
	20 Res 19 -27,  W. Fountain Ave parking restriction
	RESOLUTION NO. 19-27

	21 fountain
	22 DCPAAA_ City Council Briefing
	Delaware Citizen Police Academy�Alumni Association (DCPAAA)
	DCPAAA By-Laws 501(c)(3)
	DCPAAA Standard Operating Procedures Manual
	How We Support the Community
	How We Support the Police Department
	Expanding Our “Body of Knowledge”
	Current DCPAAA Membership
	Challenge Coin Presentation�to�Delaware City Council Members�

	23 benny shoults request - Elmer Curry Memorial Street Sign
	24 Council Presentation
	25 memo from tom
	26  WLF, CMO Adoption of Guide with W Hull Recommendations 5.24.19
	27 FW_ Traffic Calming Guide Modifications
	28 Striping Exhibit for Public-INTERSECTION HULL DRIVE @ HULL CT
	Sheets and Views
	INTERSECTION HULL DRIVE @ HULL CT.


	29 Traffic Calming Guide (Final Draft) 6.3.19
	30 fact sheet ord 19-35 , CUP 2019-0924 OWU Village Student Housing
	31 ord 19-35, CUP 2019-0924 OWU Village Student Housing
	ORDINANCE NO. 19-35
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	32 fact sheet ord 19-36, CPFDP 2019-0925 OWU Village Student Housing
	33 ord 19-36, CPFDP 2019-0925 OWU Village Student Housing
	ORDINANCE NO. 19-36
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	34 fact sheet ord 19-37 , alley 2019-0926 OWU Alley off Park Ave Vacation
	AN ORDINANCE FOR APPROVAL OF AN ALLEY VACATION request by Ohio Wesleyan University of an Alley for Ohio Wesleyan Village Student Housing located along the north side of Park Avenue just west of liberty st.

	35 ord 19-37, alley vacaction 2019-0926 OWU Alley off Park Ave
	AN ORDINANCE FOR APPROVAL OF AN ALLEY VACATION REQUEST BY OHIO WESLEYAN UNIVERSITY OF AN ALLEY FOR OHIO WESLEYAN VILLAGE STUDENT HOUSING LOCATED ALONG THE NORTH SIDE OF PARK AVENUE JUST WEST OF LIBERTY ST.

	36  2019-0294-96 OWU student housing
	37 fact sheet ord 19-32   accept annex grden (003)
	38 ord 19-32,  accept annex grden
	39 grden annex granting of prayer
	40 res 19-08, resolution of services grden annex 100.648 acres
	41 factsheet ord 19-29, 2019-0640 Winterbrooke Place REZ
	42 ord 19-29, 2019-0640 Winterbrooke Place REZ
	ORDINANCE NO. 19-29

	43 factsheet ord 19-30, 2019-0641 Winterbrooke Place CUP
	44 ord 19-30, 2019-0641 Winterbrooke Place CUP
	ORDINANCE NO. 19-30

	45 factsheet ord 19-31, 2019-0642 Winterbrooke Place Fact PDP
	46 ord 19-31, 2019-0642 Winterbrooke Place PDP
	ORDINANCE NO. 19-31

	47 BUFFER PLANS
	48 Faris  Gundling Buffer 6-18-19
	Sheets and Views
	L-ZONING-Layout3


	49 Faris Landscape Revisions gundling 6-18-19
	Sheets and Views
	L-ZONING-D-4


	50  2019-0640-42, grdn staff report
	51  ADDITIONAL MATERIALS
	52  Grden submitted-City Council letter 6-3-19
	53  Grden submitted_new Winterbrooke Place PP
	54 Revised Community Assessment 042319
	55 Grden submitted_Winterbrooke Place road presevation and maintenace 4-22-19
	56 20020806 Fiscal Impact
	57 Gundling - Objection Letter - City of Delaware Planning Commission (4-30-19)
	58 fact sheet res 19-28, Concord-Scioto Ridge Proximate City
	59 res 19-28, Concord_Scioto - 2019 Property Additions -
	60 cm nca memo
	61 Memorandum - Applications to Add Five Properties to the ConcordScioto Community Authority
	62 Application to Add Property - Carpenter_s Mill (Short Version)
	64 Application to Add Property - Clark Shaw Reserve (Rockford) (Short Version)
	65 Application to Add Property - Heather Ridge (Short Version)
	66 Application to Add Property - Meadow at Home Road (Short Version)
	67 Application to Add Property - Village at Clark Shaw Reserve (Short Version)
	68 Concord_Scioto - 2019 Property Additions - City Approvals
	69 May 2019
	70 city managers report 20190624
	71  June  2019
	72July  2019



